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REPORT TO HOSPITALS AND HOUSING COMMITTEE 
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 4, 2024 

 
 
SUBJECT Capital Regional District’s Role in Regional Homelessness and Alliance to 

End Homelessness in the Capital Region Funding Increase Request 
 
ISSUE SUMMARY 
 
This report outlines the current role of the Capital Regional District (CRD) on the issue of 
homelessness in response to a motion adopted by the CRD Board in April 2024 (Appendix A) and 
considers a request for additional funding to support the Alliance to End Homelessness in the 
Capital Region (AEHCR) received on August 15, 2024 (Appendix B). 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Experiences of homelessness are the result of an intricate interplay between structural factors 
(e.g., rents are too high, incomes are too low, etc.), systemic failures (e.g., difficult transitions from 
child welfare, correctional facilities, hospitals, etc.) and personal circumstance/relational 
challenges (e.g., traumatic events, personal crisis, mental health, and substance use challenges, 
etc.). Intervening in, and/or preventing homelessness, is often complicated as the line between 
being housed and unhoused can be fluid and the recovery from homelessness for individuals or 
households is neither linear nor uniform. 
 
Additionally, the tension between structural factors and systemic failures – where program design 
and policy decisions are often made by senior orders of government, while individual and 
household needs are often delivered at the community-level – introduces considerable complexity 
in advancing solutions. Therefore, much of the work undertaken related to homelessness is 
through a collaborative and community-based approach. 
 
The CRD has been active in working to address the needs of those experiencing or at-risk of 
homelessness since the update of the Regional Housing Affordability Strategy (RHAS) in 2007. 
This document included “Strategy 5: Expand the scope of the Victoria Homelessness Community 
Plan to the region as a whole”. An additional update to the RHAS in 2018 included “Goal 4: 
Develop and operationalize a regionally coordinated housing and homelessness response.” 
Building on the 2018 RHAS, the CRD also includes in its 2023-2026 Corporate Plan, “Initiative 
5c-1: Support a coordinated, regional, and collaborative response to homelessness”. The CRD’s 
specific role pertaining to regional homelessness can be distinguished between the administration 
of services on behalf of other orders of government and direct service delivery (Appendix C) as 
authorized under the CRD’s Community Health Service and the Land Assembly, Housing, 
Banking and Housing Service. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
Alternative 1 
The Hospitals and Housing Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
1. That the Capital Regional District (CRD) commits to continue funding the Alliance to End 

Homelessness in the Capital Region through annually negotiated service agreements at their 
core service level of $225,000 to the end of 2026; and 

2. That the CRD includes a one-time increase of $100,000 in the CRD’s 2025 Financial Plan 
for CRD staff to undertake regional engagement to determine the CRD’s potential role in 
advancing regional supportive housing and sheltering objectives. 
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Alternative 2 
The Hospitals and Housing Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
1. That the Capital Regional District (CRD) commits to funding the Alliance to End 

Homelessness in the Capital Region through annually negotiated service agreements at an 
increased funding amount of $145,000 to a total of $375,000 starting in 2025 and then indexed 
to inflation 2026-2030; and 

2. That the CRD includes a one-time increase of $100,000 in the CRD’s 2025 Financial Plan 
to undertake regional engagement to determine the CRD’s potential role in advancing 
regional supportive housing and sheltering objectives. 

 
Alternative 3 
That this report be referred to staff for additional information based on the Hospitals and Housing 
Committee direction. 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Service Authority Implications 
Currently, there are two established authorities through which the CRD supports efforts related to 
homelessness. Supplementary Letters Patent-Community Health dated May 16, 1974, and the 
amendment dated December 19, 1986, provide a narrow scope of service delivery that is focused 
through the Community Health Service. It is through this service that the CRD provides 
operational funding to the Aboriginal Coalition to End Homelessness (ACEH) and the AEHCR. 
Bylaw No. 3712 Land Assembly, Housing and Land Banking authorizes the CRD to participate in 
senior order government housing programs, such as the Reaching Home Program (RHP), the 
Rapid Housing Initiative (RHI), and the Strengthening Communities’ Services Program (SCSP). 
 
Should the CRD Board wish to revisit the role of the CRD in addressing homelessness beyond 
its support to the ACEH and AEHCR and outside of the various programs it currently administers, 
it may require amending the CRD’s existing service authority or establishing a new service. Prior 
to considering any adjustments to existing service levels, or creating a new service, staff would 
recommend that region-wide engagement be undertaken to help identify the differentiated value 
proposition that the CRD could provide in support of community-level outcomes within the context 
of an increasingly complex homelessness intervention landscape. 
 
Service Delivery Implications 
Specific to the motion adopted by the CRD Board in April 2024, the CRD-AEHCR 2024/25 Service 
Agreement, attached as Appendix D, identifies under s. 4.1 that the AEHCR will prepare a 
2024/25 Regional Resources Guide that will provide a regional overview of services that are 
available through BC211, which includes those related to homelessness, housing, employment, 
financial assistance, food, and basic goods, etc. Further, the CRD-AEHCR 2024/25 Service 
Agreement includes under s. 2.1 a Regional Overview of Permitted Sheltering Spaces that will 
detail municipal areas across the capital region where those who are unhoused can camp, shelter, 
or park their vehicle overnight. S. 4.1 and s. 2.1 of the CRD-AEHCR 2024/25 Service Agreement 
address parts one and two of the April 2024 CRD Board motion. 
 
The third part of the April 2024 CRD Board motion is currently being advanced through the CRD’s 
administration of the RHP. Specifically, the ongoing implementation of Coordinated Access (CA) 
and the Homelessness Individuals and Families Information System (HIFIS). A staff report from 
February 2024 (Appendix E) details the RHP and outlines the CRD’s obligations to the 
Government of Canada regarding the RHP’s administration and deliverables. 
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In early 2024, the CRD, in its capacity of Community Entity (CE) under the RHP, signed a Project 
Charter for Phase 1 of HIFIS Community Deployment. This project charter maps out a 
collaborative approach whereby HIFIS access will be expanded to all service providers that 
require access to BC Housing’s HIFIS license. Importantly, the project charter also provides for 
roles and responsibilities of the CRD that include such tasks as establishing local governance 
and community buy-in, completing community system mapping, and securing local resources for 
a local HIFIS lead role, etc. The roles and responsibilities of Phase 1 of the project charter were 
considered through Initiative Business Case (IBC) 5d-1.1 Regional Data System and HIFIS as a 
part of the CRD’s 2025 Service Planning Process. This IBC seeks a one Full Time Equivalent 
(FTE) term position for a Community HIFIS Coordinator from January 2025 to March 2026 and 
will be considered by the CRD Board through the 2025 Financial Plan. 
 
Currently, funding through the RHP is fully committed to support community organizations in 
delivering services and advancing the CRD’s work under CA and HIFIS. CRD staff have not yet 
received confirmation that funding will be available beyond March 31, 2026, and this uncertainty 
impacts the ability of staff to engage in new initiatives related to regional homelessness. 
Additionally, the potential end of the program in March 2026 raises concerns about the 
sustainability of regional homelessness initiatives, as a lack of continued funding could disrupt or 
reduce essential services that are currently supported by the RHP. 
 
Alternative One maintains the core funding level to the AEHCR of $225,000 per year. It is likely 
this alternative would require a recalibration of CRD expectations related to AEHCR outputs as 
the AEHCR may have to reduce their activities to absorb costs associated with inflation and/or 
seek additional funding sources. This alternative, if approved, would result in CRD staff working 
through the annual negotiation of the CRD-AEHCR 2025/26 service agreement to determine the 
appropriate scope of work given the available resources, the identified needs of the CRD, and 
AEHCR priorities. It would be the CRD staff’s intent to focus the activities of the AEHCR to 
convening various community-based tables, advancing information sharing across these tables, 
and supporting other CRD-led initiatives related to homelessness. Alternative One would further 
enable the CRD to provide for a one-time budget increase for CRD staff to undertake works in 
support of the motion adopted by the CRD Board in April 2024. The $100,000 would be used to 
support region-wide engagement activities that could include, but are not limited to, municipalities, 
electoral areas, community-based service agencies and local, provincial, and federal partners 
and other stakeholders. 
 
The work undertaken through the engagement process would provide the CRD with a 
comprehensive understanding of what additional role it could play in support of regional efforts as 
well as enable staff to determine any potential implications associated with adjusting service 
levels related to homelessness. This would be critical should there be any reduction of funds that 
are available through the RHP or should the program not be extended. If, following regional 
engagement activities, it is the intent of the CRD Board to amend existing or establish new service 
levels, this engagement would be foundational to articulating the business case and would 
support any communication that may be required with the broader public. Further, as staff work 
to initiate an update to the RHAS in the coming year, this engagement work would serve to inform 
a more comprehensive articulation of the role of the CRD in supporting efforts to address 
homelessness, which would be included in the updated RHAS. 
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Alternative Two would see the CRD provide a five-year increased funding commitment to support 
the operations of the AEHCR. Though it would not be CRD staff’s intent to enter into multi-year 
funding agreements, this alternative would provide the additional security to the AEHCR and the 
CRD would work through the annual service agreement cycle to ensure identified projects and 
deliverables reflected the identified needs of the CRD Board. Further, this alternative would also 
ensure the CRD has sufficient resources available through the 2025 Financial Plan to undertake 
engagement work as detailed above. 
 
Financial Implications 
In May 2024, the CRD Board received a staff report detailing the 2025 Service and Financial 
Planning Guidelines where it was outlined that the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) has set the 
target for service and financial planning of 3.0% as a percentage increase over the 2024 Budget. 
It should be noted that the Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region – Funding Request 
staff report from October 2023 (Appendix F) detailed a going concern related to the operations 
and long-time viability of the AEHCR. Further, the letter received on August 15, 2024, notes that 
the “Alliance is currently forecasting a deficit for fiscal 2025 and further deficits for subsequent 
years. We continue to seek diversification of revenues through grants and other fund development 
activities, including fundraising.” 
 
In a review of the materials provided by the AEHCR, CRD staff note that the going concern related 
to society operations is not resolved. The 2024 financial statements show a deficit of ($62,613) in 
2023, with another deficit of ($90,511) shown in 2024. The AEHCR was able to absorb the 
operational deficit through a one-time gain on the sale of tangible capital assets. CRD staff also 
reviewed the Fiscal 2025 Budget as provided by the AEHCR and see that the society is 
anticipating a 2025 deficit of ($36,633). It should be noted that the August 15, 2024, letter states 
that the “AEHCR has a Service Agreement with Island Health for $70,000. However, the terms of 
the current agreement with Island Health will end on November 30, 2024.” As the Fiscal 2025 
Budget provided by the AEHCR depicts anticipated revenue of $100,000 for their 2024/25 budget 
year and the letter states that Island Health is providing $70,000 through to November 30, 2024, 
there may be an additional $30,000 revenue shortfall which would further increase the AEHCR’s 
anticipated 2025 deficit. 
 
Alternative One would see the CRD continue to contribute a total of $225,000 annually, which is 
consistent with the current core service level. Due to the tenuous financial position of the AEHCR, 
staff will intend to advance annual renewal of the Service Agreement with quarterly disbursement 
clauses that are based on provided deliverables. This is to ensure there is ongoing dialogue with 
the AEHCR on the progress of CRD-funded works and that the limited resources available 
through the CRD are tied to specific outputs. It should also be noted that this commitment would 
expire at the end of this current CRD Board term, and it would be incumbent on the incoming 
CRD Board to determine the level of resourcing it wishes to advance in support of the AEHCR. In 
addition to funding the AEHCR at the current service level, this alternative would also allocate 
one-time funds which, in support of advancing part three of the April 2024 CRD Board motion, 
would enable CRD staff to undertake the engagement work as outlined under Service Delivery 
Implications. The overall 2025 budget impact of this alternative would be $100,000, which would 
appear in the Land Assembly, Housing and Land Banking Service and would exceed the 3.0% 
target as set by the CRD Board. This alternative is being advanced by staff as the 
recommendation as the additional work undertaken will support the CRD in looking at how it could 
better support regional supportive housing and sheltering objectives. 
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Alternative Two would result in an additional CRD budget impact of $145,000 annually from 2025 
to 2030 with adjustment for inflation 2026 to 2030 to support the AEHCR, plus a one-time impact 
of $100,000 in 2025 that will support CRD-led engagement work. This would result in an overall 
impact of $245,000 in the CRD’s 2025 Financial Plan. As noted under Alternative One, staff will 
work to advance annual renewal of the Service Agreement with quarterly disbursement clauses 
that are based on provided deliverables. 
 
Intergovernmental Implications 
When the AEHCR was first formed in 2008, there was a considerable need for community 
organizations, governments, businesses, and individuals to work in partnership with each other 
and the broader community to lead and drive the commitment to end homelessness. However, it 
is important to note that regional work to address homelessness predated the formation of the 
AEHCR and has its roots in the Victoria Community Plan for Homelessness (published in 2000 
and updated in 2003). This municipally led effort established the basis for the CRD to begin 
advancing homelessness intervention activities through the RHAS (2007). The City of Victoria’s 
Mayor’s Task Force on Breaking the Cycle of Mental Illness, Addictions, and Homelessness 
(2007) then provided the context and framework for the AEHCR to begin its efforts in 2008. The 
AEHCR was initially established to provide tactical leadership to putting systems and processes 
in place that address the underlying causes of homelessness and enable a wide range of housing 
and support services to work together more effectively. 
 
However, since the AEHCR was formed, the homelessness intervention landscape has shifted 
significantly with the Government of Canada’s National Housing Strategy (NHS) being released 
in 2017 and the RHP being launched in 2018. The RHP provides direct funding through a CE 
model and provides the CRD, as CE, with specific resources and deliverables related to 
streamlining access to housing and supports for people who are experiencing homelessness or 
at-risk of homelessness, by coordinating local services to achieve community-wide outcomes 
using real-time data. This includes significant efforts in support of CA and HIFIS which, when 
implemented, will enable a broad range of housing and support service organizations to 
collaborate more effectively and report on regional data and outcomes. 
 
Within the Province of British Columbia, the CRD delivering its obligations under the RHP is not 
possible without working collaboratively with the provincial government and, most critically, BC 
Housing. To this end, Belonging in BC: A collaborative plan to prevent and reduce homelessness 
seeks to transform housing and health systems, strengthen community partnerships, ensuring 
programming and service delivery includes input for those impacted, and apply better data on 
drives and impacts of homelessness. This document sets out a phase one, which is to focus on 
those with the highest and most complex needs first. Phase two will provide for targeted 
interventions for priority populations. And phase three will then support system transformation 
efforts. There is considerable shared intent underpinning the CRD’s obligations to the 
Government of Canada through the RHP as related to CA and HIFIS and the provincial plan, 
particularly in support system transformation. 
 
Over time the role of the CRD has grown through programs such as the RHP and Regional 
Housing First Program and the infrastructure being built related to CA and HIFIS. The expansion 
of the role the CRD plays along with the advancement of federal programs in 2018, and increased 
efforts through the provincial government in 2023, and the ongoing work happening at the 
community-level, which has been underway since 2000, all contribute to a vastly different 
homelessness intervention landscape when compared to 2007 and 2008. 
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Therefore, it would be appropriate for the CRD to undertake regional engagement to determine 
the most effective role for it to play in supporting the delivery of senior order government programs 
that is built on local community need and opportunities. The landscape is now far more complex 
with multiple orders of government each driving efforts to better address homelessness and there 
is an opportunity for the CRD to engage with member municipalities, electoral areas, senior orders 
of government, service delivery organizations, and others, to further explore how it can better 
advance and/or support regional homelessness intervention and prevention activities in a way 
that meets local needs within the context of the federal and provincial programs and strategies. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
Due to the complexity in the homelessness intervention landscape, a collaborative and 
community-based approach, tailored to the specific needs of individuals and households is the 
most effective path to providing long-term solutions and ongoing housing stability. In support of 
addressing homelessness, the CRD has been active in advancing a range of initiatives since 2007 
through the Community Health and Land Assembly, Housing and Land Banking Services. Under 
the authority of these services, the CRD has provided ongoing operational funding to two non-
profit societies, the ACEH and AEHCR, and has administered several programs on behalf of 
senior orders of government. 
 
Specific to the April 2024 motion approved by the CRD Board, parts one and two were integrated 
in the 2024/25 service agreement with the AEHCR and part three is currently being advanced 
within the scope of the RHP. Through the administration of the RHP, the CRD is playing an 
expanded role in working to support the deployment of HIFIS and will continue working with senior 
orders of government and other stakeholders to advance work related to CA. CRD staff note that 
there is a risk that the RHP will not extend beyond March 31, 2026, which could undermine the 
efforts currently being advanced by the CRD. 
 
In terms of increase funding to the AEHCR, the provided materials suggest a going concern 
related to the short, medium-and long-term financial position of the society. The letter received 
from the AEHCR further notes that the society is expecting a deficit budget in 2025 and is also 
forecasting a deficit budget in subsequent years. It is not clear that the AEHCR will remain viable 
without additional funding from the CRD and other partners. The AEHCR does note that they are 
seeking to diversify revenues through grants and other fund development activities. 
 
Due to significant changes to how all orders of government are working together to address 
homelessness, there is an opportunity for the CRD to undertake regional engagement to 
determine the potential role it can play in advancing regional supportive housing and sheltering 
objectives. Staff are therefore recommending that funding to the AEHCR be continued at the 
current level of $225,000 per year until the end of 2026 and that a further $100,000 be budgeted 
in support of CRD-initiated engagement activities. The engagement will build on the CRD’s role 
as CE under the RHP and would seek to support enhanced efforts to advance a coordinated, 
regional, and collaborative response to homelessness as outlined in the CRD’s 2023-2026 
Corporate Plan. 
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RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Hospitals and Housing Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
1. That the Capital Regional District (CRD) commits to continue funding the Alliance to End 

Homelessness in the Capital Region through annually negotiated service agreements at their 
core service level of $225,000 to the end of 2026; and 

2. That the CRD includes a one-time increase of $100,000 in the CRD’s 2025 Financial Plan 
for CRD staff to undertake regional engagement to determine the CRD’s potential role in 
advancing regional supportive housing and sheltering objectives. 

 
 
Submitted by: James Proctor, BSS, MA, Manager, Housing Planning, Policy, and Programs  
Concurrence: Don Elliott, BA, MUP, Acting General Manager, Planning & Protective Services 
Concurrence: Nelson Chan, MBA, FCPA, FCMA, Chief Financial Officer 
Concurrence: Kristen Morley, Acting Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Appendix A: Motion with Notice from Director Caradonna, dated April 10, 2024 
Appendix B: Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region Funding Request 
Appendix C: Service Delivery Background and Highlights 
Appendix D: CRD-AEHCR: 2024-25 Service Agreement Deliverables 
Appendix E: Reaching Home Program Staff Report and Appendices, February 2024 
Appendix F: AEHCR 2023-2024 Funding Increase Staff Report, October 2023 
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Motion with Notice from Director Caradonna, dated April 10, 2024: 

 

To refer the following motion to staff to report back on the approach that would be taken and that 
a report come back to the Hospitals and Housing Committee: 

“1. That the Board direct staff to work with the Reaching Home Program’s Community Advisory 
Board and/or the Alliance to End Homelessness in Greater Victoria to undertake studies, reports, 
or analyses on the following topics related to supportive housing across the Capital Region: 

a) A high-level regional resource inventory on services and supports within each jurisdiction 
that aid unhoused people (e.g., food banks, support services, indoor shelters, and so on.) 

b) An analysis of the parks, public spaces, or campgrounds available for overnight sheltering 
for unhoused people across the region; 

c) In light of the Province handing down supportive housing targets for all jurisdictions over 
a certain population, an assessment of the potential role for the CRD to play, in 
collaboration with local governments and BC Housing, in advancing regional supportive 
housing and sheltering objectives.” 

 



August 15,2024 

Mr. Colin Plant  
Chair - Capital Regional District Board  
625 Fisgard Street, Victoria, BC V8W 1R7 

SENT VIA EMAIL 

Re: Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region - Core Funding Request 

Dear Chair Plant, 

On behalf of the Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region (AEHCR) (legally known as the 
Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness), we wish to sincerely thank the Capital Regional District 
(CRD) for sustaining our collective work to end homelessness in the region.  

We are writing to you today to request an increase in the funding provided by the CRD to the AEHCR. 
The AEHCR is formally requesting an annual increase of $145,000.  

The CRD has been and continues to be a crucial partner supporting the activities of the AEHCR and its 
member societies since 2008. The AEHCR convenes and supports the work of the regional homelessness 
and adjacent social serving sectors. At the time of this writing, we have 29 local and regional member 
organization who primarily provide services in the homelessness and social services sector, as well as 34 
individual members. The organizations represented range from Cool Aid Society, Our Place Society, and 
Pacifica Housing Advisory Association to the Aboriginal Coalition to End Homelessness Society and the 
Victoria Native Friendship Centre, with sector adjacent members such as The Soup Kitchen and the 
Victoria Brain Injury Society.  

The AEHCR convenes the following tables: AEHCR Health and Housing Steering Committee, System 
Transformation Working Group, Persons with Lived and Living Experience Council, Youth Task Force, 
Communications & Community Engagement Working Group, and the Community Data Dashboard. As 
well, the AEHCR has a seat at many community tables, such as Downtown Service Providers, 
Coordinated Access and Assessment Working Group, HIFIS Working Group, Sooke Homelessness 
Coalition, Seniors Housing Council Working Group, BC Coalition to End Youth Homelessness, Island 
Systems Community of Practice and has now been invited to join the Salt Spring Health Advancement 
Network (SSHAN). 
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AEHCR staff bring together leaders and decision-makers at the regional, provincial, and national scale 
through a unique partnership that continues to make significant inroads in housing, health care, 
prevention and research around homelessness and its root causes by exploring and creating synergies 
and opportunities for partnerships and system-wide transformation. One of the significant 
achievements of this year has been the development of the 2025-2030 Community Plan to Functional-
Zero. The Alliance consulted with all its members, partners, and the community and on April 29, 2024, 
the Plan was agreed upon by our community. The Plan was approved by our Board of Directors in May 
and in July the Board reviewed the 2025-2030 Action Plan.  

The 2025-20230 Community Plan aligns with the principles of Housing First, Belonging in BC and other 
strategies that aim at making experiences of homelessness rare, brief and not recurring in our region by 
2030. This ambitious vision is endorsed by our community and the support of the CRD becomes critical 
in its achievement. 

As part of its work, the AEHCR collects data related to its mission and partners with others to conduct 
complex research initiatives related to housing, homelessness, prevention, and system transformation. 
The AEHCR Board of Directors passed a Motion at their February 22nd, 2022, meeting as follows: The 
GVCEH Board indicate to the CRD and CAA Working Group that it wishes to be the lead organization for 
the holder of data and the creation of the By Name List. This Motion, and development of a Regional 
Data Dashboard are key to supporting the development of a baseline to measure progress toward 
Functional Zero homelessness and support evidence-based decisions regarding resource allocation and 
re-allocation.  

In 2008, the CRD was integral in launching the AEHCR with core funding of $150,000 per year for three 
years (2008 to 2010.) This core funding was increased to $225,000 in 2011 and has not changed for 13 
years. The CRD’s Board generously approved an increase of $120,000 for the fiscal year (April 01, 2024 – 
March 31, 2025), and is limited to our current fiscal year. AEHCR has had two other core funders since 
its inception. The City of Victoria provides $100,000 annually and AEHCR has a Service Agreement with 
Island Health for $70,000. However, the terms of the current agreement with Island Health will end on 
November 30th, 2024. 

Each year the AEHCR enters into a Service Agreement with the CRD, which includes specific AEHCR 
deliverables. The AEHCR submits a report on the deliverables achieved to CRD staff each year prior to 
the negotiation and finalization of the next Service Agreement. This annual process for renewal of the 
service agreement makes it challenging to advance multi-year initiatives and creates instability in the 
organization. It is AEHCR’s desire to enter into a multi-year service agreement, to advance the 
deliverables of the organization and support the CRD in delivering on its mandate. 

The rationale for an increase in core funding is multi-faceted. While the impacts of inflation, the 
pandemic, and the challenges in addressing homelessness have increased over the past 13 years, as well 
as the corresponding AEHCR deliverables, our funding has remained stagnant. For the AEHCR to 
continue to convene, represent, advocate, support the sector with research and to provide overall 
support the CRD with its mandate, including as the Community Entity for Reaching Home funding, we 
need the requested increase in funding on a moving forward basis. 

The Alliance is currently forecasting a deficit for fiscal 2025 and further deficits for subsequent years. We 
continue to seek diversification of revenues through grants and other fund development activities, 



including fundraising. However, our costs continue to rise, especially around the implementation, 
monitoring, and evaluating the ambitious 2025-2030 Community Plan to Functional-Zero. We request 
the CRD continues to support the AEHCR with an increase of $145,000 for 2025-2030 (a total investment 
of $375,000 per year for each of five years plus an inflationary adjustment for each year after 2025) as 
we ensure service agreement deliverables while leveraging all funding for the enhancement of those 
deliverables and our promise to our community.  

The work of the AEHCR is made possible thanks to the ongoing investment into community by the CRD. 
The positive impact of initiatives we have launched together focusing on ending and preventing 
homelessness cannot be understated. Our collaborative work plays a critical role in transforming the 
homelessness-serving system in the region and continues to reinforce the importance of the partnership 
between the AEHCR and the CRD. 

This request for an increase in funding will help support the aspiring vision of functional-zero by 2030 
and we hope we can count on your support to achieve this lofty goal. 

Thank you so much for your continued support, the consideration you give our request, and we look 
forward to your response.  

Respectfully, 

Sean Dhillon, ICD.D 
Community Co-Chair 

Sylvia Ceacero, MBA, MA, MCRM 
CEO 

Attachments: 

• 2023-2024 Audited financial statements (draft) (Board approved)
• 2024-2025 Board Approved Budget
• Current member organizations
• Current Board of Directors
• AEHCR Staff
• 2023-2024 Schedule A CRD Report
• 2025-2030 Community Plan – Action Plan (Board reviewed)
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the members of Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness 
Society (“the Society”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2024, and the 
statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the financial 
position of Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society as at March 31, 2024, and its results of 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for 
not-for-profit organizations.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Society in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements   

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Society’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Society or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Society’s financial reporting process.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Society’s internal control.    

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Society to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.   

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

As required by the Societies Act of British Columbia, we report that, in our opinion, the accounting 
principles in the Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations have been applied on a 
consistent basis.  
 
 
 
 
Victoria, Canada  
July 30, 2024 Chartered Professional Accountants 



Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 

(dba Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region) 

Statement of Financial Position 
March 31 

Assets 
Current 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 
Short term investments 

Tangible capital assets (Note 4) 

Liabilities 

Current 
Payables and accruals 
Deferred contributions (Note 5) 
Deferred capital contributions (Note 6) 

Net Assets 
Invested in tangible capital assets 
Internally restricted (Note 3) 
Unrestricted 

Commitments (Note 11) 

On behalf of the Board 

__________ Director 

2024 2023 

$ 402,027 $ 171,903 
9,187 7,245 
8,925 10,078 

26,000 

420,139 215,226 

10,793 194,186 

$ 430,932 $ 409,412 

$ 91,146 $ 39,367 
77,383 126,696 

188,516 

168,529 354,579 

10,793 5,670 
120,000 
131,610 49,163 

262,403 54,833 

$ 430,932 $ 409,412 

C./4/j M�NLJ-5»,_dj Director

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 
(dba Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region) 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
Year ended March 31 2024 2023

Invested in tangible Internally
capital assets restricted Unrestricted Total Total

Balance, beginning of year $ 5,670               $ -                   $ 49,163             $ 54,833      $ 117,446    

5,123               -                   202,447           207,570    (62,613)     

-                   120,000           (120,000)          -            -            

Balance, end of year $ 10,793             $ 120,000           $ 131,610           $ 262,403    $ 54,833      

Excess (deficiency) of 
revenue over 

Fund transfers

 
 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.



 

5 
 

Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 
(dba Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region) 
Statement of Operations 
Year ended March 31 2024 2023

Revenue
Government grants (Note 7) $ 610,317       $ 1,114,104    
Corporate donations 153,218       146,939       
Contributions from other registered charities (Note 7) 83,962         101,155       
Individual donations 22,873         199,728       
Miscellaneous revenue 7,588           2,522           
Membership fees 1,710           1,000           
Interest 230              978              

879,898       1,566,426    

Expenses
Wages and benefits 414,525       452,720       
Program expenses (Note 8) 202,649       615,932       
Amortization 192,913       384,494       
General administration 55,990         58,461         
Rent 46,473         72,495         
Professional fees 27,409         25,313         
Communications and consultation 20,230         9,520           
Council and committee meetings 10,220         10,104         

970,409       1,629,039    

(90,511)        (62,613)        

Other income
Gain on sale of tangible capital assets (Note 6) 298,081       -              

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses $ 207,570       $ (62,613)        

Deficiency of revenue over expenses before other 
income

 
See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 
(dba Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region) 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended March 31 2024 2023

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Operating
Deficiency of revenue over expenses $ 207,570       $ (62,613)        
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (188,516)      (377,032)      
Amortization 192,913       384,494       

211,967       (55,151)        

Change in non-cash operating working capital
Accounts receivable (1,942)          (3,701)          
Government remittances receivable -              3,120           
Prepaid expenses and deposits 1,153           2,918           
Payables and accruals 51,779         (63)              
Deferred contributions (49,313)        (96,858)        

1,677           (94,584)        

213,644       (149,735)      

Investing
Purchase of short term investments -              (26,000)        
Sale of short term investments 26,000         -              
Purchase of tangible capital assets (9,520)          -              

16,480         (26,000)        

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 230,124       (175,735)      

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 171,903       347,638       

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 402,027       $ 171,903       

 
 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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1.  Purpose of the Society 
 
The Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society (the “Society”) was incorporated 
on July 25, 2008 under the Societies Act of British Columbia. The Society received status as a 
registered charity effective April 1, 2009. In September 2023 the Society’s members agreed 
that the Coalition rebrand to The Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region. The 
Society’s mission is to ensure experiences of homelessness in the Capital Region by 2030 are 
rare, brief, and non-recurring. 
 
 
2.  Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
Basis of presentation 
 
The Society has prepared these financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations ("ASNPO") and include the following 
significant accounting policies.   
 
Revenue recognition 
 
The Society follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. 
 
Operating grant revenue is recognized in the year for which the grant is awarded. Accordingly, 
operating grant revenue awarded for periods subsequent to the current year is deferred to the 
next fiscal year. 
 
Restricted contributions related to general operations are recognized as revenue in the year in 
which the related expenses are incurred. 
 
Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the year received or receivable if the 
amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and balances with banks and highly liquid 
temporary investments with maturities of three months or less. 
 



 

Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 
(dba Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region) 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2024 
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Tangible capital assets  
 
Tangible capital assets are initially recorded at cost and subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated amortization. Tangible capital assets are amortized straight-line over its useful life 
at the following rates: 
 
  Furniture and equipment 20%, straight-line 
  Computer equipment 33-1/3%, straight-line 
  Leasehold improvements              Term of lease 
  Temporary shelter              Term of lease 
 
Impairment of long-lived assets 
 
The Society tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability is assessed by 
comparing the carrying amount to the projected future net cash flows the long-lived assets are 
expected to generate through their direct use and eventual disposition. When a test for 
impairment indicates that the carrying amount of an asset is not recoverable, an impairment 
loss is recognized to the extent the carrying value exceeds its fair value. 
 
Use of estimates 
 
The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with ASNPO requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates 
include the recoverability of accounts receivable, useful lives of tangible capital assets and the 
amount of accruals and deferred contributions. While management believes these estimates 
are reasonable, actual results could differ from those estimates and could impact future results 
of operations and cash flows. 
 
Financial instruments  
 
The Society initially measures its financial assets and liabilities at fair value, except for certain 
non-arm's length transactions. The Society subsequently measures its financial assets and 
financial liabilities at amortized cost. Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash 
and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 
include accounts payable and deferred contributions. 
 
Volunteers 
 
Volunteers contribute an indeterminable number of hours to the Society across its operations.  
Since no objective basis exists for recording and assigning fair values to donated time, the 
value of this time has not been reflected in the accompanying financial statements. 
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(dba Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region) 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2024 
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3.  Internally restricted net assets 
 
Internally restricted net assets include $120,000 that was approved by the Board on March 26,  
2024 for use as a contingency fund in the event of a future wind-down of the Society. 
 
 
 

4. Tangible capital assets 2024 2023

Accumulated Net Net
Cost amortization book value book value

Furniture and equipment $ 1,993           $ 1,516           $ 477              $ -              
Computer equipment 27,969         17,653         10,316         5,753           
Leasehold improvements -              -              -              1,089           
Temporary shelter -              -              -              187,344       

$ 29,962         $ 19,169         $ 10,793         $ 194,186       
 
 
 
5.  Deferred contributions  
 
Deferred contributions relate to restricted operating funding received that relate to future years. 
 

Balance, beginning of 
year $ 4,284        $ 3,028        $ -            $ 119,384       $ 126,696    

Received / recievable 
during the year 368,252    100,000    108,333    30,600         607,185    

372,535    103,028    108,333    149,984       733,880    

372,535    100,000    100,000    83,962         656,497    

$ -            $ 3,028        $ 8,333        $ 66,022         $ 77,383      Balance, end of year

Less: amounts 
recognized as revenue 

CRD Total

 Island 
Health 

Authority
City of 

Victoria 
Non-

Government
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6.  Hey Neighbour Project  
 
During previous fiscal years, the Society crowd-sourced funding from numerous individuals and 
local businesses and raised $1,131,096 toward construction costs for the Hey Neighbour 
project. The useful life of the program was previously extended to 30 months and ended on 
September 30, 2023. The amount of deferred capital contributions recognized as revenue 
during the year is $188,516 (2023: $337,032). During the current fiscal period, the Society sold 
the remaining assets to BC Housing for $300,000 and recognized a gain on sale of $298,081 
after the associated selling costs.  
 
 
7.  Grants 
 
The Society’s major funding sources are from contributions received from other registered 
charities and grant received from government sources as follows: 
 

2024 2023

Government grants
Core Service Agreements:

Capital Regional District (Note 5) $ 225,000     $ 225,000     
City of Victoria (Note 5) 100,000     100,000     
Island Health (Note 5) 100,000     100,000     

Project Funding:
Capital Regional District - Community Entity (Note 5) 147,535     25,716       
Capital Regional District - Deferred Capital Contributions 35,298    70,595    
BC Housing 2,484         37,359       
City of Victoria -            505,816     
Canadian Mortgage & Housing Corporation -            49,418       
Other -            200            

$ 610,317     $ 1,114,104  

Contributions from other registered charities (Note 5)

Victoria Foundation $ 46,550       $ 29,333       
Catherine Donnelly Foundation 33,204       -            
Other 4,208         16,660       
Burnside Gorge Community Association -            36,962       
Second Harvest Food Bank -            18,200       

$ 83,962       $ 101,155     
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8. Program expenses 2024 2023
 

Program expenses consist of the following:
Sector Capacity Building $ 111,911         $ 25,716          
Face to Face with Stigma 39,732          151,634         
Community Data Dashboard 28,166          -                
Inclusion & Collaboration 21,411          8,607            
Extreme Weather Response 1,429            6,941            
Peer Housing Support -                338,356         
National Housing Solutions -                37,359          
Burnside Gorge Neighbourhood Engagement -                36,962          
Documentary: 940 Caledonia -                6,250            
Youth Hostel Pilot -                4,107            

$ 202,649         $ 615,932         

 
9.  Risk management 
 
Transactions in financial instruments may result in an entity assuming or transferring to another 
party one or more of the financial risks described below. The required disclosures provide 
information that assists users of financial statements in assessing the extent of risk related to 
financial instruments. 
 
(a) Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 
other party by failing to discharge its obligation. 
 
The Society is exposed to credit risk with respect to its cash and cash equivalents and 
accounts receivable. Credit risk related to cash and cash equivalents is mitigated as the 
amounts are held with major Canadian financial institutions. Credit risk related to accounts 
receivable is mitigated as the Society enters into credit agreements with credit worthy 
customers. 
 
(b) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with financial liabilities. The Society is exposed to this risk mainly in respect to its 
accounts payable. Cash from operations provides a substantial portion of the Society's cash 
requirements. 
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10.  Remuneration  
 
The Societies Act (British Columbia) requires certain information to be reported with regard to 
remuneration of employees, contractors and directors. 
 
During the year, the Society paid a total of $105,000 (2023: $107,827) to one employee (2023: 
one), whose remuneration, during the applicable period, was at least $75,000. 
 
 
11. Commitments 
 
The Society has operating leases with future minimum aggregate lease payments as follows: 
 
  2025   18,405 
  2026   18,405 
  2027   4,601 
    $  41,411 

 
 
12. Economic dependence 
 
The Society receives a significant portion of its funding (69%) from the government and related 
government agencies (2023: 71%). The ongoing operation of the Society in its present form is 
dependent on continuing to receive adequate levels of funding from these sources. 
 
 
13. Comparative figures 
 
Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in current year presentation. 
 



Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness

FISCAL 2025:  BUDGET APPROVED 3/26/2024

CONFIDENTIAL

2025

BUDGET DRAFT

REVENUE

CRD 345,000                               

Island Health 100,000                               

City of Victoria 100,000                               

BC Government -                                       

Core Service Agreements 545,000                               

PROJECT Grants:

Government 10,000                                 

Non-Government 45,944                                 

55,944                                 

DONATIONS 20,000                                 

OTHER 3,000                                   

TOTAL REVENUE 623,944                        

EXPENSE

Payroll - Core staff 448,333                               

Project Costs:

Wages / Contractors 27,244                                 

Stipends, Supplies & Misc 20,000                                 

Total Project Costs 47,244                                 

General & Admin 165,000                               

TOTAL EXPENSE 660,577                        

NET SURPLUS (DEFICIT) (36,633)                                

Updated  2024.03.07



SERIAL 
NUMBER 

DONOR FIRST 
NAME 

DONOR 
LAST NAME 

 
DONOR COMPANY NAME 

1 Shannon Hope Aboriginal Coalition To End Homelessness Society 
2 Clare Pepper AVI Health & Community Services 
3   Beacon Community Association 
4 BGC South Vm  BGC South Vancouver Island (formerly Boys & Girls Club of Greater Victoria) 
5 Melanie Fleming Cool Aid 
6 Elin Bjarnason Cool Aid 
7 Jerry Michael CRD 
8 Sherry Lester CRD 
9 Mayor Murdoch District of Oak Bay 

10   Downtown Victoria Business Association 
11 chris Forester Island Community Mental Health Association 
12   John Howard Society of Victoria 
13 Lisa Mock Lookout Housing and Health Society 
14 Pauline Powell Our Place Society 
15   Pacifica Housing 
16 Luciane Pedroso SOCIETY OF ST VINCENT DE PAUL OF VANCOUVER ISLAND 
17 Sherry Thompson Sooke Homelessness Coalition 
18 Sherry Thompson Sooke Shelter Society 
19 Susan Nawrocki The Soup Kitchen 
20 Colin Tessier Threshold Housing 
21 Threshold Housing Threshold Housing 
22 Anna Morton Town of Sidney 
23 Samantha Boudreault United Way Southern Vancouver Island 
24   Victoria Brain Injury Society 
25 Raelene C. Victoria Native Friendship Centre 
26   Victoria Youth Clinic Society 
27 Bayla Kolk  

28 Viveka Janssen  
 



Lastname Firstname Role

1 McNeil-Smith Cliff Co-Chair

2 Little Marie-Térèse Director 

3 Murdoch Kevin Director 

4 Reid Kelly Director 

5 Stenson Erika Director  

6 Fox Jennifer Director 

7 Richardson Sandra Director 

8 Kattler Donald Director 

9 Dhillon Sean Community Co-Chair 

10 Sluggett Emily Secretary / Treasurer

11 Position Vacant Director PWLE

12 Tucker Troy Director PWLE

13 Kim Susan Director Youth Rep.

Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society

Information for 2024 AGM



 
 
Alliance Permanent Staff – August 15 2024 
 
Sylvia Ceacero, MBA, MA, MCRM 
Chief Executive Officer (full-time) 
 
Michelle Vanchu-Orosco, PhD 
Director of Research and Data Analysis (full-time) 
 
Andrew Holeton 
Director of Collaborative Engagement and Impact (full-time) 
 
Elizabeth Skillings, CPA 
Director of Finance (part-time) 
 
Michelle Pedersen 
Administration and Business Coordinator (full-time) 
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Core Functions & Objectives 
 

1. Regional Planning and Coordination 
Objectives: (i) Develop Regional Plan of Action on addressing and preventing homelessness. (ii) Ensure 
plans and initiatives developed and implemented by the Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness 
have a region-wide focus and that housing and services are well coordinated and integrated. 
 

2. Ongoing Research and System Monitoring 
Objective: Develop and implement a monitoring framework to ensure efforts to address homelessness 

are effective and are providing necessary outcomes for the region. 

3. Communications and Engagement 
Objective: Implement community engagement and awareness strategies to ensure the underlying 

contributing factors of homelessness, the extent of homelessness and region and solutions to ending 

homelessness are better understood by interested parties and the general public. 

4. General Administration 
Objective: Perform administrative functions required to support the Board and Committee activities, 

including overall day-to- day operations, annual action planning, and review of the long-term strategic 

plan as required. 
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Deliverables 
1. Regional Planning and Coordination 

(Collective Impact) 
i. Share GVCEH Executive Director reports that are delivered to the GVCEH Board quarterly. 

 
1. Executive Director Reports delivered (see Appendix A) 

Appendix A: Executive Director Report 
 

ii. Report on the ongoing work of the Health and Housing Steering Committee 
(HHSC); coordinate and co- chair the HHSC leadership meetings. 
Coordinate and co-chair 6 HHSC meetings/year (ongoing) 
Co-chair 6 HHSC leadership meetings/year (ongoing) 
 
1. Health and Housing Steering Committee (Leadership meetings) 

May 2023; July 2023; September 2023; November 2023; February 2024; 
April 2024 (6 meetings) 

 
2. Health and Housing Steering Committee (Full Committee meetings) 

April 11, 2023; June 2022; August 2022; November 29, 2022; January 09, 
2024; March 12, 2024 (6 meetings) 

 
iii. Continue supports for the implementation of the Sooke Homelessness Strategic Plan 

by participating in the Sooke Homelessness Coalition (SHC) 
Attend meetings as scheduled by the SHC (ongoing) 

 
1. Attend and support the SHC Committee as required or as invited. 

Member of the Advisory Committee as well. 
2. Attend the SHC meetings and offer updates, as well as support for the 

implementation of the Strategic Plan. 
3. Review the Sooke Shelter Draft Service Agreement and provide guidance 

to the SHC Executive Director for content and presentation to Sooke 
Council. 

4. Engage and consult with SHC for the 2025-2030 Community Plan.  
 

iv. Engage with Salt Spring Island (SSI), homelessness serving sector organizations. 
3 meetings/year (ongoing) 

 
1. Initiatives to engage with SSI have been continuous but slow due to 

changes in leadership in one of the key organizations. Outreach continues 
to re-engage with the ED of IWAV. 

2. Connected with SSI community leaders at April 2023 BCNPHA Rent event; 
attended with Rob Grant, ED SI Community Services Society, May 24, 
2023. Invite Rob to attend the HHSC.  

 
v. Participate in and support Victoria Downtown Service Providers Meetings (DSP) 

12 meetings/year (ongoing) 
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1. Downtown Service Providers (DSP) meetings: 
April 25, 2023; May 23, 2023; June 27, 2023; July 2023 (no meeting, in lieu of 
Project Reconnect organizing); August 22, 2023 (Project Reconnect); September 
26, 2023; October 24, 2023; November 29, 2022; December 12, 2023; January 
23, 2024; February 27, 2024; March 26, 2024 (12 meetings/events) 

 
i. Supporting Work 

Continued engagement and meetings with Saanich and Sidney (ongoing) 

• Met with Mayor of Saanich and will continue working to improve 
relationships. 

• Met with Mayor of Sidney, Cliff McNeil-Smith, City staff and RCMP 
detachment to discuss homelessness in Sydney. 

 
Seniors’ Housing Council 

• Member of the Seniors’ Housing Council – meeting attendance, advice on seniors’ 
housing report (Aging in Uncertainty) and spokesperson for the region (media 
engagement) 

 
Community Plan Engagement 

• March 2023 – November 2023:  AEHCR meet with AEHCR Committees and 
working groups 
AEHCR Board, Health & Housing Steering Committee, Lived & Living Experience 
Council, Sooke Homelessness Coalition, Downtown Service Providers, Youth 
Serving Organizations 

• September 2023 – December 2023: Reviewed information collected for 
emerging themes and analysis 

• January 30, 2024: Cross-sector Community Plan Engagement event 

• March 2024: Community Plan follow-up questionnaire 

• March 2024+: Continuing information collection with review for emerging 
themes and analysis 

 
Core Area of Work: Work with Island Health partners to develop and initiate person-centered 
and needs based health and social supports in housing and in community. 

• Service agreement in place with IH. Specific deliverables with them. 
 

Core Area of Work: Work with key partners by participating and/or facilitating planning 
groups that support SSI with best practice knowledge to integrate SSI CAA model. 

• (From 2022-2023) A number of outreach and conversations have taken place between 
April 01, 2022, through March 31, 2023, and have led to a May 24, 2023, meeting. 
Key partners: Island Health, BC Housing, IWAV, and Island Community Services 

 
Core Area of Work: Priority given to communities/neighborhoods identified as locations for 
Rapid Housing Initiative’s new or renovated supportive housing. 
This deliverable was unclear and expectations around the supporting work were not 
established.  
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2. Ongoing Research and System Monitoring 
(Research and Data) 
i. Support the 2023-2024 Point in Time Count.  

• March 2023 PIT count: Supported in significant ways including questionnaire 
revision, attendance to all meetings, to volunteering the day of the count. 

 
ii. Engage the community around the expanded required. This could include 

supporting the CRD Community Planner's work by facilitating connections and 
engagement with community partner working groups and people with 
lived/living experience. All stipend, food, and travel costs for people with 
lived/living experience attending meetings or portions of meetings specifically 
related to Coordinated Access and/or HIFIS, as well as the general costs of 
these meetings, will be provided by the CRD. 

 

• Attend CAA, HIFIS, Built for Zero Webinars: July 28, 2022. 

• Attend CAA WG, HIFIS WG, and CAA/HIFIS/CDD meetings. 

• Attend Cowichan CA Engagement Planning meetings October 24, 2023, November 21, 
2023. 

• Ongoing meetings with CRD Community Planner for design and delivery of engagement 
with people with lived/living experience. Recruitment of supporting partners/sites.  

• Review with Lived/Living Experience Council. 
 

iii. Engage with community partners to coordinate system transformation 
processes that result from Coordinated Access process improvement through 
the System Transformation Working Group. 

 

• STWG Meetings 
9 meetings (ongoing) 
May 25, 2023; June 26, 2023; July 27, 2023; September 20, 2024 (Co-chairs); 
October 5, 2023; October 31, 2023; Nov 8, 2023 (Co-chairs).  
Co-Chairs requested STWG hiatus August, December 2023. Feb 13, 2024; 
Mar 12, 2024. 

 
iv. Support CAA Working Group - attend meetings as scheduled by the CRD 

Community Planner  
(ongoing/until project completion) 

 

• CAA-WG Meetings: January 09, 2023 
1 meeting 

• CAA Event (including event planning): May 17, 2023; June 21, 2023; June 22, 
2023 (all day workshop) 
2 meetings/1 workshop 

 
v. Support HIFIS Working Group - attend meetings as scheduled by the CRD Community 

Planner 
(ongoing/until project completion) 
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• HIFIS-WG Meetings: May 12, 2023; September 07, 2023; November 17, 2023 (missed 
December 05, 2023, meeting); February 08, 2024 
Attended 4 meetings. 

• Review of BC Housing Project Charter for HIFIS implementation 

• Review of HIFIS consent forms for HIFIS implementation 
 

vi. Quarterly meetings between director of research and data analysis (GVCEH) 
and the CRD Community Planner (HIFIS project) 
(ongoing) 

 

• CAA-WG Meetings: January 09, 2023 
1 meeting 

• CAA Event (including event planning): May 17, 2023; June 21, 2023; June 22, 
2023 (all day workshop) 
2 meetings/1 workshop 

• HIFIS-WG Meetings: May 12, 2023; September 07, 2023; November 17, 2023 
(missed December 05, 2023, meeting); February 08, 2024 
Attended 4 meetings. 

• Standup meetings: 1/2-hour meetings, with some discussion of Community 
Planner work 
Approx. 10 meetings 

 
vii. Work with Community Based HIFIS Lead - attend meetings as scheduled by the 

Community Planner. 
(ongoing/until project completion) 

 

• BC Housing Project Lead - not identified. 

• Currently, working with Community Planner, CAA WG, and HIFIS WG on BC 
Housing Project Charter for HIFIS Implementation 

 
Supporting Work 

Community Data Dashboard 

• CDD-WG bimonthly Meetings 
6 meetings  
May 03, 2023; July 05, 2023: September 06; November 01, 2023; January 10, 
2024; March 06, 2023 

• CAA, HIFIS, and Community Data Dashboard Collaboration  
Monthly meeting to discuss CAA, HIFIS, and Community Data Dashboard 
collaboration efforts with CRD, BCH, AEHCR 
 
1 meeting 
May 11, 2023 

 

• Phase 1: Version 1 completed.  
Appendix B: Community Data Dashboard (V1) 

 
Community Data Dashboard Presentations 
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• Presentation to the Board of Directors: November 28, 2023 
Appendix C: Community Data Dashboard Board Presentation 

• CDD Update Presentation to H&H Steering Committee (Full Committee): 
January 09, 2024 
Appendix D: Community Data Dashboard H&HSC Update 

 
Community Data Dashboard Reporting 

• Report to Catherine Donnelly Foundation 
Appendix E: GVCEH Community Data Dashboard Final Report 

BC Coalition to End Youth Homelessness 

• Report to the Ministry of Children and Family Development 
Appendix F: January 2024 BCCEYH Report to the Ministry of Children and Family 
Development 

 
Seniors’ Housing Council 

• Appendix G: United Way report presented to the Seniors Housing Council 
Aging in Uncertainty: The Growing Housing Crisis for BC Seniors 

 
 

 

3. Communications and Engagement  
(Advocacy and Communications) 
(Collective Impact) 

1. Convene and support the work of the Lived Experience Council  
6 meetings/year or as scheduled by the LEC (ongoing) 
 
1. Lived and Living Experience Council 

(12 meetings) 

• April 28, 2023; May 23, 2023; June 28, 2023; July 26, 2023; August 30, 2023; September 
27, 2023; October 27, 2023; November 30, 2023; December 19, 2023; Jan 27, 2024, 
March 7, 2024; March 28, 2024. 

 
2. Municipal engagement of the Communications, Education, and Awareness initiative, with 

an effort to engage all municipalities. 
 

1. The Communications Specialist position was vacant for approximately 5 months. A new 
person has now been hired and the communications plan is back on tract: immediate 
response to media enquiries, redirection of enquiries, strategic communications plan 
revision, tactical communications plan development, social media management etc. 

 
3. Meet with CRD to determine priority municipalities.  

 
1. Initial meetings with Mayors Sooke, Langford, and Saanich. Presentation at the City of 

Victoria Council October 26, 2023.  
2. Langford Cross-sectoral event November 28, 2023. 
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4. Develop community- specific presentations. 
The Communications Specialist position was vacant for approximately 5 months. 
The strategic communications plan deployment has begun with a digital campaign and will 
progress to municipal outreach. 
 

5. Offer to present to Mayor and Council of at least 5 identified priority municipalities. CRD to 
support connections with municipalities, as required.  
(ongoing) 
 
1. District of Sooke Council: Presented Sooke Homelessness Awareness & Strategic Plan on 

January 16, 2023 
2. Presentation to other municipalities (work in progress). 
 

6. Leadership provided to support coordination and implementation of Community Planning 
Engagement activities informed, in part, by the CRD CAB (ongoing) 
 
1. Attendance of all CAB meetings. Engagement with CAB Chair. Proposal evaluations. 
2. Change in the role of Director of Engagement and Impact.  

• Recruitment process January-February 2023 and arrival of new director in March 2023.  

• Andrew Holeton onboarded, orientation and community introductions/meetings. 

• Community Planning engagements executed and culminated on January 20, 2024, with 
the community consultation. 

• Refining objectives and setting priorities survey distributed March 2024. 
 
Supporting Work 

 
Sentiment Analysis - Report on social media/news posts on homelessness by tone (positive, 
neutral, and negative) using relevance and sentiment model. 

• Phase 1 & 2 completed. (includes Twitter posts) 

• Phase 3 underway – (will include Reddit posts) 
 

Face 2 Face with Stigma (F2F) workshops conducted to educate, inspire empathy, and reduce 
fear toward people experiencing homelessness and/or substance use disorder.  
(ongoing)  

• From April 2023 to March 2024, F2F delivered 24 workshops with a total of 426 
attendees.  

• Since 2018, F2F delivered 89 workshops to more than 1400 attendees from various 
groups. 

 
Community consultation and engagement for the development of the 2025-2030 Community 
Plan 
(ongoing) 

 

• Community Engagements 
March – November 2023) 
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AEHCR Committees & Workgroups engaged: Board, Health & Housing Steering 
Committee, Lived & Living Experience Council, Sooke Homelessness Coalition, DSP, Youth 
Serving Organizations 
 
September –December 2023 
Emerging themes & analysis 

 

• Community Plan Consultation Event 
January 30, 2024 
Appendix H: Community Plan Consultation Event Agenda 

Appendix I: Community Plan Consultation Event Presentation 

 

4. General Administration 
(Organizational Strength) 

i. Annual Report  
(ongoing) 

 
1. 2022-23 Annual Report  

Appendix J: 2022-23 Annual Report 
 

2. 2023-2024 Annual Report 

• Production and development of 2023-24 Annual Report and distribution to all interested 
parties including members, municipalities, government partners, other partners. 

 
ii. Annual General Meeting  

1. 2023 AGM  

• AGM held September 28, 2023. Lack of quorum: meeting held to update members. 
No business conducted. SGM planned.  

• SGM held to comply with Society’s Act. All filings done. 
Appendix K: 2023 Special General Meeting Minutes 

 
iii. Convening of quarterly funder meetings with BC Housing, Island Health, CRD & 

the City of Victoria to update on progress towards shared deliverables.  
 
1. Attempted to convene the meetings but there was unavailability for all suggested 

dates. 
 

iv. Convening meetings of the Executive to discuss emerging issues– as required.  
 

1. Executive Committee met on a regular basis ahead of the Board meetings and 
dealt with emerging issues.  

 
v. Facilitate, chair, or otherwise support Working Groups/ monthly meetings and 

provide notes or minutes, as appropriate, for the following committees. 
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1. Health and Housing Steering Committee & Health and Housing Steering 
Committee Leadership – 12 meetings/year  

• Health and Housing Steering Committee (Leadership meetings) 
May 2023; July 2023; September 2023; November 2023; January 2024; March 
2024 (6 meetings) 

• Health and Housing Steering Committee (Full Committee meetings) 
April 11, 2023; June 9, 2023; November 29, 2022; January 09, 2024; March 12, 
2024 (6 meetings) 

 
2. System Transformation Working Group: Review all partner tables with efficiency 

recommendations. 

• Adapt terms of reference as required (ongoing) 
Ongoing; Initial review June 26, 2023; Amendments Oct 5, 2023; October 31, 
2023, and development of Draft Framework 

• Facilitate 12 meetings/year (ongoing) 
May 25, 2023; June 26, 2023; July 27, 2023; September 20, 2024 (Co-chairs); 
October 5, 2023; October 31, 2023; Nov 8, 2023 (Co-chairs) (7 meetings) 

 
3. Community Engagement & Communications Working Group; facilitate quarterly 

meetings and establish working groups to address specific initiatives. 

• Committee is in hiatus pending governance review. 
 

4. Youth Task Force (Prevention of Homelessness) – 6 to 12 meetings/year (ongoing) 

• Committee is being reviewed and redesigned at the request of the Youth Serving 
Sector members. 
 

5. BC Coalition to End Youth Homelessness – attend meetings as scheduled by the 
BCCEYH (ongoing) 

• Attendance to all BCCEYH meetings. 

• Alliance Executive Director part of the Advocacy and Communications Committee. 

• Minutes are available through the BCCYEH. 
 
Supporting Work 
 

Core Areas of Work: Develop an annual Plan of Action for review by the Health & 
Housing Steering Committee and approval by the Board of Directors. 

• Discussions with the HHSC ongoing as the governance review for the Alliance is 
underway. 

 

 

5. Additional Activities 
 

Fundamentals for the Homelessness Serving Sector (FHSS): A micro-credential. 

• Collaboration between AEHCR and the University of Victoria to develop a set of 

courses that leads to a micro-credential for persons working in the homelessness 

serving sector. 
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• Development Relational Practice standards through micro-credential training 

 

Refugee Readiness Team - Vancouver Island 

RRT-VI meetings and Events 

• Attending meetings as able. 

• February 22, 2024: From Diversity to Prosperity: Employing Newcomers in the 

Capital Region event. 

 

Collaboration on Finding Housing for Displaced Ukrainians and Refugees on 

Vancouver Island: Regional Housing Report (surveying Landlords and Ukraine 

Refugees on housing on Vancouver Island) 

 

Appendix L: Finding Housing for Displaced Ukrainians and Refugees on Vancouver 

Island: Regional Housing Report (report to be provided when released) 

 

System Navigators and a Community Hub: Re-imagining Care, Support and Community-belonging for 

Older Women and Gender Diverse Persons Experiencing Housing Insecurity 

• Collaboration with AEHCR and University of Victoria’s Faculty of Social Sciences & IALH 

• Continuation of the NHS Solutions Lab Peer Navigator prototype 

• AEHCR role – co-co-principal investigator 

 

SYNOPSIS 

Overall Goal: To make a difference in the lives of OWGD who will receive support from the CCSNs 

and Hub interventions. Personalized guidance, information and opportunities for social 

interaction will help to support housing stability and permanent exits from homelessness. 

 

Supporting Vulnerable and Marginalized Older Adults to be Cared for and to Die at Home. 

• Collaboration with AEHCR and University of Victoria’s interdisciplinary team 

• Palliative Care for persons experiencing homelessness. 

• AEHCR role – research: data interpretation, stakeholder identification and engagement, and 

dissemination, ensuring findings are translated to public housing decision and policy making 

audience. 

 

SYNOPSIS 

The overall goal of this study is to understand how we can facilitate dying-in-place 

for structurally vulnerable older adults. Objectives are to: 

1. Identify and analyze published literature, and policy and regulatory guidelines 

that guide decision-making related to place of care and death for structurally 

vulnerable older adults; 

2. Describe, from the perspective of older adults, their support persons, and 

housing and health service providers, the conditions that would enable older 

adults to be cared for and die-in-place; 

3. Determine the required policy and regulatory changes and community-based 

health and social services that would be needed to promote older adults 
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experiencing structural vulnerability to be cared for and die-in-place if that 

was their wish to do so; and integrate findings to inform the co-development 

of a set of actionable recommendations to guide health and housing sector 

leaders to promote equity-oriented policies and services to enable older 

adults to be cared for and die-in-place or in locations consistent with their 

wishes. 
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Appendices 
Appendix A: Executive Director Reports 

ED Report – July 2023 – Summary report - first quarter 

Advocacy and communications 

• BC Coalition to End Youth Homelessness: attendance and support. 

• BC Coalition to End Youth Homelessness Advocacy Committee: attendance and support 

advocacy and communications efforts. 

• AMSAA Housing Committee: attendance inaugural meeting 

• Seniors Housing Working Group: meeting attendance. 

• Engage with City of Victoria Manager to obtain date for presentation. 

• Attend Council to support BC Housing’s Russell St Project 

• Write letters of support for diverse housing developments (BC Housing, Greater Victoria 

Housing Society) 

• Informal partner meetings to discuss ongoing files / issues. 

• Meeting with BC Housing CEO and Executive team – advocacy and relationship building. 

 

Collective Impact 

• Community Plan consultations: done - Board, HHSC, PLLEC, STWG. Upcoming: DSP, SCEH, SSI, 

PLLEC, Community engagement 

• Health and Housing Steering Committee Leadership and regular meetings: prepare, attend, 

and chair ongoing meetings. 

• System Transformation Working Group – prepare, attend, and chair ongoing monthly 

meetings, review of terms of reference and priority issues of focus. 

• Downtown Service Providers: attend monthly meetings. 

• Sooke Coalition to End Homelessness: attend ongoing meetings. 

• Regional Housing Advisory Committee: attended first meeting. 

• WorkBC – Initiated partnership to design a WorkBC cohort program for Peer Workers 

‘Community Care Works 4 Me’ to increase employment and employability. Focus groups and 

meetings held. 

 

Research and Data 

Data Dashboard – Michelle 

• Hiring Research Associate to support work 

• Engagement with housing providers (including bi-monthly meetings) 

• Creation of snapshot ‘dashboard’ to include: 

o Aggregate numbers for housing (mat, bed, unit) by defined housing type (e.g., 

emergency shelter, transition house, transitional housing…), 

o Bylaw information on outdoor shelters, starting with City of Victoria by month, 

o Emergency Weather Response information, by month, and 

o Housing stock coming online, by expected date. 

CAA / HIFIS Support – ongoing support: attendance at meetings and discussions with BC Housing  

• Member of CAA working group, 
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• Member of HIFIS working group, 

• Ongoing discussions with BC Housing, CRD Community Planner, 

• Keeping current on Built for Zero communities, CA workshops/engagements, HIFIS 

workshops/engagements, and  

• Attendance at Community Planner workshops, engagements, meetings. 

Women+ Fleeing Violence and Herluma – Michelle 

• App creation with INSPIRE group, 

• Review of development plan, 

• Presentations/meetings with BC Housing, and 

• Possible future meetings with Tectoria (Viatech). 

 

Sector Resiliency 

Best practices / training / resource sharing Group (Best Practices Collective) – Michelle 

• Monthly meetings to discuss best practices for HR, training resources for staff. 

Micro-credentialing project with UVic- Michelle 

• Organizing monthly Best Practices Collective meetings (includes agenda, minutes, additional 

documents as needed), 

• Organizing presentations to different tables (e.g., DSP), 

• Supporting/organizing Focus group engagements, 

• Funds allocation, and 

• Quarterly reports to CRD. 

 

Organizational Strength 

• Executive Committee:  support and briefing: governance review, AGM 

• Finance Committee: Audit 2022-2023, policy discussion, monthly financials. 

• Governance Committee: review bylaws, meetings with all Board members and CRD Ex-

Officio, conversations with partners  

• Planning sessions: staff – Community Plan and organizational review and redesign 

• Negotiating service agreements: IH and CRD 

• HR matters: Organizational redesign 

• Tiny town: Pursuing all avenues to realize sale by September 30th. 

• Funding: Research all sources of funding, reports to funders for ongoing funding and service 

agreements 

• IT project – Business analysis and continuity 

• Relocation of offices 

ED Report – February 20, 2023 – Summary report 

Advocacy and communications 

• BC Coalition to End Youth Homelessness: attendance and support. 

• BC Coalition to End Youth Homelessness Advocacy Committee: attendance and support 
advocacy and communications efforts. 

• AMSAA Housing Committee: attendance  
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• Seniors Housing Working Group: meeting attendance, report revision, media 
outreach/spokesperson, dissemination. 

• Progress report: CRD January 31 

• Meetings: City of Victoria – Manager, Community Services - Bylaw and Licensing Services 

• Formal and Informal partner meetings to discuss ongoing files / issues / matters. 

• Langford community collaboration: turning information to action session. 

Collective Impact 

• Community Plan consultations: done - Community engagement January 30, 2024 

• Health and Housing Steering Committee Leadership and regular meetings: prepare, attend 

and co-chair ongoing meetings. 

• System Transformation Working Group – Lead: Andrew – prepare, attend, and chair ongoing 

monthly meetings, review of terms of reference and priority issues of focus.  

• Downtown Service Providers: attend monthly meetings.  

• Sooke Coalition to End Homelessness: attend ongoing meetings, as invited. 

• Regional Housing Advisory Committee: attend ongoing meetings. 

• BC Seniors Housing Council: attend ongoing meetings. 

• Reaching Home – CAB: attend ongoing meetings, evaluate and score funding proposals. 

• EWR – continue to support to Salvation Army and partners for the 2023-2024 EWR 

deployment.  

• Face2Face with Stigma – ongoing development – lead - Andrew 

Research and Data 

Data Dashboard – Lead: Michelle 

• Research Associate supporting work. 

• Engagement with housing providers (including bi-monthly meetings) 

• Creation of snapshot ‘dashboard’ to include: 

o Aggregate numbers for housing (mat, bed, unit) by defined housing type (e.g., 

emergency shelter, transition house, transitional housing…), 

o Bylaw information on outdoor shelters, starting with City of Victoria by month, 

o Emergency Weather Response information, by month, and 

o Housing stock coming online, by expected date. 

CAA / HIFIS Support – ongoing support: attendance at meetings and discussions with BC Housing  

• Member of CAA working group, 

• Member of HIFIS working group, 

• Ongoing discussions with BC Housing, CRD Community Planner, 

• Keeping current on Built for Zero communities, CA workshops/engagements, HIFIS 

workshops/engagements, and  

• Attendance at Community Planner workshops, engagements, meetings. 

Women+ Fleeing Violence and Herluma – Michelle 

• App creation with INSPIRE group, 

• Review of development plan, 

• Presentations/meetings with BC Housing, and 

• Possible future meetings with Tectoria (Viatech). 
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Sector Resiliency 

Best practices / training / resource sharing Group (Best Practices Collective) – Michelle 

• Monthly meetings to discuss best practices for HR, training resources for staff. 

Micro-credentialing project with UVic- Michelle 

• Organizing monthly Best Practices Collective meetings (includes agenda, minutes, additional 

documents as needed), 

• Organizing presentations to different tables (e.g., DSP), 

• Supporting/organizing Focus group engagements, 

• Funds allocation, and 

• Quarterly reports to CRD. 

 

Organizational Strength 

• Lived Experience Council – support and consultation – Lead - Andrew 

• Executive Committee:  support and briefing: governance review, AGM 

• Finance Committee: draft budget 2024-2025, finance policies discussion, monthly financials. 

• Governance Committee: governance review, review bylaws, seek and obtain quotes for 

consultant to perform governance review, conversations with partners, reference to Deloitte – 

governance review pro-bono. 

• Planning sessions: staff – Community Plan and organizational review and redesign 

• Tiny town: meetings and site visits with several interested parties, negotiations of purchase / 

sale and securing legal advice to conclude sale at $300,000, advising all interested parties of 

sale, supporting communications; chair last CAC meeting. 

• HR matters: organizational redesign, contract preparation – P/T Communications Specialist 

• Funding: research all sources of funding, reports to funders for ongoing funding and service 

agreements 

• IT project – business analysis and continuity - ongoing 

• Co-Chairs engagement and support – ongoing 

• Oversight of all administrative matters: insurance, HR, departments, health benefits 

negotiations 

• AGM and SGM: preparation and execution 

• Communications: social media presence and website engagement 

• IT: meeting with current service provider to clarify contract deliverables. 

 

ED Report – February 20, 2023 – Summary report 

Advocacy and communications 

• BC Coalition to End Youth Homelessness: attendance and support. 

• BC Coalition to End Youth Homelessness Advocacy Committee: attendance and support 

advocacy and communications efforts. 

• AMSAA Housing Committee: attendance / participation 

• Seniors Housing Working Group: meeting attendance, report revision, media 

outreach/spokesperson, dissemination of report. 
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• Schedule A progress report: meeting with CRD January 31 and upcoming meetings for final 

presentation and service agreement negotiation 

• Meetings: City of Victoria – Manager, Community Services - Bylaw and Licensing Services and 

regular City Manager meetings 

• Formal and Informal partner meetings to discuss ongoing files / issues / matters. 

• Langford community collaboration: attend the “turning information to action” session. 

• Presentations to high schools: École Intermédiaire Central Middle School, Reynold Secondary 

School, and Frances Kelsey Secondary School 

• Participation as panelist: London - Homelessness Hub Model Webinar organized by the CSPC. 

• Meeting with Grace Lore, Minister MCFD to discuss collaboration and potential funding. 

• Screening of 940 Caledonia: attendance 

• Review strategic communication plan tactics: digital campaign, events, website. 

 

Collective Impact 

• Community Plan consultations: done - Community engagement January 30, 2024 

• Health and Housing Steering Committee Leadership and regular meetings: prepare, attend and 

co-chair ongoing meetings. 

• System Transformation Working Group – Lead: Andrew – prepare, attend, and chair ongoing 

monthly meetings, review of terms of reference and priority issues of focus.  

• Downtown Service Providers: attend monthly meetings.  

• Sooke Coalition to End Homelessness: attend ongoing meetings, as invited. 

• Regional Housing Advisory Committee: attend ongoing meetings. 

• BC Seniors Housing Council: attend ongoing meetings. 

• Reaching Home – CAB: attend ongoing meetings, evaluate, and score funding proposals. 

• EWR – continue to support to Salvation Army and partners for the 2023-2024 EWR deployment.  

• Face2Face with Stigma – ongoing development – lead – Andrew 

Attend Grace Lore’s Holiday get together, attend Our Place Turkey Lunch 

 

Research and Data 

Data Dashboard – Lead: Michelle 

• Research Associate supporting work. 

• Engagement with housing providers (including bi-monthly meetings) 

• Creation of snapshot ‘dashboard’ to include: 

o Aggregate numbers for housing (mat, bed, unit) by defined housing type (e.g., 

emergency shelter, transition house, transitional housing…), 

o Bylaw information on outdoor shelters, starting with City of Victoria by month, 

o Emergency Weather Response information, by month, and 

o Housing stock coming online, by expected date. 

CAA / HIFIS Support – ongoing support: attendance at meetings and discussions with BC Housing  

• Member of CAA working group, 

• Member of HIFIS working group, 

• Ongoing discussions with BC Housing, CRD Community Planner, 
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• Keeping current on Built for Zero communities, CA workshops/engagements, HIFIS 

workshops/engagements, and  

• Attendance at Community Planner workshops, engagements, meetings. 

Women+ Fleeing Violence and Herluma – Michelle 

• App creation with INSPIRE group, 

• Review of development plan, 

• Presentations/meetings with BC Housing, and 

• Possible future meetings with Tectoria (Viatech) 

• Meeting the team to assess next steps.  

 

Sector Resiliency 

• Best practices / training / resource sharing Group (Best Practices Collective) – Michelle - lead 

• Monthly meetings to discuss best practices for HR, training resources for staff. 

Micro-credentialing project with UVic – Michelle lead 

• Organizing monthly Best Practices Collective meetings (includes agenda, minutes, additional 

documents as needed), 

• Organizing presentations to different tables (e.g., DSP), 

• Supporting/organizing Focus group engagements, 

• Funds allocation, and 

• Quarterly reports to CE - CRD 

 

Organizational Strength 

• Lived Experience Council – support and consultation – Lead - Andrew 

• Executive Committee:  support - ongoing meetings 

• Finance Committee: support – agenda, draft budget 2024-2025, policies discussion, financials. 

• Governance and Nominations Committee: governance review, bylaws review, continue to meet 

and liaise with Deloitte. 

• Planning sessions: staff – Community Plan and organizational review and redesign 

• Tiny town: file is concluded successfully. $300,000 proceeds were deposited in our account early 

January. 

• HR matters: organizational redesign, P/T Communications Specialist - hired, P/T Administrative 

and Business Coordinator - hired. 

• Funding: research all sources of funding, preparation of reports to funders for ongoing funding 

and upcoming service agreements, write letter of request of increased funding from the CoV, 

follow-up Ministry of Housing funding request  

• IT project: business analysis and continuity - ongoing 

• Co-Chairs: engagement and support – ongoing 

• Communications: social media presence and website engagement. interviews 

• IT: search for optimal service provider  

• Oversight of all administrative matters: all departments, insurance, HR, health benefits 

• Chair: monthly staff meetings 
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Appendix B: Community Data Dashboard (V1) 
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Appendix C: Community Data Dashboard Board Presentation 
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Appendix D: Community Data Dashboard H&HSC Update 
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Appendix E: GVCEH Community Data Dashboard Final Report 
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Appendix F: Report to the Ministry of Children and Family Development  
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Appendix G: Aging in Uncertainty: The Growing Housing Crisis for BC Seniors  
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Appendix H: Community Plan Consultation Event Agenda 
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Appendix I: Community Plan Consultation Event Presentation 
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Appendix J: 2022-23 Annual Report 

 



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   150 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   151 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   152 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   153 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   154 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   155 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   156 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   157 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   158 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   159 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   160 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   161 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   162 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   163 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   164 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   165 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   166 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   167 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   168 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   169 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   170 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   171 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   172 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   173 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   174 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   175 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   176 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   177 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   178 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   179 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   180 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   181 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   182 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   183 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   184 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   185 | P a g e  



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   186 | P a g e  

 

 



CRD 2024 Schedule A Report   187 | P a g e  

Appendix K: 2023 Special General Meeting Minutes 
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Appendix L: Finding Housing for Displaced Ukrainians and Refugees on Vancouver Island: 

Regional Housing Report 
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2022-25 STRATEGIC PLAN – PLAN OF ACTION 

OUR APPROACH 

The Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region achieves its mission by working towards decolonization and with an anti-racism, person-centered 

and abundance-based approach. 

 

VISON  

A region, a province and a country where everyone has a safe place they can call home. 

 

MISSION 

To ensure experiences of homelessness in the Capital Region by 2030 are rare, brief, and non-recurring and that housing and supports are culturally 

adaptive, creative, caring, and person-centered. 
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STRATEGIC PLAN FINAL YEAR & COMMUNITY PLAN 2025-2030 TIMELINES 

Year 1 – April 2025-March 2026 
Year 2 – April 2026-March 2027 
Year 3 – April 2027-March 2028 
Year 4 – April 2028-March 2029 
Year 5 – April 2029-March 2030 

 

 CURRENT PLAN 

SEPT 01 2024 – 
MARCH 31 2025 

CP 2025-2030 

APRIL 01 2025 – 
MARCH 31 2026 

Year 1 

CP 2025-2030 

APRIL 01 2026 – 
MARCH 31 2027 

Year 2 

CP 2025-2030 

APRIL 01 2027 – 
MARCH 31 2028 

Year 3 

CP 2025-2030 

APRIL 01 2028 – 
MARCH 31 2029 

Year 4 

CP 2025-2030 

APRIL 01 2029 – 
MARCH 31 2030 

Year 5 

PLANNING / ACTIVITIES       

Action Plan: 
Development – 
Community 

Sept-Dec 2024      

Action Plan: 
Development – Alliance 

Sept-Dec 2024      

Action Plan: Draft / 
Publish – Community 

Jan-March 2025 – 
Year 1 

Jan-March 2026 – 
Year 2 

Jan-March 2027 – 
Year 3 

Jan-March 2028 – 
Year 4 

Jan-March 2029 – 
Year 5 

--- 

Action Plan: Draft / 
Publish – Alliance 

Jan-March 2025 – 
Year 1 

Jan-March 2026 – 
Year 2 

Jan-March 2027 – 
Year 3 

Jan-March 2028 – 
Year 4 

Jan-March 2029 – 
Year 5 

--- 

Action Plan: Draft 
Budget Approval – 
Alliance 

March 2025 March 2026 March 2027 March 2028 March 2029 March 2030 

Action Plan: Implement 
– Community 

---  Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Action Plan: Implement 
– Alliance 

---  Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

Action Plan: Craft Action 
Plan (aligned to CP) – 
Alliance & Community 

February 2025 February 2026 February 2027 February 2028 February 2029  

Action Plan: Evaluate – 
Community 

 March 31 2026 March 31 2027 March 31 2028 March 21 2029 March 31 2030 
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 CURRENT PLAN 

SEPT 01 2024 – 
MARCH 31 2025 

CP 2025-2030 

APRIL 01 2025 – 
MARCH 31 2026 

Year 1 

CP 2025-2030 

APRIL 01 2026 – 
MARCH 31 2027 

Year 2 

CP 2025-2030 

APRIL 01 2027 – 
MARCH 31 2028 

Year 3 

CP 2025-2030 

APRIL 01 2028 – 
MARCH 31 2029 

Year 4 

CP 2025-2030 

APRIL 01 2029 – 
MARCH 31 2030 

Year 5 

PLANNING / ACTIVITIES       

Action Plan: Evaluate – 
Alliance 

 March 31 2026 March 31 2027 March 31 2028 March 21 2029 March 31 2030 

Action Plan + Budget: 

Board Presentation1 – 
Alliance 

March 2025 March 2026 March 2027 March 2028 March 2029  

Final Report – Alliance      March 31 2030 

       CP 2030 – 2035 
Development – Alliance 
& Community 

--- --- --- --- --- APRIL 1 2029 – 
MARCH 31 2030 

1 coinciding with negotiations of the contract agreement with CRD/others 
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STRATEGIC GOAL 

1. COLLECTIVE IMPACT  

We align the opportunities that arise from the intersection of our work in community through the development and strengthening of partnerships to achieve 

system transformation, both to prevent and to, ultimately, end homelessness. 

Continuation of work from our Strategic Plan (2022/04/01 – 2025/03/31) 

• Youth Homelessness Prevention Mapping Project (Victoria Foundation Grants): Develop, lead and implement 

• Project Reconnect 2024 (United Way – South Island Funding): Co-chair and execute 

• Downtown Service Providers (DSP) Hospital Discharge into Homelessness Working Group, November 2024 Forum: Collaboration, participation, 

implementation 

• BC Coalition to End Youth Homelessness (BCCEYH), Advocacy and Communications Committee member: member and lead participation, 

collaboration, advocacy and communication plans participation and development 

• Seniors Housing Council, Seniors Housing Working Group, Advocacy and Communications Committee member: Member and lead participation, 

collaboration, advocacy and communication plans participation, development and implementation 

• Island Homelessness Systems Community of Practice: Participation and collaboration 

• Victoria Peer Support Community of Practice: Collaboration, support and participation through established and new networks 

• BC Non-profit Housing Association (BCNPHA) Housing Central Conference: Presentation on the 2025-2030 Community Plan 

• Canadian Alliance to End Homelessness 2024 (CAEH 2024): Presentation on Navigating, shaping, and designing services to meet the needs of women 

& gender-diverse people –  pioneering Peer Support Navigators and Community Hub pilot in Greater Victoria 

• Regional Housing Advisory Committee member: Member participation 

• Heart and Hearth Strategic Table: Leadership participation 

• Community Social Planning Council (CSPC): Collaboration for Housing and Homelessness Forum 

• Representative for Children and Youth: Participation in consultations and supports 

• Community Engagement: Individual, formal and informal meetings, supports 

Service Agreements 

CRD – GVCEH Society 2024/04/01 – 2025/03/31 Service Contract Island Health – GVCEH Society 2023/01/06/ –2024/11/30 Service Contract 

Goal Deliverable Objective Deliverable 

GOAL 1: Regional Planning & 
Collaboration  

 
1.0 Supporting the Most Vulnerable   

 
1.1: Community Plan (2025-2030) 
Finalize and publish the Community Plan 2025-
2030.     

1.1.1 Convene key partners to address the 
housing's system ability to house priority 
populations with significant health care 
needs. 

1.2.1 Ensure housing for people with 
significant health needs is an area of focus 
and priority for the relevant working 
groups and that clear system 
improvement recommendations to better 
support this population are generated. 
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CRD – GVCEH Society 2024/04/01 – 2025/03/31 Service Contract Island Health – GVCEH Society 2023/01/06/ –2024/11/30 Service Contract 

Goal Deliverable Objective Deliverable  
1.2: Health & Housing Steering Committee 
Meetings (Leadership) 
Coordinate and Co-Chair a minimum of six (6), 
or as many as are held, Health & Housing 
Steering Committee Leadership meetings and 
propose items advanced by the CRD on the 
meeting agenda for consideration by the Health 
& Housing Steering Committee Leadership 
Team as requested.   

1.1.2 Help ensure the needs of the 
“Priority One” population, Complex Care 
Housing population and other populations 
with significant health needs and who are 
at risk of homelessness are an area of 
priority and focus for system 
enhancement planning. 

1.2.2 Work with partners to help develop 
a Health and Housing model that is 
inclusive and supportive of those with 
complex needs. 

 
1.3: Health & Housing Steering Committee 
Meetings (Community)  
Coordinate and Co-Chair a minimum of six (6), 
or as many as are held, Health & Housing 
Steering Committee Community meetings.   

3.0 Project & Initiative Support 
 

 
1.4: Downtown Service Providers Meetings 
Attend a minimum of twelve (12), or as many 
as are held, Downtown Service Provider 
meetings and support activities consistent with 
this Agreement or other plans/strategies as 
may be applicable.  

3.1.1 To support the community in 
working together in addressing 
homelessness through focused and 
targeted priorities, meetings and 
activities. 

3.2.1 Develop Community Plan with clear 
measurable deliverables. 

 
1.5: Sooke Homelessness Coalition Support  
Engage the Sooke Homelessness Coalition and 
extend an offer to attend Sooke Homelessness 
Coalition meetings and participate as invited. 
Support activities, such as such as information 
sharing, engagement, as requested by the 
Sooke Coalition and that are within the scope 
of work of the Alliance and aligned with this 
Agreement or other plans/strategies as may be 
applicable. This will be reported back in writing 
at a mid-year CRD/AEHCR check-in.   

3.1.2 To identify key priorities with the 
community in support of those 
experiencing homelessness and significant 
health concerns. 

3.2.2 Ensure new Health and Housing 
initiatives are made areas of focus for the 
various Working Groups. 
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CRD – GVCEH Society 2024/04/01 – 2025/03/31 Service Contract Island Health – GVCEH Society 2023/01/06/ –2024/11/30 Service Contract 

Goal Deliverable Objective Deliverable  
1.6: Salt Spring Island Engagement 
Engage community organizations and other 
partners, such as BC Housing, on Salt Spring 
Island and identify areas of collaboration and 
suggestions for enhanced local coordination 
that the Alliance can support. This will be 
reported back in writing at a mid-year 
CRD/AEHCR check-in 

3.1.3 Work with partners to develop and 
describe a Health and Housing model and 
system that works well for those with 
complex needs as well as others and the 
communities in which they are situated. 

3.2.3 Ensure that the Service Provider’s 
plans include a description of how Health 
and Housing services work together in an 
integrated, coherent and strategic 
manner. 

  1.7: Regional Planning & Collaboration 
Outcome Summary  
Provide an annual summary at the end of the 
Agreement Term on the specific outcomes 
and/or outputs of the various community 
meeting tables referenced within this 
agreement. This should also include any 
recommendations as may be appropriate to 
enhance the effectiveness of regional planning 
and collaboration work and drive toward 
solutions. 
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2. SECTOR RESILIENCY 

We support our sector’s human resources to thrive in the service of our community by developing best-practices approaches that are employee-centric. 

Continuation of work from our Strategic Plan (2022/04/01 – 2025/03/31) 

• University of Victoria collaboration – Fundamentals for the Homelessness Serving Sector: Micro-credential program developed and delivered 

(Reaching Home Program Funding) 

o Taking information about/socializing the FHSS micro-credential to community, through established and new networks. 

Service Agreements 

CRD – GVCEH Society 2024/04/01 – 2025/03/31 Service Contract Island Health – GVCEH Society 2023/01/06/ –2024/11/30 Service Contract 
Goal Deliverable Objective Deliverable 

  2.0 System Enhancements 
 

  2.1.1 To increase the coordination of the 
housing, health and social support system. 

2.2.1 Support Coordinated Access. 

  2.1.2 Encourage housing providers to 
grant access to housing resources to 
individuals based on highest need. 

2.2.2 Help with the development of an 
eviction prevention strategy 

  2.1.3 Help ensure the Health and Housing 
system has a shared service model that 
informs how Housing and Health services 
collaborate and how they are accessed. 

2.2.3 Actively promote the integration of 
support and health services with housing 
services by promoting joint planning 
activities. 

  2.1.4 Work to develop, implement and 
coordinate Health and Housing sector 
education and/or training to support 
recruitment, retention and staff wellness. 
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3. RESEARCH AND DATA 

Continuation of work from our Strategic Plan (2022/04/01 – 2025/03/31) 

• Community Data Dashboard: Maintenance and refinement, including standardized definitions for housing, youth, and levels of barrier, collaboration 

with the University of Victoria Health Informatics for design and implementation of the PowerBI dashboard 

• Community Data Dashboard Research: Research Associate mentoring, supervision and wrap-up (Catherine Donnelly Foundation grant) 

• University of Victoria: Collaboration – Fundamentals for the Homelessness Serving Sector: Micro-credential program developed and delivered, 

available free of charge from April 2024 – April 2027 (Reaching Home Program Funding) 

• University of Victoria: Collaboration – Supporting Health & Healing with Information, Navigation & Empowerment: Overall goal using a Feminist 

Participatory Action research approach is to make a difference in the lives of women and those who identify as/were raised as women through 

personalized guidance, information and opportunities for social interaction will help to support housing stability and permanent exits from 

homelessness will receive support from Systems Navigators and through Community Circles (Vancouver Foundation Grant 08/2024 – 08/2027) 

• University of Victoria: Collaboration – Supporting Vulnerable and Marginalized Older Adults to be Cared for and to Die at 'Home': Overall goal of this 

study is to understand how we can facilitate dying-in-place for structurally vulnerable older adults (CIHR Grant) 

• University of Victoria Computing Science Inspire Program: Collaboration – herluma: Solution development for web application to show live 

availability of shelters beds across the CRD where shelters are able to maintain and update their availabilities, contact information, and eligibility 

requirements, targeted to women and gender-diverse individuals fleeing from domestic, pilot application in development 

• Community Research Ethics Office (CREO): Board Member, EDI Working Group 

• Statistics without Borders (SWB): Management - MarCom Working Group 

• Canadian Evaluation Society – BC Chapter: Coordination - Vancouver Island Coordination 

Service Agreements 

CRD – GVCEH Society 2023/2024 Service Contract Island Health – GVCEH Society 2024/2025 Service Contract 

Goal Deliverable Objective Deliverable 

GOAL 2: Ongoing Research  
 

2.0 System Enhancements 
 

 
2.1: Regional Overview of Permitted Sheltering 
Spaces 

2.1.1 To increase the coordination of the 
housing, health and social support system. 

2.2.1 Support Coordinated Access. 
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CRD – GVCEH Society 2023/2024 Service Contract Island Health – GVCEH Society 2024/2025 Service Contract 

Goal Deliverable Objective Deliverable  
2.2: 2024 Point-in-Time Count  
Provide support to the successful proponent of the 
CRD’s 2024 Point-in-Time Count, which is expected 
in the fall of 2024. This may include, meeting 
participation, advertising and information 
dissemination, and/or engagement of Peoples with 
Lived Experience, as negotiated with the successful 
proponent agency. All expenses will reside with the 
successful organization, including stipends for 
Persons with Lived and Living Experience. 

2.1.2 Encourage housing providers to grant 
access to housing resources to individuals 
based on highest need. 

2.2.2 Help with the development of an 
eviction prevention strategy 

 
2.3: Supportive Housing Impact Assessment 
Prepare a report that is based on a literature review 
that looks at provincially provided community-level 
supportive housing guidelines, community impacts 
of supportive housing and supportive housing best 
practices.  

2.1.3 Help ensure the Health and Housing 
system has a shared service model that 
informs how Housing and Health services 
collaborate and how they are accessed. 

2.2.3 Actively promote the integration of 
support and health services with housing 
services by promoting joint planning 
activities. 

 
2.4: Creating Homes: A Community Guide to 
Affordable and Supportive Housing Development  
Review and update, as may be required, the Creating 
Homes: A Community Guide to Affordable and 
Supportive Housing Development within the current 
program, funding, and political landscape. 

2.1.4 Work to develop, implement and 
coordinate Health and Housing sector 
education and/or training to support 
recruitment, retention and staff wellness. 

 

  4.1.1 To identify key causal factors in eviction 
and support the development of eviction 
prevention initiatives and/or strategies that 
will prevent individuals in existing 
supportive/supported housing from being 
evicted into homelessness. 
 

4.2.1 Work with Health and Housing 
leaders to put in place the mechanisms for 
collaboration on eviction prevention. 
Desired outcomes could include evictions 
tracking and eviction prevention 
mechanisms etc. 
 

GOAL 3: System 
Monitoring 

  
4.2.2 Prevention of Youth Homelessness: 
Continued leadership and convening of 
cross sectoral meetings with Island Health, 
Ministry of Children and Families, Victoria 
Police department and BC Housing and 
local not for profit youth providers to 
identify, prioritize and implement key 
initiatives. 
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CRD – GVCEH Society 2023/2024 Service Contract Island Health – GVCEH Society 2024/2025 Service Contract 

Goal Deliverable Objective Deliverable  
3.1: Coordinated Access 
Support the CRD’s obligation to have a Coordinated 
Access system in place by March 31, 2026, as 
requested and subject to available capacity at the 
AEHCR. The minimum requirements, as prescribed 
by the Government of Canada, include expectations 
related to governance, access points, triage, vacancy 
matching and referrals, with the CRD providing 
current information on what these requirements 
are, as well as training and access to information and 
tools required to achieve this deliverable. 

  

 
3.2: Homeless Individuals Families Information 
System 
Support the CRD’s obligation to have Homeless 
Individuals Families Information System as 
requested subject to available capacity at the 
AEHCR, with the CRD providing current information 
on what these requirements are, as well as training 
and access to all relevant information and tools 
required to achieve this deliverable. 
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4. ADVOCACY AND COMMUNICATIONS 

We amplify the voices of people with lived and living experiences, and the sector to reach its functional-zero-by-2030 goal through the development and 

implementation of a sector-wide advocacy and communications plan. The plan encompasses internal and external communications that inform, engage and  

promote our collective influence to adequately resource the sector, supports quality improvements and drives system transformation. 

Continuation of work from our Strategic Plan (2022/04/01 – 2025/03/31) 

• Strategic Communications Plan: Continued implementation 

• Reaching Home Program (RHP) Community Advisory Board (CAB): Leadership participation as member 

• Advocacy Plan: Development following the Community Plan 2025-2030 

• School Board Outreach: Presentations to High Schools, collaboration with the Greater Victoria Teachers Association (GVTA) Social Justice Committee, 

meeting with Superintendent 

• Statistics Without Borders (SWB): Sentiment analysis tool that scrapes, assesses relevancy, and provides a ‘CRD homelessness’ sentiment score  

• Provincial Election Townhall (virtual): Development and execution 

• Media: Representation and engagement 

Service Agreements 

CRD – GVCEH Society 2023/2024 Service Contract Island Health – GVCEH Society 2024/2025 Service Contract 

Goal Deliverable Objective Deliverable 

GOAL 4: Communication 
& Engagement  

 
4.0 Homelessness Prevention 

 

 
4.1: 2024/2025 Regional Resources Guide  
Prepare a Regional Resources Guide that is based 
on the services published by BC211, Pathways, 
other sources as well as the inventory of youth 
that is currently underway. The Regional Resources 
Guide will be electronic, housed on the Alliance 
website and printable. Resources will be sought to 
expand the scope of the areas covered as well as 
printed options. The Regional Resources Guide will 
cover the entirety of the CRD including thirteen 
(13) municipalities and three (3) electoral areas. 

4.1.1 To identify key causal factors in 
eviction and support the development 
of eviction prevention initiatives and/or 
strategies that will prevent individuals in 
existing supportive/supported housing 
from being evicted into homelessness. 

4.2.1 Work with Health and Housing 
leaders to put in place the mechanisms for 
collaboration on eviction prevention. 
Desired outcomes could include evictions 
tracking and eviction prevention 
mechanisms etc. 

   
4.2.2 Prevention of Youth Homelessness: 
Continued leadership and convening of 
cross sectoral meetings with Island Health, 
Ministry of Children and Families, Victoria 
Police department and BC Housing and 
local not for profit youth providers to 
identify, prioritize and implement key 
initiatives. 
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5. ORGANIZATIONAL STRENGTH 

We continue to develop an AEHCR core team that is adequately resourced to augment capacity. We align and focus the team on mission-critical actions in 

support the evolving needs of the sector 

Continuation of work from our Strategic Plan (2022/04/01 – 2025/03/31) 

• Lived and Living Experience Council: Revitalization – structure, leadership, membership recruitment and strategic work 

• Governance: Board, Board Executive and Board Committees: Provide supports, organizational Governance Review supports 

• Fund Development Plan: Development and implementation 

• Homelessness Response System Transformation (Cookie Jar): Review System’s Infrastructure 

• Professional Development: Transformative Reconciliation in Community Social Services (Federation of Community Social Services of BC), Power BI, 

Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2), webinars and forums as pertinent to our work 

• Developing and leveraging current and new networks to support the ongoing work of the Alliance 

• Organizational policies: Revision of all organizational policies (modernization and compliance) 

• Ongoing administrative duties and legislative requirements/compliance: BC Societies registry, HR, Risk Management, Financial Management, Fiscal 

Management, Insurance Management, Health Benefits Management, IT Management 

• Grant Management: Application, monitoring, and reporting 

• SharePoint Redesign Project: Development and implementation 

• Face2Face with Stigma and Speakers Bureau: Explore revitalization – structure, leadership, recruitment and roll out 

Service Agreements 

CRD – GVCEH Society 2023/2024 Service Contract Island Health – GVCEH Society 2024/2025 Service Contract 
Goal Deliverable Objective Deliverable 

GOAL 5: General 
Administration 

  5.0 Staffing for Services The Contractor will provide the Services 
described in this Schedule through the 
provision of an appropriate 
complement of its coordinator staff 
whose combined weekly hours will be 
10.50 hours per week as well as 6.0 
hours per week each of administrative 
support and executive director support.  

5.1: 2023/2024 Annual Report 
Prepare and publish the 2023/2024 AEHCR Annual 
Report in accordance with any and all requirements 
under the Societies Act and other legislation/regulation 
as may be applicable. 
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CRD – GVCEH Society 2023/2024 Service Contract Island Health – GVCEH Society 2024/2025 Service Contract 
Goal Deliverable Objective Deliverable  

5.2: Presentation to the Hospitals and Housing 
Committee of the CRD 
Prepare and provide a presentation to the CRD’s 
Hospitals and Housing Committee. The presentation is 
to occur on or before July 3, 2024, and will offer detail 
of the AEHCR accomplishments under the 2023/2024 
Service Agreement as well as an overview of what the 
AEHCR will be working on under this Agreement. 

  

 
5.3: 2024/2025 Plan of Action 
Collaborate with AEHCR members and other partners as 
appropriate to develop and receive necessary approval 
of the 2024/25 AEHCR Plan of Action that is to include a 
timeline of all deliverables as contained within this 
Agreement. This is to be provided to the CRD following 
the Alliance’s Board of Directors approval, anticipated 
July 30, 2024. 

  

 
5.4: 2024 Annual General Meeting 
Hold the 2024 Annual General Meeting in accordance 
with any and all requirements under the Societies Act 
and other legislation/regulation as may be applicable.  

  

 
5.5: Quarterly Progress Reports 
Prepare and provide brief written Quarterly Progress 
Reports to the CRD which are due on: Q1 July 31, 2024; 
Q2 October 31, 2024; Q3 January 31, 2025; Year End 
Report April 30, 2025. Attend follow-up meetings as 
may be required. 

  

  5.6: CRD/AEHCR Mid-Year Check In 
Notwithstanding the obligation under item 5.5 to attend 
follow-up meetings as may be required, the CRD and 
AEHCR will meet for a mid-year check in that is to be 
scheduled no later than November 15, 2024. In support 
of this check-in, the AEHCR will prepare and provide a 
high-level summary of progress on deliverables 
contained within this Agreement through Q1 and Q2 
and a more detailed overview of how progress will be 
made on any outstanding deliverables as contained 
within this Agreement and by the end of the Agreement 
Term. 
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Appendix C 
 
 

Service Delivery Background and Highlights 
 
 
Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region: 

In 2008, the Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region (then known as the Greater 
Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness) formed with a mission to end homelessness in the capital 
region. The CRD has supported the Alliance’s core operations since its formation. Initially 
contributing $150,000, the CRD’s contribution increased to $225,000 in 2010 and has remained 
relatively steady until 2023. In response to the Alliance's notification that without increased 
funding, viability beyond 2024 is uncertain, the Board approved a one-time increase of $120,000, 
raising the CRD contribution to $345,000 for 2024-2025. 
 
In total, the Alliance has received funding through both Service Agreements ($3,880,000) and the 
Reaching Home Program ($466,627). The CRD has also administered $800,000 on behalf of the 
City of Victoria for Alliance Service Agreements, bringing the total Service Agreement funding to 
$4,680,000 since 2008. 
 
Aboriginal Coalition to End Homelessness: 

In 2016, the Aboriginal Coalition to End Homelessness (ACEH) formed as an Indigenous-led 
non-profit organization, registered charity, and housing provider operating on Lək̓ ʷəŋən territory 
with a Vancouver Island-wide mandate to provide culturally supportive, affordable housing and 
services that work to address the disproportionate number of Indigenous Peoples experiencing 
homelessness. 
 
Since 2019, the ACEH has received $755,250 in funding through Service Agreements with the 
CRD and received $695,859 in funding through the Reaching Home Program. This includes an 
initial four years of funding at $150,000 per year. At its October 2023 meeting, the CRD Board 
committed to three years of additional funding starting at $155,250, an amount which will increase 
annually based on the consumer price index for Victoria. 
 
Regional Housing First Program: 

The Regional Housing First Program (RHFP) launched in 2016 as a $120 million (M) housing 
supply partnership between the CRD, BC Housing and the Canada Mortgage and Housing 
Corporation (CMHC). The program model sets rent for 20% of units at the Government of BC’s 
Income Assistance Rate Table Shelter Maximum (Shelter Rate) for persons experiencing or at-
risk of homelessness who can live independently. At full build-out, the RHFP is expected to deliver 
up to almost 1,500 total units of affordable rental housing by 2028 (20% of which will be set at 
shelter rate). 
 
As of September 2024, the RHFP has supported the completion of 1055 new affordable rental 
units across the capital region, of which 238 are set at the shelter rate. 
 
Reaching Home Program: 

In 2019, the Government of Canada announced creation of the Reaching Home Program (RHP), 
which is intended to support the most vulnerable Canadians in maintaining safe, stable, and 
affordable housing and to reduce chronic homelessness nationally. The RHP provides funding to 
urban, Indigenous, rural, and remote communities to help them address their local homelessness 
needs. The RHP aligns with the goals of the National Housing Strategy (NHS) to support the most 
vulnerable Canadians in maintaining safe, stable, and affordable housing and to reduce chronic 
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homelessness nationally by 50% by 2028. 
The CRD entered into agreements with the Government of Canada in 2019 to fulfill the role of 
Community Entity in administering the RHP for the Designated Communities and Indigenous 
Homelessness funding streams. Local priorities are set out in the ‘Community Plan to End 
Homelessness’, which is approved by a Community Advisory Board (CAB).  The CAB supports 
the CRD, as the Community Entity, in implementing the RHP by undertaking a range of activities 
in critical community-based program delivery. 
 
In November 2023, the Government of Canada informed the CRD of its plan to extend the RHP 
by two years beyond its original end date of March 31, 2024. In total, the CRD is on-track to 
manage approximately $18.7M in funding between 2019 to 2026 on behalf of the federal 
government through the RHP. Key outcomes of the Reaching Home Program since 2019 include: 

• 1101 individuals placed into more stable housing. Of those, 81.24% remained stably 
housed at the 12-month mark. 

• 2628 individuals have benefitted from Core Prevention Services. Of those, 95.45% 
remained housed three months after having received those services. 

 
Beyond these housing outcomes, RHP funding also supports activities relating to community 
inclusion, job training and skill development. 
 
CRD staff have not received any confirmation of further funding for the RHP beyond 2026. 
 
Rapid Housing Initiative: 

In 2020, the CMHC announced the launch of the Rapid Housing Initiative (RHI) which focused on 
quickly creating new units of permanent affordable housing for people and populations who are 
vulnerable and targeted under the NHS. The CRD received a direct contribution in the initial round 
of funding through the Cities Stream, with additional funding received in 2022 and 2023 through 
subsequent rounds of the RHI program. In total, the CRD has administered over $34.0M in RHI 
funding for 202 units across four supportive or below-market housing projects in the capital region. 
 
Through the RHI, the CRD has worked with BC Housing and CMHC to administer approximately 
$34.3M in funding in the capital region. This funding has supported the creation of four below-
market developments, including: 

• 52 units of supportive housing on Albina Street in Saanich 
• 39 units of supportive housing on Prosser Road in Central Saanich 
• 45 units of supportive housing on Catherine Street in Victoria 
• 66 units of below-market rental housing on Admirals Road, located on Songhees Nation 

Land (currently under development) 
 
Strengthening Communities’ Services Program: 

In August 2021, the Province announced that the CRD had received $308,520 in funding through 
the Strengthening Communities’ Services (SCS) Program to support the Salt Spring Island 
Homelessness COVID Response. The SCS program was designed to help local governments 
support unsheltered homeless populations during the COVID-19 pandemic. The funding to the 
CRD supported vulnerable populations who were unsheltered on Salt Spring Island, while also 
providing short-term increases in bylaw services in order to ensure public spaces remained safe 
and inclusive spaces for all those wishing to use these spaces during high-use months of the 
year. 
 



Appendix D 
 
CRD-AEHCR: 2024-25 Service Agreement Deliverables 

This Schedule details the Deliverables as outlined herein and represents the work of the Alliance 
to End Homelessness in the Capital Region (AEHCR) for the period April 1, 2024, to March 31, 
2025. 

The Deliverables are to be supported through $445,000 that includes: 
• $345,000 from the CRD 
• $100,000 from the City of Victoria that is administered by the CRD 

 
GOAL 1: Regional Planning & Collaboration 

1.1: Community Plan (2025-2030) 

Finalize and publish the Community Plan 2025-2030. 

1.2: Health & Housing Steering Committee Meetings (Leadership) 

Coordinate and Co-Chair a minimum of six (6), or as many as are held, Health & Housing 
Steering Committee Leadership meetings and propose items advanced by the CRD on the 
meeting agenda for consideration by the Health & Housing Steering Committee Leadership 
Team as requested. 

1.3: Health & Housing Steering Committee Meetings (Community) 

Coordinate and Co-Chair a minimum of six (6), or as many as are held, Health & Housing 
Steering Committee Community meetings. 

1.4: Downtown Service Providers Meetings 

Attend a minimum of twelve (12), or as many as are held, Downtown Service Provider meetings 
and support activities consistent with this Agreement or other plans/strategies as may be 
applicable. 

1.5: Sooke Homelessness Coalition Support 

Engage the Sooke Homelessness Coalition and extend an offer to attend Sooke 
Homelessness Coalition meetings and participate as invited. Support activities, such as 
information sharing, engagement, as requested by the Sooke Coalition and that are within the 
scope of work of the Alliance and aligned with this Agreement or other plans/strategies as may 
be applicable. This will be reported back in writing at a mid-year CRD/AEHCR check-in. 
 
1.6: Salt Spring Island Engagement 

Engage community organizations and other partners, such as BC Housing, on Salt Spring 
Island and identify areas of collaboration and suggestions for enhanced local coordination that 
the Alliance can support. This will be reported back in writing at a mid-year CRD/AEHCR 
check-in. 
 
1.7: Regional Planning & Collaboration Outcome Summary 

Provide an annual summary at the end of the Agreement Term on the specific outcomes and/or 
outputs of the various community meeting tables referenced within this agreement. This should 
also include any recommendations as may be appropriate to enhance the effectiveness of 
regional planning and collaboration work and drive toward solutions. 
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GOAL 2: Ongoing Research 

2.1: Regional Overview of Permitted Sheltering Spaces 

Produce a report on the review of municipal areas across the CRD where people who are 
unhoused or experiencing homelessness can camp, shelter, or park in a vehicle overnight. 
The scope will include the entirety of the capital region as depicted in the CRD’s administrative 
boundaries consisting of 13 municipalities and three electoral areas. This report will gather all 
bylaw information depicted in the CRD’s administrative boundaries, identify critical areas 
requiring further investigation and suggest various options for more investigation. 

2.2: 2024 Point-in-Time Count 

Provide support to the successful proponent of the CRD’s 2024 Point-in-Time Count, which is 
expected in the fall of 2024. This may include, meeting participation, advertising and 
information dissemination, and/or engagement of Peoples with Lived Experience, as 
negotiated with the successful proponent agency. All expenses will reside with the successful 
organization, including stipends for Persons with Lived and Living Experience. 

2.3: Supportive Housing Impact Assessment 

Prepare a report that is based on a literature review that looks at provincially provided 
community-level supportive housing guidelines, community impacts of supportive housing and 
supportive housing best practices. 

2.4: Creating Homes: A Community Guide to Affordable and Supportive Housing Development 

Review and update, as may be required, the Creating Homes: A Community Guide to 
Affordable and Supportive Housing Development within the current program, funding, and 
political landscape. 
 

GOAL 3: System Monitoring 

3.1: Coordinated Access 

Support the CRD’s obligation to have a Coordinated Access system in place by March 31, 
2026, as requested and subject to available capacity at the AEHCR. The minimum 
requirements, as prescribed by the Government of Canada, include expectations related to 
governance, access points, triage, vacancy matching and referrals, with the CRD providing 
current information on what these requirements are, as well as training and access to 
information and tools required to achieve this deliverable. 

3.2: Homeless Individuals Families Information System 

Support the CRD’s obligation to have Homeless Individuals Families Information System as 
requested subject to available capacity at the AEHCR, with the CRD providing current 
information on what these requirements are, as well as training and access to all relevant 
information and tools required to achieve this deliverable. 
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GOAL 4: Communication & Engagement 

4.1: 2024/2025 Regional Resources Guide 

Prepare a Regional Resources Guide that is based on the services published by BC211, 
Pathways, other sources as well as the inventory of youth that is currently underway. The 
Regional Resources Guide will be electronic, housed on the Alliance website and printable. 
Resources will be sought to expand the scope of the areas covered as well as printed options. 
The Regional Resources Guide will cover the entirety of the CRD including 13 municipalities 
and three electoral areas. 

GOAL 5: General Administration 

5.1: 2023/2024 Annual Report 

Prepare and publish the 2023/2024 AEHCR Annual Report in accordance with any and all 
requirements under the Societies Act and other legislation/regulation as may be applicable. 

5.2: Presentation to the Hospitals and Housing Committee of the CRD 

Prepare and provide a presentation to the CRD’s Hospitals and Housing Committee. The 
presentation is to occur on or before July 3, 2024, and will offer detail of the AEHCR 
accomplishments under the 2023/2024 Service Agreement as well as an overview of what the 
AEHCR will be working on under this Agreement. 

5.3: 2024/2025 Plan of Action 

Collaborate with AEHCR members and other partners as appropriate to develop and receive 
necessary approval of the 2024/25 AEHCR Plan of Action that is to include a timeline of all 
deliverables as contained within this Agreement. This is to be provided to the CRD following 
the Alliance’s Board of Directors approval, anticipated July 30, 2024. 

5.4: 2024 Annual General Meeting 

Hold the 2024 Annual General Meeting in accordance with any and all requirements under the 
Societies Act and other legislation/regulation as may be applicable. 

5.5: Quarterly Progress Reports 

Prepare and provide brief written Quarterly Progress Reports to the CRD which are due on: 
Q1 July 31, 2024; Q2 October 31, 2024; Q3 January 31, 2025; Year End Report April 30, 2025. 
Attend follow-up meetings as may be required. 

5.6: CRD/AEHCR Mid-Year Check-in 

Notwithstanding the obligation under item 5.5 to attend follow-up meetings as may be required, 
the CRD and AEHCR will meet for a mid-year check-in that is to be scheduled no later than 
November 15, 2024. In support of this check-in, the AEHCR will prepare and provide a high-
level summary of progress on deliverables contained within this Agreement through Q1 and 
Q2 and a more detailed overview of how progress will be made on any outstanding deliverables 
as contained within this Agreement and by the end of the Agreement Term. 

5.7: Disbursements 

All funding disbursed upon signing of this Agreement. 
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REPORT TO HOSPITALS AND HOUSING COMMITTEE 
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 07, 2024 

SUBJECT Reaching Home Program Agreement 

ISSUE SUMMARY 

The Capital Regional District (CRD) and the Government of Canada need to negotiate and 
execute an amending agreement to allow the CRD to continue to act as Community Entity (CE), 
responsible for administering the Reaching Home Program (RHP): Canada’s Homelessness 
Strategy. 

BACKGROUND 

The CRD is administering $11.6 million (M) in Designated Communities funding between 2019 
and 2024 on behalf of the Government of Canada through the Reaching Home Program (RHP). 

The RHP is a community-based program aimed at preventing and reducing homelessness across 
Canada. This program provides funding to urban, Indigenous, rural, and remote communities to 
help them address their local homelessness needs. The RHP aligns with the goals of the National 
Housing Strategy (NHS) to support the most vulnerable Canadians in maintaining safe, stable, 
and affordable housing and to reduce chronic homelessness nationally by 50% by 2028. 

Local priorities are set out in the ‘Community Plan to End Homelessness’, which is approved by 
a Community Advisory Board (CAB). Appendix A, attached, contains a summary overview of the 
range of sub-projects currently supported through the RHP. The CAB supports the CRD, as CE, 
in implementing the RHP by undertaking a range of activities in critical community-based program 
delivery. Appendix B, attached, is the CAB Terms of Reference. 

On November 28, 2023, the Government of Canada notified the CRD of its intention to extend 
the RHP Contribution Agreement (which was to end on March 31, 2024) for a further two years 
for an additional amount of $6.1M. Following consultation with the CAB, the CRD has launched a 
Request for Proposals (RFP) process to identify projects for funding starting April 1, 2024. The 
draft agreement amendment is attached as Appendix C. 

ALTERNATIVES 

Alternative 1 
The Hospitals and Housing Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
That Capital Regional District staff be authorized to negotiate, execute agreements with the 
Government of Canada and receive funds through the Reaching Home Program and do all things 
incidental to finalize such agreements and deliver the program. 

Alternative 2 
That this report be referred to staff for additional information based on Hospital and Housing 
Committee direction. 

Appendix E
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IMPLICATIONS 
 
Social Implications 
The Reaching Home Program directly supports vulnerable Canadians and will directly contribute 
towards advancing this priority through the work of sub-projects in community. Though the CRD 
as CE, does not directly provide social and/or clinical services in support of vulnerable 
populations, the funding is allocated to several community projects that do. Projects are identified 
through RFPs with priorities guided by the ‘Community Plan to End Homelessness’ and specific 
recommendations from the CAB. Upon receipt of applications for funding, CE staff screen 
applications for eligibility and then distribute to CAB members for evaluation and scoring which 
results in a list of project recommendations. This process is to help ensure alignment between 
the needs of individuals experiencing or are at imminent risk of homelessness as outlined in the 
Community Plan to End Homelessness and the requirements of the RHP. 
 
Legal Implications 
In additional to the general terms of the RHP Contribution Agreement related to administrative 
and program delivery obligations, there are three distinct projects that are also requirements of 
the agreement amendment: 
 
Coordinated Access and Assessment (CAA) 
Section 8.1 of Appendix C outlines, that in partnership with the Indigenous Homelessness 
Community Entity, the CRD will be required to have a Coordinated Access system in place by 
March 31, 2026. The minimum requirements, as prescribed by Canada, include expectations 
related to governance, access points, triage, vacancy matching and referrals. 
 
Homeless Individuals and Families Information System (HIFIS) 
To support the successful implementation of CAA, Section 8.2 of Appendix C stipulates that 
communities must implement HIFIS to achieve the minimum requirements for Coordinated 
Access. 
 
Point-in-Time Count and Enumeration 
To further data collection activities, Canada is requiring a Point-in-Time Count be completed every 
three years, starting in the fall of 2024. This activity will include both an enumeration and survey 
of people experiencing homelessness in the community to standards set out by Canada. 
Additionally, future enumerations shall be conducted annually, in a similar time period beginning 
in 2025 as outlined in Section 8.5 Appendix C. 
 
Financial Implications 
Consistent with projections in the 2024-2028 CRD Provisional Financial Plan, Table 1 shows the 
total RHP funds expected from the Government of Canada for the next two years. Note that the 
Government of Canada’s fiscal year cycle is April 1 – March 31. 
 
Table 1: Designated Communities (DC) Funding by Year 
Designated 
Communities 

2024-2025 2025-2026 Total 

Funding for Initiatives $2,594,879 $2,594,879 $5,189,758 
Administration $   457,919 $   457,919 $   915,838 
Sub-Total $3,052,798 $3,052,798 $6,105,596 
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The RHP responsibility over program oversight includes financial administration, reporting and 
record keeping as well as oversight of eligible expenditures. Quarterly, the CE submits claims to 
the Government of Canada based on actuals spent and annual is subject to financial review 
conducted by the Government of Canada and is subject to an annual audit of the program’s 
activities conducted by a third party. These conditions remain unchanged in the amending 
agreement. 
 
Service Delivery Implications 
All costs associated with the delivery of the RHP are recovered through the administrative 
allocation as permitted by the program. Therefore, there is no additional cost associated with 
program delivery. 
 
Intergovernmental Implications 
Entering into these agreements will sustain a partnership that has proven effective in addressing 
the Government of Canada and CRD’s mutual interests in working to better address the challenge 
of homelessness in Canada. The delivery of the program through a community-based approach 
also positions the CRD in an influential role in working with the provincial government and its 
agencies to address homelessness. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The CRD can sustain its partnership with the Government of Canada to address issues related 
to homelessness by continuing to act as the CE for the RHP. To better position itself to execute 
the agreements in a short time frame, staff recommend the CRD Board delegate the finalization 
and execution of the agreements to CRD staff. In total, this will represent an additional $6.1M for 
RHP funds into the community with all costs for delivering these funds to eligible community-
based projects being covered through the administrative allocation as permitted by the program. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Alternative 1 
The Hospitals and Housing Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
That Capital Regional District staff be authorized to negotiate, execute agreements with the 
Government of Canada and receive funds through the Reaching Home Program and do all things 
incidental to finalize such agreements and deliver the program. 
 
Submitted by: Don Elliott, MUP, Senior Manager, Regional Housing 
Concurrence: Kevin Lorette, P. Eng., MBA, General Manager, Planning & Protective Services 
Concurrence: Nelson Chan, MBA, FCPA, FCMA, Chief Financial Officer 
Concurrence: Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Appendix A: Reaching Home Program Sub-Projects 2023-24 
Appendix B: Reaching Home Program Community Advisory Board Terms of Reference 
Appendix C: Draft Reaching Home Program Amendment Agreement 2024-2026 
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Organization Sub-Project Title File Number Total Funding 
Allocation 2023-24 Project Description

Victoria Cool Aid 
Society

Positive Flow Client 
Service Worker D2021-01 $103,811

The Victoria Cool Aid Society is being funded from April 1, 2021 - March 31, 2024 for a Client Service Worker to support 
clients who are ready to move from supportive housing into more independent, affordable rental housing in the CRD. The 
Client Support Worker will provide supports to people as they move into more independent affordable housing. This will 
free up supportive housing for people experiencing homelessness in the community.

CRD Community Planner D2021-02 $137,887
Tasked with developing the local Coordinated Assessment and Access system and use of the Homelessness Individuals 
and Families Information System in Greater Victoria, the CRD Community Planner will be key in the CRD meeting the 
requirements of the Community Entity in the Reaching Home Program.

Beacon Community 
Association

Homelessness 
Prevention Fund 

(HPF)
D2022-1 $210,429

The HPF is a partnership between eight organizations working together to provide emergency assistance to individuals and 
families who are in financial crisis and at immanent risk of losing their housing through provision of non-repayable 
subsidies to cover rent or utilities. 

Victoria Cool Aid 
Society

Indigenous Tenant 
& Cultural Supports D2022-02 $150,880

The Victoria Cool Aid Society is providing housing and cultural supports to Indigenous people who are homeless or at risk 
of homelessness. The program funds an Indigenous Client Services worker and Elders, along with a rich variety of cultural 
activities, life skills education and support, contact with Elders, and supports to connect with clinical services.

DESIGNATED SUB-PROJECTS 2023-24
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Pacifica Housing Streets to Homes D2022-03 $347,801

This project funds housing outreach workers who are working with clients with a history of chronic or episodic 
homelessness to locate market housing, support them in their housing, and re-house them if necessary. BC Housing 
provides rent supplements for these clients to make the rent more affordable. The Streets to Homes project is a 
collaborative community initiative designed to address homelessness in the community. It has a large network of housing 
resources and landlords, and provides supports by community referrals. This project is connected to other housing 
providers in the community and coordinates referrals to their program through shelters and drop in centers, along with 
many other portals.

Peers Victoria 
Resources

Housing Outreach 
and Support D2022-04 $242,450

Peers provides housing and case management services to people who may be from the sex industry who are chronically or 
episodically homeless. Housing outreach and support workers are providing assistance in locating rental housing, help with 
moving and storage, administration of rent supplements, support to secure income assistance and to apply for housing, 
and services that help with life skills and financial assistance through connections with provincial ministries. The housing 
support workers liaises with shelter and other housing support providers in the region to co-serve clients looking for 
housing and to share related costs. Peers provides an innovative complement to the existing housing and shelter supports 
with a unique target population of current and former sex workers. Their service model is harm reduction oriented and 
based on peer leadership.

Threshold Housing 
Society

Youth 
Homelessness 
Prevention & 

Housing 
Stabilization

D2022-05 $333,700

Threshold Housing is funded to provide support services for a wrap-around youth transitional housing program. Activities 
target at-risk youth ages 16-24. As youth become more stable, they graduate to more independent living situations. 
Threshold helps at risk youth build self-reliance by providing transitional housing, life skills supports, referrals to outside 
agencies, preparation for tenancy, financial literacy, cooking classes, social activities, pre-employment support, housing 
loss prevention, and school completion as required.

Burnside Gorge 
Community 
Association

Supporting Families 
Transitioning to 

Permanency
D2022-06 $136,871

Housing Outreach Workers will assist 35 families annually that are homeless, chronically homeless, or living in precarious 
housing transition into stable, long-term housing. Qualified families will be able to access up to $3,000 to cover costs 
associated with transitioning to permanent housing, including first months' rent, damage deposit, utility and service 
connections, furniture and basic needs supplies. Additional support will be offered by Housing Outreach Workers liaising 
with landlords and acquiring income assistance or other financial resources. 

John Howard 
Society - Victoria

Housing Access 
Team (HAT) D2022-07 $570,380

A collaborative, community-based program that will focus on moving individuals through the housing continuum and into 
suitable, permanent housing. Staff will work one on one with each client, removing as many barriers to housing as 
possible. Needs assessments will be completed, and discussions with community partners to support housing placements. 
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Pacifica Housing Community 
Connections D2022-08 $106,707

The Community Connections Program is a client-centred homeless prevention program that funds a Tenant Support 
Worker to proactively identify and provide immediate support services for vulnerable tenants struggling with independent-
living within Pacifica's portfolio of 25 subsidized and rent-geared-to-income (RGI) buildings.  Tenants supported through 
Community Connections include those with a history of chronic and episodic homelessness, mental health and substance 
misuse concerns, and those who had previously participated in other housing programs such as Supportive Housing, 
shelters, or precarious living situations as they moved through the local Coordinated Assessment and Access (CAA) 
homelessness response system. 

Community Social 
Planning Council 2023 PiT Count D2022-09 $45,774

The Community Social Planning Council of Greater Victoria will be coordinating and reporting results for the 2023 Point-in-
Time Count. Activities include working closely with the Aboriginal Coalition to End Homelessness and Volunteer Victoria to 
ensure success of the survey implementation. 

Elizabeth Fry 
Society

Victoria 
Collaborative-A 

Way Home
D2022-10 $384,142 A Way Home is a collaboration between the Elizabeth Fry Society (EFry) and Lookout. The objective is to place individuals 

into housing, provide prevention and diversion support services as well as discharge planning from institutions. 

Greater Victoria 
Coalition to End 
Homelessness

Micro-credentials D2022-11 $159,719
Co-developing free, accessible micro-credentialed training modules for workers in the homelessness response housing 
sector.  Facilitating coordinated service delivery and standardized best practices throughout the region.  Aligning with 
community-based requests, recommendations, and Housing First principles.

Tsawout First 
Nation

Reconciling On-
Reserve Housing 

Injustices
D2022-12 $384,923

Tsawout First Nation is building a responsive community of care ensuring Indigenous families receive housing security 
through the support of families experiencing rent arrears with eviction prevention services. This program aims to bridge the 
jurisdictional gap between Indigenous People experiencing homelessness on and off reserve by providing wraparound 
housing services to community members who are experiencing homelessness or are precariously housed. 

Victoria Women's 
Transition House 

Society

Homelessness 
Prevention Project D2022-13 $219,943

The Homelessness Prevention Project assists women who are survivors of intimate partner violence and abuse to secure 
safe, stable housing for themselves and their children. This will be accomplished through temporary financial support for 
maintaining housing, including covering expenses such as utility bills, moving and storage fees, rent and security deposits. 
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Victoria Youth 
Clinic

Family Reconnect 
Program D2022-14 $276,837

The Family Reconnect Program supports youth aged 14-24 who are experiencing homelessness in stabilizing their housing 
situations. This will be accomplished through wraparound support services as well as supporting individuals in re-
establishing supportive relationships with their families.  

Sooke Shelter 
Society Outreach Team D2022-15 $348,710 Sooke Shelter Society will be providing housing support services, including prevention and housing set-up services to 

Sooke residents who are experiencing or at risk of homelessness. 

Victoria Brain Injury 
Society

Housing Outreach 
Program D2023-01 $25,000

The Housing Outreach Program (HOP) provides housing supports to brain injury-affected adults to reduce the threat of 
homelessness. Through financial aid, home resources and training, HOP addresses housing challenges by empowering 
survivors with increased communication, confidence, and tenancy skills. HOP will aid brain injury survivors in housing 
navigation, fostering self-reliance and equip individuals with strategies like budgeting, emergency readiness and 
maintenance.  

Songhees Nation
Housing Strategies 
Plan - Bring Them 

Home
D2023-02 $75,000

Songhees Nation is beginning a comprehensive engagement planning process to develop an over-arching Lands and 
Housing Strategies Plan.  The plan will address housing needs in First Nation community, contribute direction for an 
intentional re-integration of homeless Indigenous Peoples while honouring Indigenous culture and heritage within the 
community.  The plan will also maximize land use and long-term economic potential for lands and long-term housing 
sustainability. This Housing Strategies Plan will contribute to Songhees Nation's 10 year Strategic Plan, provide information 
and direction, and answer questions for long-range community planning. 

Pacifica Housing Community 
Services Truck D2023-03 $52,000

The Community Services Truck will be used to keep vulnerable residents housed and on track to regaining/maintaining 
independence.  The vehicle will aid in meeting client service needs, primarily assistance with junk removal, housing set-up,  
donation pickups that build food security and basic needs resources which contribute greatly to housing stability and 
retention. 

Salvation Army Finding Home 
Project D2023-04 $45,944

The Finding Home project at the Victoria Additions and Rehabilitation Centre (ARC) is for residents whose 12 month stay 
in Salvation Army's transitional housing program is coming to an end.  Finding Home is a housing navigation and support 
pilot program intended to support people leaving transitional housing with finding permanent affordable and/or supportive 
housing . This project is designed to increase the continuum of care at the ARC.
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Reaching Home Program Community Advisory Board (CAB) 
Terms of Reference 

 
PREAMBLE 
 
On April 1, 2019, the Capital Regional District (CRD) entered into a five-year agreement with the 
Government of Canada to act as the Community Entity (CE) responsible for administering the 
Designated Communities Funding Stream of the Reaching Home Program, the Government of 
Canada’s homelessness strategy. Reaching Home requires that all CEs facilitate a Community 
Advisory Board (CAB) that is inclusive and representative of the community and supports 
community planning and priority identification. The geographic scope of the CAB is the boundaries 
of the Greater Victoria Census Metropolitan Area (CMA), as defined by Statistics Canada. 
 
1.0 PURPOSE 
 
Reaching Home is a community-based program aimed at preventing and reducing homelessness 
across Canada. This program provides funding through various streams across Canada including 
Designated Communities (urban centers), Indigenous Communities, Territorial Communities and 
Rural and Remote Communities. Reaching Home supports the goals of the National Housing 
Strategy, in particular to support the most vulnerable Canadians in maintaining safe, stable and 
affordable housing and to reduce chronic homelessness nationally by 50% by fiscal year 2027 to 
2028. 
 
2.0 ESTABLISHMENT AND AUTHORITY 
 
a) Members of the Reaching Home CAB will be recommended by the General Manager, 

Planning and Protective Services to the CRD Board for approval. 
b) The convening Chair and Vice Chair of the Reaching Home CAB will be selected on an annual 

basis. 
 
3.0 ROLES AND RESPONSIBITLITIES 
 
a) Create and implement a Terms of Reference and other policies and procedures central to the 

functions of the CAB that address membership terms and conditions, including recruitment 
processes, length of tenure, attendance requirements, and/or any delegated tasks. Provide 
advice to the CE (CRD) in its actions directed toward fulfillment of its roles and responsibilities 
(see Appendix A). 

b) Through the CAB, provide advice to the Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region 
(AEH) on CE responsibilities delegated to the AEH as outlined in Appendix B. 

c) Collaborate with the Indigenous Homelessness CAB to ensure effective coordination of 
funding for the purpose of service delivery in the community. 

d) Develop an engagement strategy that includes details on how it will achieve and sustain broad 
and inclusive representation. 

e) Provide approval of a Community Plan that includes outcomes and indicators to be used to 
guide action and monitor progress toward effectively addressing issues related to 
homelessness in the Greater Victoria area. 

f) Assess and recommend projects for funding to the CE. 
g) Be representative of the community by recruiting members that provide broad and inclusive 

representation of the community. 
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h) Support the CE (CRD) and its partners in the planning and implementation of coordinated 
access. 

i) Approve Community Progress Reports. 
 
4.0 MEMBERSHIP 
 
a) The Reaching Home CAB will consist of up to 16 voting members. BC Housing, Vancouver 

Island Health Authority and the Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region are 
considered standing members and will have the opportunity to appoint members to the CAB. 

b) The Reaching Home CAB will have up to 13 voting members from the following groups: 
• Agencies serving Indigenous people experiencing homelessness 
• First Nations located within the boundaries of the CMA 
• Local non-profit organizations providing housing to people experiencing homelessness 
• Local health or social support service providers 
• People with lived experience of homelessness 
• Police or Correctional service providers 
• Local business community 
• Senior serving agencies 
• Youth serving agencies or Child Welfare authorities 
• Newcomer serving agencies 
• Local neighborhood or community associations 

c) Ex-officio representation from both Service Canada and the CE (CRD staff) who will advise 
on program eligibility requirements, and guide the CAB if and when significant changes to the 
program are introduced. 

d) Non-standing members will be identified through a public recruitment and selection process. 
e) The CAB may provide input on membership to CRD Staff who in turn will submit a slate of 

members for approval by the CRD Board. 
f) Whenever possible, Indigenous representation will be a true reflection of the percentage of 

Indigenous people experiencing homelessness at any point in time. 
g) The Community Entity will make an effort to provide for the participation of individuals from 

groups who experience systemic discrimination in the community, particularly those who are 
identified within various protected grounds of federal and provincial human rights legislation. 

h) In the event of the death, resignation, termination or disqualification of a CAB member, CRD 
staff can appoint a successor for the remainder of the term. 

i) If a member is absent from two or more consecutive meetings of the CAB without approval of 
the CAB Chair, the CRD Board may, upon the recommendation of the General Manager of 
Planning and Protective Services, terminate the appointment of such member thereby 
creating a vacancy on the CAB. 

j) Members will be appointed to serve an initial two-year term and can serve up-to an additional 
consecutive two-year term for a maximum of four years at the discretion of the General 
Manager of Planning and Protective Services and with CRD Board approval. 

 
5.0 MEETINGS 
 
a) The CAB will meet on a quarterly basis throughout the year. 
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6.0 PROCEDURES 
 
a) Any directions and decisions requiring a vote will be done by assigning each member one 

vote. 
b) A quorum of the CAB is a majority of the representatives nominated and/or appointed from 

time to time. In the case that a conflict of interest is declared, quorum will still be in effect and 
not be reassessed dependent on the number of voting members leaving. 

c) Representatives of the CAB shall serve without remuneration. 
d) At the request of a CAB member, and with the consent of the CAB Chair, guests or delegations 

may be invited to attend, present to and/or participate in meetings of the Committee. 
e) The CAB Terms of Reference will be reviewed annually or as required. 

 
7.0 RESOURCES AND SUPPORT 
 
a) The Senior Manager of the CRD Regional Housing Division, the Manager of CRD Housing 

Initiatives and Programs, will provide strategic support and act as liaisons for the Committee. 
b) Minutes and agendas are prepared and distributed by the CRD Regional Housing Division. 
c) The CRD Regional Housing Division will employ staff that provide additional administrative 

and planning support as required. 
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Appendix A 

Reaching Home Program 

Designated Communities 
1.0 Community Entity Roles and Responsibilities 
 
a) Enter into agreements with the Government of Canada to administer the Reaching Home 

Program. 
b) Ex-officio representation on the Community Advisory Board (CAB) to include the Community 

Entity (CE) who will advise on program eligibility requirements, and guide the CAB where 
significant changes to the program are introduced. 

c) Implement Reaching Home in accordance with Employment and Social Development Canada 
(ESDC) approved work plans. 

d) Manage all aspects of program administration. 
e) Implementing selection processes and soliciting and assessing sub-project proposals in an 

open and fair manner; 
• Facilitating calls for proposals; 
• Determining eligibility of proposals based on Program Directives; 
• Overseeing proposal evaluation and recommendation processes; 
• Completing due diligence and approving project budgets; 
• Executing final agreements with sub-projects and other planning projects; 
• Managing sub-project funding agreements, including financial and activity monitoring of 

sub-projects to ensure compliance with sub-agreements and achievement of expected 
results; 

• Implement required data collection processes with sub-project organizations; 
• Reporting quarterly and annually to ESDC on program implementation, sub-project 

performance, financial claims, and progress toward achievement of outcomes; 
• Conducting and submitting annual audit to ESDC; 
• Overseeing Community Progress Report development, submission to ESDC and 

publication. 
f) Ensure Designated Communities funding stream is fully invested to address priorities 

identified in the Community Plan. Ensure Indigenous Homelessness funding stream is fully 
invested to address priorities identified by the CAB. 

g) Inform the CAB about the status and results of sub-projects and other activities related to the 
prevention and reduction of homelessness in the community. 

h) Manage all public communications related to the implementation of the Reaching Home 
Program. 

i) CABs and CEs are expected to identify Official Language Minority Communities (OLMCs) 
within their community and ensure that appropriate services and supports are available in both 
official languages where there is significant demand. See Directives for more details on CE 
roles related to OLMCs. 

j) Through working with community partners, including, if applicable, in partnership with the 
Indigenous Homelessness stream Community Entity within the Designated Community where 
the recipient is located, CEs shall provide annually to Canada, beginning in 2020-2021, using 
a template provided by Canada, no later than 60 days following the period covered by the 
report (i.e., the previous fiscal year), a Community Progress Report, satisfactory to Canada in 
scope and detail. The Community Progress Report will be published publicly in a time and 
manner prescribed by Canada.  
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2.0 Coordinated Access 
 
a) Oversee the development of policies and procedures outlining how the coordinated access 

process operates in the areas of access, assessment, prioritization and matching & referral. 
b) Have a Coordinated Access system in place by March 31, 2022, that fully meets all Reaching 

Home minimum requirements for Coordinated Access. The minimum requirements, as 
prescribed by Canada, outline Canada’s expectations for the design of Coordinated Access 
systems across the following areas: coverage, governance operating model, access, 
assessment, prioritization, matching and referral, and Homelessness Management 
Information System (HMIS) platform. 

c) Where one CE is responsible for delivering both streams, the CE will be responsible to engage 
with the CAB(s) and Indigenous service providers as they are critical partners in a 
community’s efforts to prevent and reduce homelessness, and their participation in 
coordinated access is essential to its success. 

 
3.0 Homeless Individuals and Families Information System (HIFIS) 
 
a) Develop a set of local agreements to manage privacy, data sharing, and client consent within 

a community-wide HMIS in compliance to municipal, provincial and federal laws. 
b) Work with BC Housing and ESDC to sign necessary Data Provision Agreements and an End-

user License Agreements to support the use of HIFIS to support the delivery of Reaching 
Home. 

c) Setup a governance structure to oversee decisions related to implementing and maintaining 
HIFIS and the data collected. 

d) Access a server and establish corresponding security and safeguards to secure the data 
collected. 
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Appendix B 

Reaching Home Program 

Designated Communities 
1.0 Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region (AEH) 
 
a) Coordinate government agencies, non-profits, health services and community organizations 

around the delivery of housing and services directed toward efforts to reduce homelessness 
in the region, and report to the Community Advisory Board through the AEH Executive 
Director. 

b) Support engagement in the development of a Community Plan that includes outcomes and 
indicators to be used to guide action and monitor progress toward effectively addressing 
issues related to homelessness in the Greater Victoria area. 

c) Engage with community organizations and individuals, including Indigenous, in the community 
beyond the homeless serving sector and gather all available information related to the 
community’s local homelessness priorities, and develop a coordinated approach to 
addressing homelessness in the region. 

d) Receive and report on quantitative and qualitative data that outlines progress toward the 
achievement of the goals of the regional Community Plan to End Homelessness. 

e) Provide advice and feedback on any plans or strategies required by the Government of 
Canada related to the Community Entity’s delivery of the Reaching Home Program. 
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Appendix C 
Reaching Home Program - Designated Communities 

Conflict of Interest Policy (from BC Community Charter) 
Division 6- Conflict of Interest 

100 Disclosure of conflict 

a) This section applies to council members in relation to: 
• council meetings 
• council committee meetings, and 
• meetings of any other body referred to in section 93 [application of open meeting 

rules to other bodies]. 
b) If a council member attending a meeting considers that he or she is not entitled to 

participate in the discussion of a matter, or to vote on a question in respect of a matter, 
because the member has: 

• a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in the matter, or 
• another interest in the matter that constitutes a conflict of interest, the member 

must declare this and state in general terms the reason why the member considers 
this to be the case. 

c) After making a declaration under subsection (2), the council member must not do anything 
referred to in section 101 (2) [restrictions on participation]. 

d) As an exception to subsection (3), if a council member has made a declaration under 
subsection (2) and, after receiving legal advice on the issue, determines that he or she 
was wrong respecting his or her entitlement to participate in respect of the matter, the 
member may: 

• return to the meeting or attend another meeting of the same body, 
• withdraw the declaration by stating in general terms the basis on which the 

member has determined that he or she is entitled to participate, and 
• after this, participate and vote in relation to the matter. 

e) For certainty, a council member who makes a statement under subsection (4) remains 
subject to section 101 [restrictions on participation if in conflict]. 

f) When a declaration under subsection (2) or a statement under subsection (4) is made, 
• the person recording the minutes of the meeting must record, 
• the member's declaration or statement, 
• the reasons given for it, and 
• the time of the member's departure from the meeting room and, if applicable, of 

the member's return, and 
g) unless a statement is made under subsection (4), the person presiding at that meeting or 

any following meeting in respect of the matter must ensure that the member is not present 
at any part of the meeting during which the matter is under consideration. 
 

101 Restrictions on participation if in conflict 

a) This section applies if a council member has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a 
matter, whether or not the member has made a declaration under section 100. 

b) The council member must not 
• remain or attend at any part of a meeting referred to in section 100 (1) during which 

the matter is under consideration, 
• participate in any discussion of the matter at such a meeting, 
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• vote on a question in respect of the matter at such a meeting, or 
• attempt in any way, whether before, during or after such a meeting, to influence 

the voting on any question in respect of the matter. 
c) A person who contravenes this section is disqualified from holding office as described in 

section 108.1 [disqualification for contravening conflict rules] unless the contravention was 
done inadvertently or because of an error in judgment made in good faith. 
 

102 Restrictions on inside influence 

a) This section applies if a council member has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a 
matter, whether or not the member has made a declaration under section 100. 

b) The council member must not 
• remain or attend at any part of a meeting referred to in section 100 (1) during which 

the matter is under consideration, 
• participate in any discussion of the matter at such a meeting, 
• vote on a question in respect of the matter at such a meeting, or 
• attempt in any way, whether before, during or after such a meeting, to influence 

the voting on any question in respect of the matter. 
c) A person who contravenes this section is disqualified from holding office as described in 

section 108.1 [disqualification for contravening conflict rules] unless the contravention was 
done inadvertently or because of an error in judgment made in good faith. 

 
103 Restrictions on outside influence 

a) In addition to the restriction under section 102, a council member must not use his or her 
office to attempt to influence in any way a decision, recommendation or action to be made 
or taken by any other person or body, if the member has a direct or indirect pecuniary 
interest in the matter to which the decision, recommendation or other action relates. 

b) A person who contravenes this section is disqualified from holding office as described in 
section 108.1 [disqualification for contravening conflict rules] unless the contravention was 
done inadvertently or because of an error in judgment made in good faith. 
 

104 Exceptions from conflict restrictions 

a) Sections 100 to 103 do not apply if one or more of the following circumstances applies: 
• the pecuniary interest of the council member is a pecuniary interest in common 

with electors of the municipality generally; 
• in the case of a matter that relates to a local service, the pecuniary interest of the 

council member is in common with other persons who are or would be liable for 
the local service tax; 

• the matter relates to remuneration, expenses or benefits payable to one or more 
council members in relation to their duties as council members; 

• the pecuniary interest is so remote or insignificant that it cannot reasonably be 
regarded as likely to influence the member in relation to the matter; 

• the pecuniary interest is of a nature prescribed by regulation. 
b) Despite sections 100 to 103, if a council member; 

• has a legal right to be heard in respect of a matter or to make representations to 
council, and 

• 105 is restricted by one or more of those sections from exercising that right in 
relation to the matter, the council member may appoint another person as a 
representative to exercise the member's right on his or her behalf. 
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105 Restrictions on accepting gifts 

a) A council member must not, directly or indirectly, accept a fee, gift or personal benefit that 
is connected with the member's performance of the duties of office. 

b) Subsection (1) does not apply to: 
• a gift or personal benefit that is received as an incident of the protocol or social 

obligations that normally accompany the responsibilities of office, 
• compensation authorized by law, or 
• a lawful contribution made to a member who is a candidate for election to a local 

government. 
c) A person who contravenes this section is disqualified from holding office as described in 

section 108.1 [disqualification for contravening conflict rules] unless the contravention 
was done inadvertently or because of an error in judgment made in good faith. 
 

106 Disclosure of gifts 

a) This section applies if; 
• a council member receives a gift or personal benefit referred to in section 105 (2) 

(a) that exceeds $250 in value, or 
• the total value of such gifts and benefits, received directly or indirectly from one 

source in any 12-month period, exceeds $250. 
b) In the circumstances described in subsection (1), the council member must file with the 

corporate officer, as soon as reasonably practicable, a disclosure statement indicating; 
• the nature of the gift or benefit, 
• its source, including, if it is from a corporation, the full names and addresses of at 

least 2 individuals who are directors of the corporation, 
• when it was received, and 
• the circumstances under which it was given and accepted.  

c) A person who contravenes this section is disqualified from holding office as described in 
section 108.1 [disqualification for contravening conflict rules] unless the contravention was 
done inadvertently or because of an error in judgment made in good faith. 
 

107 Disclosure of contracts with council members and former council members 

a) If a municipality enters into a contract in which; 
• a council member, or 
• a person who was a council member at any time during the previous 6 months, 

has a direct or indirect pecuniary interest, this must be reported as soon as 
reasonably practicable at a council meeting that is open to the public. 

b) In addition to the obligation under section 100 [disclosure of conflict], a council member or 
former council member must advise the corporate officer, as soon as reasonably 
practicable, of any contracts that must be reported under subsection (1) in relation to that 
person. 

c) A person who contravenes subsection (2) is disqualified from holding office as described 
in section 108.1 [disqualification for contravening conflict rules] unless the contravention 
was done inadvertently or because of an error in judgment made in good faith. 
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Project #:  Project # 
Amendment #: 
Amend # 

Reaching Home: Canada’s 
Homelessness Strategy 

 
Community Entity 

 
Designated Communities 

 
Contribution 

Agreement 

Between 

His Majesty the King in Right of Canada (hereinafter 

referred to as "Canada"), as represented by the Minister 

of Housing, Infrastructure and Communities AND 

Legal Name of the Recipient 

(hereinafter referred to as “the Recipient”) 

Hereinafter collectively referred to as “the Parties” 

 
Articles of Agreement 

Whereas Canada has established Reaching Home: Canada’s Homelessness Strategy (hereinafter referred to as 
“the Program”) to support projects aimed at reducing homelessness and includes projects aimed at preventing 
individuals and families at imminent risk from becoming homeless; 
 

Whereas the Recipient has applied to Canada for funding to carry out the project described in Schedule A; 

Whereas Canada has determined that the Recipient is eligible to apply for funding under the Program and  
that the Project qualifies for support under the Program; and 

 
Whereas Canada has agreed to make a contribution to the Recipient towards the costs of the Project;  

Now, therefore, Canada and the Recipient agree as follows: 
 

1.0  AGREEMENT 
 

1.1  The following documents, and any amendments thereto, constitute the entire agreement between the 
Recipient and Canada with respect to its subject matter and supersedes all previous understandings, 
agreements, negotiations and documents collateral, oral or otherwise between them relating to its subject 
matter: 

 
(a) These Articles of Agreement; 

 
(b) Schedule A - entitled “Project Description”; 

 
(c) Schedule B - entitled “Financial Provisions”; and 

 
(d) Schedule C - entitled “Additional Provisions”. 

 
 

2.0  INTERPRETATION 
 

2.1 Unless the context requires otherwise, the expressions listed below have the following meanings for 
the purposes of this Agreement: 
 

“Eligible Expenditures” means the expenditures which are listed in the Project Budget in Schedule B, 
and in compliance with the Conditions Governing the Eligibility of Expenditures set out in Schedule B; 

 
“Fiscal Year” means the period commencing on April 1 in one calendar year and ending on March 31 in 
the next calendar year; 

 
“Project” means the project described in Schedule A; 

 
“Project Period” means the period beginning on the Project Start Date specified in Schedule A and 
ending on the Project End Date specified in Schedule A; and 

 
“Working Day” means Monday through Friday except statutory holidays. 

 
 

3.0 EFFECTIVE DATE AND SURVIVAL OF AGREEMENT 
 

3.1 This Agreement shall come into effect on the date it is signed by the last of the Parties to do so and, 
subject to section 3.2, shall expire at the end of the Project Period unless the Agreement is terminated on a 
prior date in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

 
3.2 The following provisions which are expressly identified as surviving this Agreement shall survive the expiry of this 
Agreement and shall continue in full force and effect: article 9, Project Records; article 10, Canada’s Right to Audit; article 12, 
Inquiry by the Auditor General of Canada; article 13, Final Report; article 14, Evaluation; article 17, Indemnification; article 24 
Disposition of Capital Assets; and article 29, Enurement. 
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4.0 PURPOSE OF THE CONTRIBUTION 
 

4.1 The purpose of Canada's funding is to enable the Recipient to carry out the Project. The funding shall be 
used by the Recipient solely for the purpose of paying the Eligible Expenditures. 
 
5.0 CANADA'S CONTRIBUTION 

 
5.1 Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Canada agrees to make a contribution to the 
Recipient in respect of the Eligible Expenditures. The amount of Canada's contribution shall not exceed the 
total maximum amount specified in section 1.1 of Schedule B. 

 
5.2 Where the Project Period covers more than one Fiscal Year, the amount payable by Canada on account of 
its contribution in each Fiscal Year of the Project Period shall not exceed the amount shown in section 1.2 of 
Schedule B for that Fiscal Year. 

 
6.0 APPROPRIATION 

 
6.1 Any payment under this Agreement is subject to the appropriation of funds by Parliament for the Fiscal Year 
in which the payment is to be made. 

 
7.0 REDUCTION OR TERMINATION OF FUNDING 

 
7.1 If 

 
(a) the Program named in this Agreement is cancelled, 

 
(b) the level of funding for the Program named in this Agreement for any Fiscal Year in which payment is 
to be made under the Agreement is reduced as a result of a governmental or departmental spending 
decision, or 

 
(c) Parliament reduces the overall level of funding for the programs of the Office of Infrastructure 
Canada for any Fiscal Year in which payment is to be made under this Agreement, 
 
Canada may, upon not less than ninety (90) days notice, reduce its funding under this Agreement or 
terminate the Agreement.  

 
7.2 Where, pursuant to section 7.1, Canada gives notice of its intention to reduce its funding, and where, as 
a result of the reduction in funding, the Recipient is of the opinion that it will be unable to complete the 
Project or will be unable to complete the Project in the manner desired by the Recipient, the Recipient shall 
notify Canada of same as soon as possible after receiving notice of the funding reduction and may, upon not 
less than thirty (30) days written notice to Canada, terminate the Agreement. 
 
8.0 RECIPIENT DECLARATIONS 

 
8.1 The Recipient 

 
(a)  declares that it has provided Canada with a true and accurate list of all amounts owing to the 

Government of Canada under legislation or funding agreements which were past due and in 
arrears at the time of the Recipient's application for funding under the Program named in this 
Agreement, 

 
(b)  agrees to declare any amounts owing to the Government of Canada under legislation or 

funding agreements which have become past due and in arrears following the date of its 
application for funding, and 

 
(c)  recognizes that Canada may recover any amounts referred to in paragraph (a) or (b) that are 

owing by deducting or setting off such amounts from any sum of money that may be due or 
payable to the Recipient under this Agreement. 

 
8.2 The Recipient declares that any person who has been lobbying on its behalf to obtain the contribution that 
is the subject of this Agreement was in compliance with the provisions of the Lobbying Act [R.S.C. 1985 c. 44 
(4th Supp.)], as amended from time to time, at the time the lobbying occurred and that any such person to 
whom the aforementioned  act applies, has received, or will receive, no payment, directly or indirectly, from the 
Recipient that is in whole or in part contingent on obtaining this Agreement. 

 
9.0 PROJECT RECORDS 

 
9.1 The Recipient shall 

 
(a) keep proper books and records, in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles, of all expenditures and revenues relating to the Project, including cash 
contributions received from Canada and cash contributions from other sources, as well as 
records substantiating the receipt and value of any in-kind contributions to the costs of the 
Project referred to in the Project Budget in Schedule B, 

 
(b) keep records of all Project-related contracts and agreements and all invoices, receipts and 

vouchers relating to Eligible Expenditures, and 
 

(c) keep records of all Project-related activity, progress and evaluation reports and reports of 
Project reviews or audits carried out by, or on behalf of, the Recipient. 

 
9.2 The Recipient shall retain the books and records referred to in section 9.1 for a period of six (6) years 
following the Project Period. 

 
10.0 CANADA'S RIGHT TO AUDIT 

 
10.1 During the Project Period and for a period of six (6) years thereafter, the Recipient shall, upon request, 
grant representatives of Canada access to the books and records referred to in section 9.0 for the purpose of 
conducting an audit to verify compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and verify expenses 
claimed by the Recipient as Eligible Expenditures. The Recipient shall permit Canada's representative(s) to 
take copies and extracts from such accounts and records. The Recipient shall also provide Canada with such 
additional information as Canada may require with reference to such books and records. 
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11.0 FINANCIAL AND ACTIVITY MONITORING 

 
11.1 During the Project Period, the Recipient shall grant representatives of Canada reasonable access to the 
Project site and business premises of the Recipient, if different from the Project site, and to all Project-related 
books and records referred to in section 9.0 at all reasonable times for the purpose of conducting periodic 
financial and activity monitoring reviews of the Project. The Recipient shall also, upon request, provide 
representatives of Canada with copies and extracts from such books and records. 

 
12.0 INQUIRY BY THE AUDITOR GENERAL OF CANADA 

 
12.1 If, during the Project Period or within a period of six years thereafter, the Auditor General of Canada, in 
relation to an inquiry conducted under subsection 7.1(1) of the Auditor General Act [R.S.C., 1985, c. A-17], 
requests that the Recipient provide him, her or them with any records, documents or other information 
pertaining to the utilization of the funding provided under this Agreement, the Recipient shall provide the 
records, documents or other information within such period of time as may be reasonably requested in writing 
by the Auditor General of Canada. 

 
13.0 FINAL REPORT 

 
13.1 Unless the Recipient is required under a schedule to this Agreement to provide another, more specific, 
final report outlining the results of the Project, the Recipient shall provide Canada with a final report that 
summarizes the Project scope, describes the results achieved, explains any discrepancies between the 
results and the planned or expected results and contains such other information as Canada may specify in 
writing to the Recipient. The Recipient shall provide Canada with the final report within sixty (60) days 
following the Project Period. 

 
14.0 EVALUATION 

 
14.1 The Recipient agrees to cooperate with Canada in the conduct of any evaluation of the Project and/or 
the Program named in this agreement that Canada may carry out during the Project Period or within a period 
of three years thereafter. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, if requested by Canada to do so for 
the purpose of conducting an evaluation, the Recipient agrees to: 

 
(a) participate in any survey, interview, case study or other data collection exercise initiated 

by Canada; and 
 

(b) subject to section 14.2, provide Canada with contact information of the Project partner 
organizations, if any, who participated in the Project, and of the members of the board of 
directors of the Recipient. 

 
14.2 The Recipient shall provide Canada with the contact information of a person (name, address, phone 
number and e-mail address) referred to in paragraph 14.1(b) only if the person has given their written consent 
to the release of the information to Canada. The Recipient agrees to make all reasonable efforts to secure 
such consent during the Project Period. When providing a person's contact information to Canada, the 
Recipient shall provide Canada with an accompanying written statement certifying that the person has given 
their consent to the sharing of their contact information with Canada. 
 
14.3 The evaluation process shall be informed by the principle of cultural sensitivity.  In the event of a dispute, the 
provisions of Article 27.0 shall be followed. 

 
15.0 CONTRACTING PROCEDURES 

 
15.1 Contracting  
 

1) Subject to subsection (2), the Recipient shall use a fair and accountable process, involving soliciting 
a minimum of three bids or proposals, when procuring goods and services from contractors in 
relation to the Project. The Recipient shall select the bid or proposal offering the best value at the 
lowest cost. 
 

2) The requirement under subsection (1) shall apply, unless otherwise authorized in writing by Canada 
to all goods or services contracts valued at $25,000 or more (before taxes). The Recipient must not 
unnecessarily divide a requirement for goods or services into a number of smaller contracts to avoid 
this requirement. 

 
15.2 Restrictions Regarding Non-Arms-Length Contracts 
 

1) Unless otherwise authorized in writing by Canada, all goods or services contracts, regardless of their 
value, entered into in relation to the Project between the Recipient and 

 
(a) an officer, director or employee of the Recipient, 
(b) a member of the immediate family of an officer, director or employee of the Recipient, 
(c) a business in which an officer, director or employee of the Recipient, or a member of their 

immediate family, has a financial interest, or  
(d) a business which is related to, or associated or affiliated with, the Recipient, 

 
require the prior written approval of Canada. In any such contract, the Recipient shall ensure that Canada 
has a right of access to the relevant records of the supplying entity for the purpose of verifying, if 
necessary, the amount of the expenditure claimed by the Recipient in relation to a contract referred to in 
this subsection.  
 
2) In this section, “immediate family” means the father, mother, step-father, step-mother, brother, sister, 

spouse (including common law partner), child, step-child (including child of common law partner), 
ward, father-in-law, mother-in-law or relative permanently residing in the household of the officer, 
director or employee. 

 
15.3 Restrictions Regarding Sub-contracting of Recipient Duties or Responsibilities  

 
1) The Recipient shall not subcontract the performance of any of its duties or responsibilities in 

managing the Project, including administrative responsibilities, to another party without the prior 
written consent of Canada unless the Recipient has already indicated in the approved Project 
Description attached as Schedule A to this Agreement that it intends to use a subcontractor or 
subcontractors to perform those duties or responsibilities. 
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16.0 TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 
 

Termination for Default 
 

16.1 (1) The following constitute Events of Default: 
 

(a)  the Recipient becomes bankrupt, has a receiving order made against it, makes an 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, takes the benefit of the statute relating to bankrupt or 
insolvent debtors or an order is made or resolution passed for the winding up of the 
Recipient; 

 
(b)  the Recipient ceases to operate; 

 
(c)  the Recipient is in breach of the performance of, or compliance with, any provision of this 

Agreement; 
 

(d)  the Recipient, in support of its application for Canada's contribution or in connection with this 
Agreement, has made materially false or misleading representations, statements or 
declarations, or provided materially false or misleading information to Canada; or 

 
(e)  in the opinion of Canada, there is a material adverse change in risk in the Recipient's ability to 

complete the Project or to achieve the expected results of the Project set out in Schedule A. 
 

(2) If 
 
(a)  an Event of Default specified in paragraph (1)(a) or (b) occurs; or 
 
(b)  an Event of Default specified in paragraphs (1)(c), (d) or (e) occurs and has not been remedied 

within thirty (30) days of receipt by the Recipient of written notice of default, or a plan satisfactory 
to Canada to remedy such Event of Default has not been put into place within such time period, 

 
Canada may, in addition to any remedies otherwise available, immediately terminate the Agreement by 
written notice.  Upon providing such notice of termination, Canada shall have no obligation to make any 
further contribution to the Recipient. 

 
(3) In the event Canada gives the Recipient written notice of default pursuant to paragraph (2)(b), Canada 
may suspend any further payment under this Agreement until the end of the period given to the Recipient to 
remedy the Event of Default. 

 
(4) The fact that Canada refrains from exercising a remedy it is entitled to exercise under this Agreement shall 
not be considered to be a waiver of such right and, furthermore, partial or limited exercise of a right conferred 
upon Canada shall not prevent Canada in any way from later exercising any other right or remedy under this 
Agreement or other applicable law. 

 
Termination for Convenience 

 
16.2 Canada may also terminate this Agreement at any time without cause upon not less than ninety (90) 
days written notice of intention to terminate. 

 
16.3 Obligations Relating to Termination under section 7.1 or 16.2 and Minimizing Cancellation Costs 

 
(1) In the event of a termination notice being given by Canada under section 7.1 or 16.2, 

 
(a) the Recipient shall make no further commitments in relation to the Project and shall cancel or otherwise 

reduce, to the extent possible, the amount of any outstanding commitments in relation thereto; and 
(b) all Eligible Expenditures incurred by the Recipient up to the date of termination will be paid by Canada, 

including the Recipient’s costs of, and incidental to, the cancellation of obligations incurred by it as a 
consequence of the termination of the Agreement; provided always that payment and reimbursement 
under this paragraph shall only be made to the extent that it is established to the satisfaction of Canada 
that the costs mentioned herein were actually incurred by the Recipient and the same are reasonable and 
properly attributable to the termination of the Agreement 

 
16.4 The Recipient shall negotiate all contracts related to the Project, including employment contracts with 
staff, on terms that will enable the Recipient to cancel same upon conditions and terms that will minimize to 
the extent possible their cancellation costs in the event of a termination of this Agreement. The Recipient 
shall cooperate with Canada and do everything reasonably within its power at all times to minimize and 
reduce the amount of Canada's obligations under section 16.3 in the event of a termination of this 
Agreement. 
 
16.5 The Recipient shall collaborate with Canada and community partners to ensure continuity of the Project and 
the continuation of service to clients in the event that a new Recipient is identified. 

 
17.0 INDEMNIFICATION 

 
17.1 The Recipient shall, both during and following the Project Period, indemnify and save Canada harmless 
from and against all claims, losses, damages, costs, expenses and other actions made, sustained, brought, 
threatened to be brought or prosecuted, in any manner based upon, occasioned by or attributable to any 
injury or death of a person, or loss or damage to property caused or alleged to be caused by any wilful or 
negligent act, omission or delay on the part of the Recipient or its employees or agents, and participating 
employers or Project participants, if any, in connection with anything purported to be or required to be 
provided by or done by the Recipient pursuant to this Agreement or done otherwise in connection with the 
implementation  of the Project. 
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18.0 INSURANCE 
 

18.1 The Recipient shall arrange, maintain and provide proof to Canada upon request that, during the Project 
Period, appropriate comprehensive general liability insurance coverage to cover claims for bodily injury or 
property damage resulting from anything done or omitted by the Recipient or its employees, agents or Project 
participants, if any, in carrying out the Project. 

 
19.0 RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND NON-LIABILITY OF CANADA 

 
19.1 The management and supervision of the Project are the sole and absolute responsibility of the Recipient. 
The Recipient is not in any way authorized to make a promise, agreement or contract on behalf of Canada. 
This Agreement is a funding agreement only, not a contract for services or a contract of service or employment. 
Canada's responsibility is limited to providing financial assistance to the Recipient towards the Eligible 
Expenditures. The parties hereto declare that nothing in this agreement shall be construed as creating a 
partnership, an employer-employee, or agency relationship between them. The Recipient shall not represent 
itself as an agent, employee or partner of Canada. 

 
19.2 Nothing in this Agreement creates any undertaking, commitment or obligation by Canada respecting 
additional or future funding of the Project beyond the Project Period, or that exceeds the maximum 
contribution specified in Schedule B. Canada shall not be liable for any loan, capital lease or other long-term 
obligation which the Recipient may enter into in relation to carrying out its responsibilities under this 
Agreement or for any obligation incurred by the Recipient toward another party in relation to the Project. 

 
20.0 CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

 
20.1 No current or former public servant or public office holder to whom the Conflict of Interest Act [S.C. 2006, 
c. 9, s. 2], the Policy on Conflict of Interest and Post-Employment or the Values and Ethics Code for the Public 
Sector applies shall derive a direct benefit from the Agreement unless the provision or receipt of such benefit is 
in compliance with the said legislation or codes. 

 
20.2 No member of the Senate or the House of Commons shall be admitted to any share or part of the 
Agreement or to any benefit arising from it that is not otherwise available to the general public. 

 
21.0 INFORMING CANADIANS OF THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA'S CONTRIBUTION 

 
21.1 The Recipient hereby agrees that a public announcement with respect to this Agreement and subsequent 
communication opportunities (e.g. funding announcement) may be made by the Minister or delegates in the form 
of a press release, press conference or otherwise, and that all reasonable and necessary assistance in the 
organization of the public announcement, as the Canada sees fit, shall be provided. 
 
21.2 The Recipient shall notify Canada twenty (20) working days in advance of initial and subsequent official 
ceremonies or events related to the announcement of the funding of the Project. Canada reserves the right to 
approve the time, place, and agenda of the ceremony as well as the participation of the Minister or delegate to the 
ceremony or event. 
 
21.3 The Recipient shall notify Canada fifteen (15) working days in advance of publications, advertising, and press 
releases planned by the Recipient or by a third party with whom it has an agreement relating to the Project. 
Canada and Recipient joint publication material will be approved by Canada prior to the release. 
 
21.4 The Recipient shall ensure that in any and all communication activities, publications, advertising and press 
releases regarding the Project, recognition, in terms and in a form and manner satisfactory to Canada, are given to 
Canada's financial assistance to the Project. 
 
21.5 The Recipient agrees to display signs, plaques or symbols as Canada may provide in locations on its 
premises as Canada may designate. The Recipient agrees to recognize federal funding through the use of a digital 
sign or the Canada wordmark and the following wording, “This project is funded in part by the Government of 
Canada” or “This project is funded by the Government of Canada”, when creating a website or webpage to 
promote or communicate progress on a funded Project or Projects. 

 
21.6 The Recipient shall cooperate with representatives of Canada during any official news release or in-
person and virtual media events relating to the announcement of the Project. 

 
22.0 ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

 
22.1 The Recipient acknowledges that Canada is subject to the Access to Information Act [RSC 1985, Chapter 
A-1], and information obtained by Canada pertaining to this Agreement may be disclosed by Canada to the 
public upon request under the aforementioned act. 

 
23.0 PROACTIVE DISCLOSURE 

 
23.1 The Recipient acknowledges that the name of the Recipient, the amount of the contributions and the 
general nature of the Project may be made publicly available by Canada in accordance with the Government 
of Canada's commitment to proactively disclose the awarding of grants and contributions. 

 
24.0 DISPOSITION OF CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
24.1 During the Project Period, the Recipient shall preserve any capital asset purchased by the Recipient with 
funding provided under this Agreement and shall not dispose of it unless Canada authorizes its disposition. 

 
24.2 At the end of the Project Period, or upon termination of this Agreement, if earlier, Canada reserves the 
right to direct the Recipient to dispose of any capital asset purchased by the Recipient with funding provided 
under this Agreement by: 

 
(a) selling it at fair market value and applying the funds realised from such sale to offset 

Canada's contribution to the Eligible Expenditures; 
 

(b) turning it over to another organization or to an individual designated or approved by 
Canada; or 

 
(c) disposing of it in such other manner as may be determined by Canada. 

 
24.3 Where Canada elects to exercise its right under section 24.2, the Recipient agrees to comply with the 
related direction provided by Canada. 
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24.4 For the purposes of section 24.0, "capital asset" means any single item, or a collection of items which 
form one identifiable functional unit, that: 

 
(a)  is not physically incorporated into another product or not fully consumed by the end of the Project, and 
  
(b)  has a purchase or lease value of more than $1,000 (before taxes), 

 
but does not include land or buildings purchased or leased by the Recipient in connection with the 
implementation of the Project. 
 
25.0 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

 
25.1 Where in the course of carrying out the Project, the Recipient produces any work using funds provided by 
Canada, the copyright in the work shall vest in the Recipient. However, the Recipient hereby grants to Canada 
a non-exclusive, irrevocable and royalty free license to use, translate, adapt, record by any means or 
reproduce, except for commercial sale in competition with the Recipient, any such work which is produced by 
the Recipient. 

25.2 The license granted under section 25.1 shall be for the duration of the copyright and shall include: 
 

(a) the right to sub-license the use of the work to any contractor engaged by Canada solely 
for the purpose of performing contracts with Canada; and 

 
(b)  the right to distribute the work outside the Office of Infrastructure Canada as long as 

the distribution does not undermine any commercial use of the work intended by the 
Recipient. 

 
25.3 The Recipient agrees to execute any acknowledgements, agreements, assurances or other documents 
deemed necessary by Canada to establish or confirm the license granted under section 25.1. 

 
25.4 Additionally, with respect to any work licensed under section 25.1, the Recipient: 

 (a) warrants that the work shall not infringe on the copyrights of others; 
 

(b)  agrees to indemnify and save harmless Canada from all costs, expenses and damages 
arising from any breach of any such warranty; and 

 
(c)  shall include an acknowledgment, in a manner satisfactory to Canada, on any work which 

is produced by it with funds contributed by Canada under this Agreement, acknowledging 
that the work was produced with funds contributed by Canada and identifying the 
Recipient as being solely responsible for the content of such work. 

 
25.5 The Recipient shall include in the final report for the Project, which the Recipient is required to submit to 
Canada under the terms of this Agreement, a copy of any work licensed under section 25.1. 

 
26.0 NOTICES 

 
26.1 Any notices to be given and all reports, information, correspondence and other documents to be provided 
by either party under this Agreement shall be given or provided by personal delivery, mail, courier service, fax 
or email at the postal address, fax number or email address, as the case may be, of the receiving party as 
shown in Schedule A.  If there is any change to the postal address, fax number or email address or contact 
person of a party, the party concerned shall notify the other in writing of the change as soon as possible. 

 
26.2 Notices, reports, information, correspondence and other documents that are delivered personally or by 
courier service shall be deemed to have been received upon delivery, or if sent by mail five (5) working days 
after the date of mailing, or in the case of notices and documents sent by fax or email, one (1) working day 
after they are sent. 

 
27.0 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
27.1 In the event of a dispute arising under the terms of this Agreement, the Parties agree to make a good faith attempt to 
settle the dispute. In the event that the Parties are unable to resolve the dispute through negotiation, they agree to give good 
faith consideration to resorting to other alternate dispute resolution processes to resolve the dispute. However, the Parties 
agree that nothing contained in this section shall affect, alter or modify the rights of either Party to terminate the Agreement. 
 
27.2 If a dispute arises out of, or in connection with this agreement, the parties shall first seek to resolve the dispute via good 
faith discussions between the parties’ representatives as identified in Schedule A of this Agreement. 
 
27.3 The parties have twenty (20) business days from the date on which a party notifies the other party of the dispute to 
resolve the dispute. The parties may agree to an extension of this twenty (20) business day period. The Agreement shall be in 
writing and signed by a representative as identified by each of the parties listed in Schedule A in this agreement. 
 
27.4 If the parties are not able to resolve the dispute within the time specified in section 27.3 of this agreement, the parties 
agree to mediate the dispute.  
 
27.5 The parties have forty (40) business days starting on the date they agree to proceed to mediation to complete the 
mediation. The parties may agree to an extension of this forty (40) business day period. The Agreement shall be in writing and 
signed by each of the parties listed in Schedule A of this agreement.  
 
27.6 If the parties are not able to resolve a dispute via mediation in the time specified in section 27.5 of this agreement, the 
parties agree to arbitrate the dispute in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Act (R.S.C.,1985, c. 17 (2nd supp.)) As 
amended from time to time. 
 
27.7 The provisions of this article 27.0 survive the termination of this agreement and remain in full force and effect. 
 
28.0 ASSIGNMENT OF THE AGREEMENT 

 
28.1 The Recipient shall not assign this Agreement or any part thereof without the prior written consent of 
Canada. 
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29.0 ENUREMENT 
 
29.1 This Agreement is binding upon and enures to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors, successors-in-
title and permitted assigns. 
 
30.0 COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 
 
30.1 The Recipient shall carry out the Project in compliance with all applicable federal, provincial and municipal laws, by-laws 
and regulations, including any environmental legislation and legislation related to protection of information and privacy. The 
Recipient shall obtain, prior to the commencement of the Project, all permits, licenses, consents and other authorizations that 
are necessary to the carrying out of the Project. 
 
31.0 APPLICABLE LAW 
 
31.1 This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the applicable laws of the province or territory 
where the Project will be performed or, if the Project is to be carried out in more than one province or territory, of the province 
or territory where the Recipient has its main place of business. 
 
32.0 SEVERABILITY 
 
32.1 If any provision of this Agreement is held void or unenforceable as a result of the dispute resolution process under article 
36.0 of this Agreement or by a court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this Agreement shall be unaffected 
and each remaining provision of this Agreement shall be valid and be enforceable to the fullest extent permissible by law. 
 
33.0 WAIVER 
 
33.1 Failure by any Party to exercise any of its rights, powers, or remedies under this Agreement or its delay to do so does not 
constitute a waiver of those rights, powers, or remedies. Any waiver by either Party of any of its rights, powers, or remedies 
under this Agreement must be in writing; and, such a waiver does not constitute a continuing waiver unless it is so explicitly 
stated. 
 
34.0 AMENDMENT 
 
34.1 This Agreement may be amended by mutual consent of the parties. To be valid, any amendment to this Agreement shall 
be in writing and signed by the parties. 
 
35.0 UNINCORPORATED ASSOCIATION 
 
35.1 If the Recipient is an unincorporated association, it is understood and agreed by the persons signing this Agreement on 
behalf of the Recipient that in addition to signing this Agreement in their representative capacities on behalf of the members of 
the Recipient, they shall be personally, jointly and severally liable for the obligations of the Recipient under this Agreement, 
including the obligation to pay any debt that may become owing to Canada under this Agreement. 
 
36.0 COUNTERPARTS 
 
36.1 This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but both of which taken 
together shall constitute one and the same agreement. The exchange of copies of this Agreement and of signature pages by 
facsimile or electronic transmission shall constitute effective execution and delivery of this Agreement as to the parties and may 
be used in lieu of the original Agreement for all purposes. Signatures of the parties transmitted by facsimile or electronic 
transmission shall be deemed to be their original signatures for all purposes. 
 
37.0 INDEPENDENT LEGAL ADVICE 
 
37.1 The Parties acknowledge and agree that they have been given full opportunity to seek independent legal advice and if 
they chose to avail themselves of said opportunity, had independent legal advice to the full extent deemed necessary by each 
of them, and that they have not acted under any duress or undue influence in the negotiating, preparation and execution of this 
Agreement.  
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SIGNATURES 
 

 

 
 
 
  

Signed this ______________ day of _______________________, ________________  
 
 
 
For the Recipient, by the following authorized officer(s): 
 
 
 
___________________________________________  ____________________________________________  
(Name, please print)      (Name, please print) 
 
 
 
___________________________________________  _____________________________________________  
(Signature)      (Signature) 
 
 
 
___________________________________________   ____________________________________________  
(Position)       (Position) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
And signed this ________________ day of ___________________, ________________  
 
 
 
For Canada, by the following authorized officer: 
 
 
 
___________________________________________ 
(Name, please print)  
 
 
 
___________________________________________ 
(Signature)  
 
 
 
___________________________________________ 
(Position) 
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SCHEDULE A 
 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

NAME OF RECIPIENT: Enter text 
 

PROJECT TITLE: Enter text 
 

Recipient Canada 

Complete Mailing Address: Complete Mailing Address: 

Enter text Enter text 

Primary Contact  Enter text Primary Contact  Enter text 
Telephone Number  Enter text Telephone Number  Enter text 
Fax Number  Enter text Fax Number  Enter text 
Email Address Enter text Email Address Enter text 

 
Secondary Contact Enter text Secondary Contact Enter text 
Telephone Number Enter text Telephone Number Enter text 
Fax Number Enter text Fax Number Enter text 
Email Address Enter text Email Address Enter text 

 

Project Start Date Project End Date  
Total Number of Participants: 
(If applicable)  N/A Date Date 

 
Project Description 
 
  

 
  
 Amendment # _____ 
 
 Included in this amendment: additional funding of: 
 

2024-2025 funding of $XXX,XXX 
2025-2026 funding of $XXX,XXX 

 
[For DC, TH and IH agreements with existing CCI allocations to support implementation of 
Coordinated Access]  
 
Of this additional funding, the following amounts are intended to provide additional support towards 
maintaining and improving Coordinated Access systems. 

 
2024-2025 funding of $XXX,XXX 
2025-2026 funding of $XXX,XXX 

 
Communities are required to match this additional funding for 2024-2025 and 2025-2026, with 
contributions from the community. This will be reported as part of the Community Plan for funding for 
2024-2025 to 2025-2026. 

 
The Articles of Agreement have been updated as follows: 

 
- Revision of Header, 12.0 Inquiry by the Auditor General of Canada, 14.0 Evaluation, 15.0 

Contracting Procedures, 16.0 Termination of Agreement, 18.0 Insurance, 21.0 Informing 
Canadians of the Government of Canada’s Contribution; and Signatures   

 
 
Objectives 
 
From April 1, 2019, to March 31, 2026, the Recipient, as the Community Entity for [name of 
community], will administer funding under the Designated Communities stream of Reaching Home in 
accordance with priorities identified through community planning. 

 
The funding allocation under the Designated Communities funding stream for [name of community] is 
[$000,000] annually in 2024-2025 and 2025-2026. Reaching Home funds will be used to support 
projects selected based on Community Planning priorities and recommendations of the Community 
Advisory Board, as well as program terms and conditions, and related policies and directives of 
Reaching Home. 
 
The Recipient is allocated funding of [$00,000] annually in 2024-2025 and 2025-26 to support 
continued investments towards maintaining and improving the Coordinated Access system. 

 
 

[For DC and TH Communities only: where IH-CE is in the same community]  
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Through working with community partners, including in partnership with the Indigenous 
Homelessness stream Community Entity, the Recipient will be responsible for publicly reporting on 
the work to maintain and improve a Coordinated Access system and prevent and reduce 
homelessness using an Outcomes-Based Approach, including reporting on core community-level 
outcomes. 
 
Activities 
 
The Recipient will administer Reaching Home – Designated Communities funding stream, which 
includes the following activities that will be monitored against milestones in the Work Plan:  

 
The Recipient is responsible for implementing strategies to address Community Plan priorities set out 
in conjunction with the Community Advisory Board. This includes maintaining and improving a 
Coordinated Access system, and continuing to prevent and reduce homelessness using an 
Outcomes-Based Approach.   

 
The Recipient will engage community stakeholders and funding partners to actively work together to 
prevent and reduce homelessness. 
 
The Recipient will identify funding, other than Reaching Home, received from partners to meet the 
community contribution-matching requirement.  
 
The Recipient will promote the participation and representation of Indigenous organizations in the 
planning and implementation of the Community Plan priorities. 
 
[NOTE:  For DC agreements where there is also an IH CE in the same community, the following text 
would be added:] 
 
The Recipient will facilitate collaboration with the Indigenous Homelessness stream Community 
Entity in the development and implementation of the Community Planning priorities.  This includes 
continuing to prevent and reduce homelessness using an Outcomes-Based Approach. 
 
The Recipient is responsible for undertaking activities to maintain and improve a Coordinated Access 
system. 
 
The Recipient will work in partnership with the Indigenous Homelessness funding stream to maintain 
and improve a Coordinated Access system. 
 
The Recipient will implement selection processes and solicit and assess sub-project proposals in an 
open, impartial and fair manner. 
 
The Recipient will approve and enter into funding agreements with sub-projects recommended by the 
Community Advisory Board that meet the Community Plan priorities and terms and conditions of 
Reaching Home and related policies and directives, including eligible activities. 

 
The Recipient is responsible for the management of sub-project funding agreements, including 
financial and activity monitoring of sub-projects to ensure compliance with sub-agreements and 
achievement of expected results. The Recipient will inform the Community Advisory Board about the 
status and results of sub-projects and other activities related to the prevention and reduction of 
homelessness in the community. The Recipient will report on its activities, including the management 
of sub-agreements and work to maintain and improve a Coordinated Access system, to Canada in 
accordance with the reporting requirements described in the Reaching Home funding agreement, as 
well as any additional reporting as required by Canada. 
 
Expected Results 
 
Activities are supported in accordance with Community Plan priorities as established by the 
Community Advisory Board. 
 
Reaching Home Designated Communities stream funding is fully invested to address priorities 
identified in the Community Plan. 
 
Reaching Home Designated Communities funding is matched on an annual basis with other funding 
partners. 
 
The Community Homelessness Report is completed annually and a summary is published publicly, to 
the end of the program in 2027-2028. 
 
All Coordinated Access minimum requirements are implemented by the end of 2025-2026. More 
specifically, the Recipient must:  

• Maintain minimum requirements that were met by 2023-2024; 

• Meet requirements that were modified as of 2024-2025; and,  

• Meet new requirements introduced in 2024-2025. 

 
All outcomes-based approach minimum requirements are implemented by the end of 2025-2026. 
More specifically, the Recipient must:  

• Maintain minimum requirements that were met by 2023-2024; 

• Meet requirements that were modified as of 2024-2025; and,  

• Meet new requirements introduced in 2024-2025. 
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Outcomes 
 
Reduction in and prevention of homelessness in the community is achieved as measured through 
community-wide outcomes prescribed by Canada and voluntary community-wide outcomes identified 
at the community level. 
 
Through investments in Reaching Home-funded sub-projects: homeless individuals and families are 
connected to more stable housing; homeless individuals and those at imminent risk of homelessness 
experience greater housing stability; and homeless individuals and those at imminent risk of 
homelessness experience greater economic stability and self-sufficiency. 
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SCHEDULE B 

 
FINANCIAL PROVISIONS 

 
LEGAL NAME OF RECIPIENT: Error! Reference source not found. 

 

PROJECT TITLE: Enter text 
 

 
1.0 MAXIMUM CONTRIBUTION OF CANADA 

 
1.1 The total maximum amount of Canada's contribution towards the Eligible Expenditures of the Project 
is: $ 000,000. 

 
1.2 The maximum amount payable by Canada in each Fiscal Year of the Project Period on account of the 
contribution is as follows, unless otherwise authorized in writing by Canada: 

$ 000,000 in Fiscal Year 2019/2020 
$ 000,000 in Fiscal Year 2020/2021 
$ 000,000 in Fiscal Year 2021/2022 
$ 000,000 in Fiscal Year 2022/2023 
$ 000,000 in Fiscal Year 2023/2024 
$ 000,000 in Fiscal Year 2024/2025 
$ 000,000 in Fiscal Year 2025/2026 

 
2.0 INTEREST EARNED ON CONTRIBUTION 
 
2.1 The amount of interest earned on advances may be retained by the Recipient provided it is used by the 
Recipient during the Project Period to pursue activities consistent with the objectives of the Agreement. If there is 
any unspent interest at the end of the Project Period, the amount of such interest shall be deemed part of 
Canada’s contribution to which the Recipient is not entitled for the purpose of section 3.0 of this Schedule.  

 
3.0 REPAYMENT REQUIREMENTS 

 
3.1 In the event payments made to the Recipient exceed the amount to which the Recipient is entitled under 
this agreement, the amount of the excess is a debt owing to Canada and shall be promptly repaid to Canada 
upon receipt of notice to do so and within the period specified in the notice. Without limiting the generality of 
the foregoing, amounts to which the Recipient is not entitled include: 

 
(a)  the amount of any expenditures paid for with the contribution which are disallowed or 

determined to be ineligible, and 
 

(b)  any amount paid in error or any amount paid in excess of the amount of the 
expenditure actually incurred. 

 
3.2 Interest shall be charged on overdue repayments owing under section 3.1 in accordance with the Interest 
and Administrative Charges Regulations (SOR/96-188) (the "Regulations") made pursuant to the Financial 
Administration Act (R.S.C., 1985, c. F-11). Interest is calculated and compounded monthly at the "average 
bank rate", within the meaning of such expression as contained in the Regulations, plus three per cent (3%) 
during the period beginning on the due date specified in the notice to repay and ending on the day before the 
day on which payment is received by Canada. 

 
3.3 The Recipient acknowledges that where an instrument tendered in payment or settlement of an amount 
due to Canada under section 3.1 is, for any reason, dishonoured, an administrative charge of $15 is payable 
by the Recipient to Canada in accordance with the Regulations. 

 
4.0 OTHER SOURCES OF FUNDING 
 
4.1 The Recipient declares that it has received or is entitled to receive 
 

(a) the following funding (cash) for the Project from the following sources: 
(i)     $  000,000 

 
(b) goods, services or other non-cash contributions for the Project from the following sources, 

having the following agreed estimated fair and reasonable monetary value: 
(i)     $  000,000 

 
4.2 The Recipient agrees to inform Canada promptly in writing of any change to the declaration made under 
section 4.1. 

 
4.3 The Recipient agrees that where there is a change to the declaration made in section 4.1, Canada may, in 
its discretion, reduce the amount of its maximum contribution to the Project by such amount, not exceeding the 
amount of the change in assistance received, that it considers appropriate. 

 
4.4 If the amount of Canada's contribution already paid to the Recipient exceeds the reduced maximum 
contribution, as determined under section 4.3, the amount of the excess shall be deemed to be an amount to 
which the Recipient is not entitled and shall be repaid to Canada in accordance with section 3.0 of this 
Schedule (Repayment Requirements). 

 
4.5 Upon completion of the Project, and if the amount set out in section 1.1 is in excess of $100,000, the 
Recipient agrees to provide Canada with a statement identifying the total funding provided from all sources for 
the Project, including total funding received for the Project from federal, provincial/territorial and municipal 
governments. 

 
5.0 PROJECT BUDGET 

 
5.1 The following is the Project Budget: 
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COST CATEGORIES CANADA OTHER SOURCES TOTAL 

   
CASH 

 
IN-KIND  

1. Administrative Costs $ 000 

 

2. Capital Costs $ 000 

a. Facilities  

b. Capital assets 000 

3. Direct Costs $ 000 

a. Staff wages * 000 

b. Participant costs  

c. Project costs 000 

d. Child care costs  

e. Sub-projects Project Costs * 000 
 
TOTAL $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

 
Budget notes: 

 
"Administrative Costs" means any expenditure incurred by the Recipient in the course of its regular or 
ongoing operations that enable the Recipient to manage the Project successfully; 

 
"Facilities" means any expenditure incurred by the Recipient, in direct relation to a Project activity, towards 
the purchase of land or a building, construction or renovation of a building, or accomplishing any pre- 
development activities leading up to any of the latter ends; 

 
"Capital Assets" means any expenditure incurred by the Recipient towards the purchase or leasing-to-own 
of materials subject to the provisions of section 24.0 of the Articles of Agreement; 

 
"Staff Wages" means any wages, mandatory employment related costs (as required by law) or benefits (as 
required by a collective agreement or company policy) paid by the Recipient to, or on behalf of, an employee 
of the Recipient working directly on the Project; 

 
"Participant Costs" means any wages, mandatory employment related costs (as required by law) or benefits (as required 
by a collective agreement or company policy), and any support payments (for travel, emergencies, disability, living 
expenses, dependent care, materials, etc.), tuition fees, or program participation or completion bonuses paid by the 
Recipient to, or on behalf of, Project Participants; 

 
"Project Costs" means any expenditure incurred by the Recipient in direct relation to the Project activities 
that is not covered by any other cost category in the Project Budget; 

 
"Child Care Costs" means any expenditure incurred by the Recipient in support of child care service 
offerings to aboriginal persons that are adapted to the particular needs of this clientele; and 

 
"Sub-Project Project Costs" means any expenditure incurred by a Third Party in respect of a Sub-Project 
that does not meet the definition of expenditures included in the Sub-Project Administrative Costs cost 
category. 
 
5.2 Canada will provide payment to the Recipient for Administrative Costs up to 15% of the total maximum amount of Canada’s 
contribution referred to in section 1.1.  The usage of this payment is exempt from the reporting requirements stipulated in this 
Agreement. 

 
6.0 BUDGET FLEXIBILITY 

 
6.1 The Recipient may, except in cases specified in section 6.2, make adjustments to its allocation of funds 
between any of the cost categories identified in the Project Budget without having to obtain Canada's 
approval, provided the adjustments do not result in an increase in Canada's maximum contribution set out in 
section 1.1. However, where the Recipient makes an adjustment allowed by this section, it shall notify 
Canada promptly in writing of the adjustment. 

 
6.2 The Recipient must obtain Canada's written approval prior to making an adjustment to the Project Budget 
that increases or decreases the subtotal amount budgeted for: 

 
(i)  any cost category identified with an asterisk (*) by any amount, or 
(ii)  any other cost category by more than 10%; 

 
6.3 Depending upon the extent and significance of the adjustments, written approval by Canada of 
adjustments made under section 6.2 may be required by Canada to be documented by way of a formal 
amending agreement signed by both parties. 
 
[**Note for Indigenous Organizations only receiving funding under any RH funding stream] 
6.4 Departmental managers responsible for preparing funding agreements are to ensure the following 
provisions apply for Indigenous recipients when the flexible contribution approach is used: 
 

(a) it is at the recipient’s discretion to redirect funding among specified cost categories; and 
 
(b) the recipient may retain, during the term of the funding agreement, any unexpended funding 
remaining at the end of each fiscal year for use in the next fiscal year to further achieve results toward 
the program objectives. Any unexpended funding remaining at the expiry of the funding agreement 
constitutes a debt due to the Crown.  
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7.0 CONDITIONS GOVERNING THE ELIGIBILITY OF EXPENDITURES 
 

7.1 The expenditures set out in the Project Budget above are subject to the following conditions: 
 

(a)  expenditures must, subject to section 7.2, be incurred during the Project Period; 

(b)  expenditures must, in the opinion of Canada, be reasonable; 

(c)  the portion of the cost of any travel, meals and accommodation costs that exceeds the rates for 
public servants set out in the National Joint Council of Canada's Travel Directive is not eligible 
for reimbursement; 

 
(d)  the portion of hospitality costs that exceed the rates set out in the Directive on Travel, Hospitality, 

Conference and Event Expenditures, Appendix 2 of Canada's Treasury Board is not eligible for 
reimbursement; 

 
(e)  the portion of the cost of any goods and services purchased by the Recipient for which the 

Recipient may claim a tax credit or reimbursement is not eligible for reimbursement;  
 
(f)  depreciation of capital assets is not eligible for reimbursement; 
 
(g)  fines and penalties are not eligible for reimbursement; 

 
(h) the cost of alcoholic beverages are not eligible for reimbursement; 
 
(i)  costs associated with software development for the collection and/or management of homelessness data that 

results in an inability to participate in the National Homelessness Information System initiative (NHIS) database; and 
that constitutes a redundant use of funds and duplicates activities already offered through the Homeless Individuals 
and Families Information System (HIFIS) are not eligible for reimbursement. 

 
7.2 If, under the terms of this Agreement, the Recipient is required to provide to Canada an audited annual 
financial report at the end of the Project Period, and if the cost of the audit is otherwise an Eligible 
Expenditure, the audit cost is an Eligible Expenditure notwithstanding that it is incurred outside the Project 
Period. 

 
8.0 TERMS OF PAYMENT 

 

8.1 Subject to section 8.2, Canada will make payments of its contribution by way of Payment Type. Each 
payment shall cover a Payment Period period (hereinafter referred to as the “Payment Period”) during 
the Project Period. 

 
8.2 (1) Subject to subsection (2), Canada may, at any time and in its sole discretion, 

 
(a)  change the basis of payments of its contribution to the Recipient to Payment Type for any 

period during the Project Period, or 
 

(b)  change the Payment Period to a Payment Period period, or 
 

(c)  change both (a) and (b). 
 

(2) Where Canada decides to make a payment change pursuant to subsection (1), Canada shall notify the  
Recipient in writing of the change and of the period during which the change will be applicable. 

(3) For the purposes of this Schedule, 

“progress payments” means payments to reimburse the Recipient for Eligible Expenditures after they  
have been incurred, 

 
“monthly period” means a calendar month that falls within the Project Period or, if the calendar month 
falls only partially within the Project Period, such portion thereof, and 

 
“quarterly period”, in relation to a series of consecutive three-month periods encompassing the 
Project Period and beginning on the first day of the calendar month determined by Canada for purposes 
of administering this agreement, means such a quarter that falls within the Project Period or, if the 
quarter falls only partially within the Project Period, such portion thereof. 

 
8.3 (1) Where Canada makes payments of its contribution to the Recipient by way of advances, 

 
(a)  each advance shall cover the Recipient's estimated financial requirements for each 

Payment Period. Such estimate shall be based upon a cash flow forecast that, in the 
opinion of Canada, is reliable and up-to-date; and 

 
(b)  if the amount of an advance payment for a Payment Period exceeds the actual amount of 

Eligible Expenditures incurred by the Recipient during the Payment Period, Canada 
reserves the right to deduct the excess amount from any subsequent advance payment to 
be made under this Agreement. 

 
(2) Where Canada makes payments of its contribution to the Recipient by way of progress payments, each 
progress payment shall cover the Recipient's actual Eligible Expenditures incurred during the Payment Period 
as approved by Canada following submission by the Recipient of the financial claim referred to in section 
8.4 (1). 
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8.4 (1) Following the end of each Payment Period of the Agreement, the Recipient shall provide Canada with a 
financial claim using a form provided by Canada and signed/certified as true and accurate by an authorized 
official (or officials) of the Recipient. The financial claim shall contain: 

 
(a)  a summary breakdown, per cost category in the Project Budget, of Eligible Expenditures 

incurred during the Payment Period; 
 

(b)  an updated forecast of Project expenditures; 

 
(c)  an activity report describing the work completed on the Project during the Payment 

Period; and 
 

(d)  any supporting documentation relative to the financial claim that may be requested by 
Canada (e.g. a copy of the general ledger). 

 
(2) The Recipient shall submit the financial claim required under subsection (1) no later than,  

(a) if the Payment Period is monthly, forty-five (45) days following the Payment Period; 

and  

(b) if the Payment Period is quarterly, sixty (60) days following the Payment Period. 

 
8.5 (1) Canada may withhold any advance payment due to the Recipient under this Agreement 

 
(a)  if the Recipient has failed to submit when due 

 
(i)  a financial claim under section 8.4 (1); or 
(ii)  any other document required by Canada under this Agreement; or 

 
(b)  pending the completion of an audit of the Recipient's books and records, should Canada 

decide to undertake such an audit. 
 

(2) Canada may also withhold any progress payment due to the Recipient under this Agreement 
 

(a)  if the Recipient has failed to submit when due any other document required by Canada under 
this agreement; or 

 
(b)  pending the completion of an audit of the Recipient's books and records, should Canada 

decide to undertake such an audit. 
 

8.6 Canada may retain a holdback of an amount up to 10% of its maximum contribution at the end of the 
Project Period pending 

 
(a)  receipt and verification by Canada of a final financial claim for the last Payment Period 

where advances have been made, 
 

(b)  receipt and acceptance by Canada of the final report for the Project that the Recipient is 
required to submit to Canada under the terms of this Agreement, and 

 
(c)  receipt of any other Project-related record that may be required by Canada. 

 
9.0 ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORTS 

 
9.1 (1) Within one hundred and twenty (120) days following the end of each "Reporting Period" during the 
Project Period, the Recipient shall provide to Canada a financial report containing, 

(a) a statement setting out: 

(i) the total amount received from Canada under this Agreement during the Reporting Period, 
 

(ii) the total revenue received from other sources for the Project during the Reporting Period, 
including cash and the value of in-kind contributions, 

 
(iii) the total amount of GST/HST rebates and interest earned by the Recipient during the 
Reporting Period on advances of Canada's contribution if the amount of interest earned is in 
excess of one hundred dollars ($100), and 

 
(iv) the amounts realized during the Reporting Period from the disposition of any capital assets 
that had been originally purchased with funds from Canada's contribution under this Agreement, 
and 

 
(b) an itemized statement setting out, by expenditure category as per the Project Budget, the total 
amount of the expenditures incurred during the Reporting Period in relation to the Project and to the 
corresponding approved Investment Plan. 

 
(2) For greater certainty, failure on the part of the Recipient to submit financial reports within the timeframe 
specified under subsection (1) may result in Canada withholding payment of an advance or progress 
payment in accordance with subsections 8.5(1) or (2) of this Schedule or withholding payment of any 
holdback retained by Canada in accordance with section 8.6 of this Schedule. 

 
(3) For the purposes of this section, "Reporting Period" means each Fiscal Year that falls within the Project 
Period or, if the Fiscal Year falls only partially within the Project Period, such portion thereof. 

 
9.2 Each financial report submitted to Canada pursuant to section 9.1 shall be accompanied by such 
supporting documentation as may be requested by Canada. 
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Audit Requirement 
 

9.3 (1) Unless otherwise notified by Canada in writing, the Recipient shall engage an independent licensed 
public accountant to audit, in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, each 
financial report required under section 9.1. The Recipient's letter of audit engagement shall include the 
requirements set out under section 9.1. 

 
(2) If requested by Canada to do so, the Recipient shall allow representatives of Canada to discuss any 
audited financial report referred to in this section with the Recipient's auditors. The Recipient shall execute 
such directions, consents and other authorizations as may be required in order to permit its auditors to 
discuss the report with representatives of Canada and provide any requested information to them in relation 
to the audit. 
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SCHEDULE C 
 

ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS 
 

LEGAL NAME OF RECIPIENT: Error! Reference source not found. 

 

PROJECT TITLE: Error! Reference source not found. 

 
 
 

1.0 WORK PLAN 
 

1.1 For each Fiscal Year that falls within the Project Period or, if the Fiscal Year falls only partially within the 
Project Period, such portion thereof, the Recipient shall provide to Canada for approval a "Work Plan" outlining 
the activities to be undertaken by the Recipient in implementing the Project during the Fiscal Year or part 
thereof. Each Work Plan shall be prepared in accordance with guidelines issued by Canada. 
 
1.2 The Recipient's approved Work Plan for the first Fiscal Year or part thereof of the Project Period is 
attached to and forms an integral part of Schedule A (Project Description) to this Agreement. The Work 
Plan for each subsequent Fiscal Year or part thereof shall be provided to Canada for approval no later than 
sixty (60) days prior to the beginning of each Fiscal Year to which it relates. 

 
1.3 Canada will notify the Recipient of its approval of each subsequent Work Plan no later than thirty (30) 
days following receipt of each plan. Upon approval, each subsequent Work Plan shall be attached to and 
form an integral part of Schedule A. 

 
1.4 The Recipient shall implement the Project in accordance with the approved Work Plans. The Recipient 
shall not make any material change to an approved Work Plan without the written approval of Canada. 

 
2.0 REDISTRIBUTION OF FUNDING TOWARDS SUB-PROJECTS 

 
Interpretation 

 
2.1 For the purposes of this Agreement, 

 
"Sub-Agreement Holder" means an organization other than the Recipient, to whom funding provided to the 
Recipient under this Agreement is further distributed to enable the organization to carry out a Sub-Project; 
and 

 
"Sub-Project" means: 

 
(a) an activity eligible for financial support under the Project which is implemented by a Sub-Agreement 
Holder, or 

 
(b) an activity eligible for financial support under the Project implemented directly by the Recipient. 

 
Sub-Project Selection Process 

 
2.2 (1) The Recipient shall put into place a process satisfactory to Canada for ensuring that proposals for Sub-
Projects to be funded with Canada's contribution, including Sub-Projects implemented directly by the 
Recipient, are assessed and selected in an open, impartial and fair manner. The Recipient agrees that the 
Community Entity will assess, approve and enter into funding agreements with Sub-Projects based on 
recommendations by the Community Advisory Board. The Recipient must ensure that Sub-Project proposals of a 
capital nature address their sustainability; for Sub-Projects of a capital nature Canada will provide a form to 
address this aspect that is to be included as part of such proposals. 

 
(2) The Recipient shall also put into place written operational policies and procedures relating to its financial 
management of the Project and its administration of Sub-Projects, and shall provide a copy of those policies 
and procedures to Canada, together with the names and positions of personnel within the Recipient's 
organization with responsibilities for the financial management and decision making in connection with the 
carrying out of the responsibilities of the Recipient under this Agreement. The Recipient shall notify Canada 
promptly of any changes in such personnel that occur from time to time. 
 
(3) A sub-project shall not be funded under this Agreement unless the organization demonstrates that it applies 
sound financial management practices and respects the highest level of integrity. 
 
(4) Without limiting the foregoing and subject to subsection 5, a sub-project shall not be funded under this 
Agreement if a review, audit or investigation conducted by the federal government, the government of a province 
or a public body created under the law of a province in the previous 3 years concludes to irregularities in the 
organization’s financial management practices or raises integrity issues. 
 
(5) The restriction in subsection 4 does not apply if an organization demonstrates that the irregularities and issues 
have been resolved and that measures have been diligently put in place to prevent reoccurrence. 
 

 
Agreements with Sub-Agreement Holders 

 
2.3 (1) When the Recipient provides funding to a Sub-Agreement Holder to support the costs of a Sub- 
Project, the Recipient shall ensure that there is a written agreement between it and the Sub-Agreement 
Holder that sets out the terms and conditions under which the Recipient is providing funding to the Sub- 
Agreement Holder. 

 
(2) The written agreement referred to in subsection (1) shall include: 

 
(a) an identification of the Sub-Agreement Holder (proper legal name and address); 

(b) a description of the purpose of the funding; 

(c) the effective date, the date of signing and the duration of the agreement; 
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(d) the financial and/or non-financial conditions attached to the funding and the consequence of failing 
to adhere to these conditions, including provision for a right of termination of the agreement in the 
event of a breach of the agreement; 

 
(e) the costs of the Sub-Project eligible for reimbursement; 

 
(f) the conditions to be met before payment is made and the schedule and basis of payment; 

(g) the maximum amount payable; 

(h) the provision of such reports by the Sub-Agreement Holder on its Sub-Project, outcomes and 
results as may be specified by Canada in any reporting guidelines or instructions provided to the 
Recipient by Canada or as may be specified elsewhere in this Agreement; 

 
(i) a provision giving both Canada and the Recipient the right to conduct an audit of the books and 
records of the Sub-Agreement Holder, even though an audit may not always be undertaken, and to 
have access to the business premises and business site of the Sub-Agreement Holder to monitor and 
inspect the administration of the Sub-Project; 

 
(j) a requirement for the Sub-Agreement Holder to repay to the Recipient the amount of any funding 
provided to which it is not entitled. The agreement should specify that amounts to which it is not 
entitled include the amount of any payments: 

 
(i) made in error; 

 
(ii) made for costs in excess of the amount actually incurred for those costs; and 

 
(iii) that were used for costs that were not eligible for reimbursement under the agreement; 

(k) if the Sub-Project involves an activity described in section 4.1 or 4.3, 

(i) a repayment requirement modeled on the provisions of section 4.1 or 4.3, as the case may 
be, except that every reference to "Recipient" in those provisions shall be replaced by a 
reference to the term used by the Recipient to identify the Sub-Agreement  Holder in its 
agreement with the Sub-Agreement  Holder and every reference to "Canada" shall be replaced 
by a reference to the term used by the Recipient to identify itself in its agreement with the Sub-
Agreement Holder; and 

 
(ii) a provision giving both Canada and the Recipient, for the number of years following the end- 
date of the Sub-Project in respect of which the repayment requirement referred to in 
subparagraph (i) applies to the Sub-Agreement Holder, the right to inspect the operation of the 
facility referred to in section 4.1 or 4.3 at any reasonable time to verify the continuing use of the 
facility for the purposes for which it was funded; and 

 
(iii) a provision stipulating that the Sub-Agreement holder shall not mortgage, charge or 
otherwise encumber the facility property during the period of the Sub-Project, or for the number 
of years following the end-date of the Sub-Project in respect of which the repayment 
requirement referred to in subparagraph (i) applies to the Sub-Agreement Holder, without the 
prior written approval of the Recipient; and 

 
(iv) a provision stipulating that the Sub-Agreement Holder shall ensure that all environmental 
protection measures, standards and rules relating to the Sub-Project established by competent 
authorities are respected; 

 
(l) a provision stipulating that payment of any funding under the agreement is subject to the availability 
of funds and that payment of funding may be cancelled or reduced in the event that Canada cancels or 
reduces its funding to the Recipient; 

 
(m) a requirement for the Sub-Agreement Holder to give appropriate recognition of the contribution of 
Canada to the Sub-Project being carried out in its publicity and signage relating to the Sub-Project, 
including any information provided to the public on any web site or social media platform maintained by 
the Sub-Agreement Holder; 
 
(n) a requirement that the Sub-Agreement Holder notify the Recipient (Community Entity) twenty (20) 
working days in advance of any and all communications activities, publications, advertising and press 
releases planned by the Sub-Agreement Holder relating to the Sub-Project; and 

 
(o) a requirement for the Sub-Agreement Holder to cooperate with representatives of Canada during 
any official news release or ceremonies relating to the announcement of the Sub-Project. 

 
Internal Memoranda of Understanding (MOU) 

 
2.4 When the Recipient is implementing a Sub-Project directly, the Recipient shall ensure that there is an 
internal memorandum of understanding (MOU) with the head of the branch or division of its organization 
responsible for implementing the Sub-Project, as if the head of the branch or division implementing the Sub- 
Project was a Sub-Agreement  Holder, setting out terms and conditions of the funding modelled on the 
requirements of section 2.3, with such modifications as the circumstances may require. 

 
Provision of Copies of Agreements and MOUs 

 
2.5 Upon request, the Recipient shall provide Canada with a copy of any or all agreements with Sub- 
Agreement Holders and MOUs referred to in sections 2.3 and 2.4, respectively. 
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Monitoring and Audit of Sub-Projects 
 

2.6 The Recipient shall exercise due diligence in the administration of its agreements with Sub-Agreement 
Holders and of its MOUs referred to in section 2.4. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in 
exercising due diligence, the Recipient shall take appropriate measures for ensuring compliance by Sub- 
Agreement Holders and, in the case of MOUs referred to in section 2.4, by the responsible branch or division 
head of the Recipient, with the terms and conditions of the agreement or MOU, as the case may be, including: 

 
(a) monitoring the Sub-Project through, as appropriate, periodic visits to the Sub-Project site or other 
means such as telephone calls and questionnaires, 

 
(b) undertaking periodic audits or inspections of financial records to verify that costs claimed under the 
agreement or MOU, were actually incurred and were in accordance with the agreement or MOU, as the 
case may be, 

 
(c) furnishing the Sub-Agreement Holder or the branch or division head of the Recipient, as the case 
may be, with necessary advice, support and training to assist it in carrying out the Sub-Project and in 
realizing the objectives and achieving the results of the Sub-Project, 

 
(d) where there are breaches of the agreement or MOU, taking appropriate measures to resolve the 
situation, including, in the case of an agreement with a Sub-Agreement Holder, termination of the 
agreement with the Sub-Agreement Holder or legal action to enforce compliance with the agreement, 
and 

 
(e) in the case of an agreement with a Sub-Agreement Holder, making all reasonable efforts to recover 
any overpayments under the agreement. 

 
2.7 The Recipient shall provide to Canada, upon request, a report of any monitoring review or audit of a Sub- 
Project undertaken by the Recipient under section 2.6. 

 
2.8 Where Canada desires to exercise its right to audit the books and records of a Sub-Agreement Holder or 
to monitor and inspect its Sub-Project, Canada shall notify the Recipient of its desire to do so. The Recipient 
shall cooperate with Canada in obtaining access to the financial records and, if required by Canada, it shall 
take all necessary steps to enforce the Recipient's and Canada's right of access to the Sub-Agreement 
Holder's records, including taking legal proceedings against the Sub-Agreement Holder. 
 
 
3.0 REPORTING ON SUB-PROJECTS FUNDED THROUGH REACHING HOME 

 
Report of Approved Sub-Projects 

 
3.1 Each financial claim submitted to Canada pursuant to section 8 (Terms of Payment) of Schedule B to this 
Agreement shall be accompanied by a report identifying all agreements with Sub-Agreement Holders and 
MOUs approved by the Recipient to date containing the following information about each Sub-Project: 

 
(a) the Sub-Project file identifier; 

 
(b) in the case of agreements with Sub-Agreement Holders, the legal name of the Sub-Agreement 
Holder and Sub-Agreement Holder contact information; 

 
(c) in the case of MOUs, the name of the branch or division within the Recipient's organization 
responsible for carrying out the Sub-Project and Recipient branch or division contact information; 

 
(d) the amount of funding provided under this Agreement to be provided by the Recipient for the Sub- 
Project as well as the total budget of the Sub-Project; 

 
(e) identification of the applicable Reaching Home funding stream; 

(f) the Sub-Project start and end dates; and 

(g) the activity areas(s) supported by the Sub-Project, i.e. (i) housing; (ii) prevention and shelter diversion; (iii) client 
support services; (iv) capital investments; or (v) coordination of resources and data collection. 

 
Results Reporting 

 
3.2 The Recipient shall provide a project details report, acceptable to Canada, that sets out the detailed description of any new 
or amended Sub-Agreements, including those retained for direct delivery by the Recipient. 

 
3.3 The report submitted pursuant to section 3.2 is required within thirty (30) days of an online results reporting system being 
available or in a timeframe and manner as prescribed by Canada Any changes to the funding amount, activities, or end date of 
a Project approved by the Recipient must be documented and provided to Canada, within thirty (30) days of the change, once 
the Recipient has received the online results reporting system. 

 
3.4 The Recipient shall provide to Canada, an annual results report detailing the outputs and outcomes achieved, using an 
online results reporting system provided by Canada, no later than sixty (60) days following each Fiscal Year of the Project 
Period, or in a timeframe and manner as prescribed by Canada, where applicable depending on the activity categories for 
each Sub-Agreement, including those retained for direct delivery by the Recipient. 

 
Funded activities that include follow-up beyond the duration of the sub-project and/or Recipient agreement remain as 
obligations of the Recipient and survive termination or expiry of this Agreement. This includes 3 and 12 month follow-up 
requirements as follows: 

 
Prevention and Shelter Diversion (Core Services) require a 3-month follow-up once a person has received a Core 
Prevention service. Follow-up for interventions received in the last three months of a fiscal reporting period (January to 
March) will always occur in the first three months of the next fiscal reporting period.  

 
Housing Placements require a 12-month follow-up once an individual is placed into housing. Follow-up will always occur 
in the next fiscal reporting period for up to 12 months. 
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4.0 REQUIREMENTS IN RESPECT OF FACILITY PROPERTY AND REPAYMENT 
 

Project Funding Used to Purchase Land or a Building for a Facility 
 

4.1 If 
 

(a) funding provided for a Sub-Project is used towards the costs of purchasing land or a building to 
establish a new facility to provide shelter space, transitional or supportive housing or other services for 
the homeless, and 

 
(b) the amount of the funding referred to in paragraph (a) is in excess of $50,000, the Recipient shall 
repay as a debt owing to Canada, 

 
(c) an amount equal to 100% of the funding referred to in paragraph (a) if, 

 
(i) five (5) years following the end date of the Sub-Project, a facility that provides shelter space, 
transitional or supportive housing or other services for the homeless has not been established 
on the property referred to in paragraph (a), or 

 
(ii) at any time during the five-year period following the end date of the Sub-Project, Canada 
concludes, based on 

 
(A) information provided by the Recipient under section 4.7, or 

 
(B) the results of a site inspection conducted by Canada under section 4.9 

 
that the facility referred to in paragraph (a) will not be established during said five-year 
period and notifies the Recipient of such conclusion in writing, and 

 
(d) an amount determined in accordance with section 4.2 if, within five (5) years following the end date 
of the Sub-Project, the land or building referred to in paragraph (a) is sold and the proceeds of 
disposition are not forthwith committed to supporting a facility providing similar services to the 
homeless that is approved by Canada. 

 
4.2 The amount repayable by the Recipient under paragraph 4.1(d), if the event referred to in that paragraph 
occurs, shall be determined as follows: 

 
(a) if the event occurs within one year of the end date of the Sub-Project, a sum equal to 100% of the 
funding referred to in paragraph 4.1(a); 

 
(b) if the event occurs within two years, but after one year of the end date of the Sub-Project, a sum 
equal to 80% of the funding referred to in paragraph 4.1(a); 

 
(c) if the event occurs within three years, but after two years of the end date of the Sub-Project, a sum 
equal to 60% of the funding referred to in paragraph 4.1(a); 

 
(d) if the event occurs within four years, but after three years of the end date of the Sub-Project, a sum 
equal to 40% of the funding referred to in paragraph 4.1(a); or 

 
(e) if the event occurs within five years, but after four years of the end date of the Sub-Project, a sum 
equal to 20% of the funding referred to in paragraph 4.1(a). 

 
Project Funding Used for Construction or Renovations 

 
4.3 If 

 
(a) funding provided for a Sub-Project is used towards the costs of constructing or renovating a 
building to establish a new facility to provide shelter space, transitional or supportive housing or other 
services for the homeless, or towards the costs of expanding or renovating an existing facility that 
provides shelter space, transitional or supportive housing or other services for the homeless, and 

 
(b) the amount of the funding referred to in paragraph (a) is in excess of $50,000, the Recipient shall 
repay as a debt owing to Canada, 

 
(c) an amount equal to 100% of the funding referred to in paragraph (a) if the Sub-Project referred to in 
that paragraph is not completed by the end date of the Sub-Project, and 

 
(d) an amount determined in accordance with section 4.4 if the activity referred to in paragraph (a) is 
completed by the end date of the Sub-Project but within five (5) years following the end date of the 
Sub-Project either of the following events occurs: 

 
(i) the facility ceases to operate for its intended purpose and is not used for some other service 
approved by Canada in support of the homeless but is converted to some other use, or 

 
(ii) the facility is sold and the proceeds of disposition are not forthwith committed to supporting a 
facility providing similar services to the homeless that is approved by Canada. 

 
4.4 The amount repayable by the Recipient under paragraph 4.3(d) if either event referred to in subparagraph 4.3(d)(i) or 
(ii) occurs shall be determined as follows: 

 
(a) for renovations representing 30% or less of the market value of the facility established as part of the 
project assessment process, if the event occurs within: 

 
(i) one year of the end date of the Sub-Project a sum equal to 100% of the funding referred to in 
paragraph 4.3(a); or 

 
(ii) two years, but after one year of the end date of the Sub-Project, a sum equal to 80% of the 
funding referred to in paragraph 4.3(a); and 
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(b) for construction and for renovations representing more than 30% of the market value of the facility 
established as part of the project assessment process, if the event occurs within: 

 
(i) one year of the end date of the Sub-Project, a sum equal to 100% of the funding referred to in 
paragraph 4.3(a); 

 
(ii) two years, but after one year of the end date of the Sub-Project, a sum equal to 80% of the 
funding referred to in paragraph 4.3(a); 

 
(iii) three years, but after two years of the end date of the Sub-Project, a sum equal to 60% of 
the funding referred to in paragraph 4.3(a); 

 
(iv) four years, but after three years of the end date of the Sub-Project, a sum equal to 40% of 
the funding referred to in paragraph 4.3(a); or 

 
(v) five years, but after four years of the end date of the Sub-Project, a sum equal to 20% of the 
funding referred to in paragraph 4.3(a). 

 
4.5 For greater certainty, the Recipient acknowledges that the repayment requirements in sections 4.1 and 4.3 apply to it 
not only where the Sub-Project is implemented by it directly but also where it is being implemented by a Sub-Agreement 
Holder. Consequently, where the Recipient provides funding to a Sub- Agreement Holder for a Sub-Project that involves 
an activity referred to in section 4.1 or 4.3, the Recipient must ensure pursuant to paragraph 2.3(k) that its agreement with 
the Sub-Agreement Holder includes repayment obligations on the part of the Sub-Agreement Holder that are modeled on 
the provisions of section 4.1 or 4.3, as the case may be, except that every reference to "Recipient" in those provisions 
shall be replaced by a reference to the term used by the Recipient to identify the Sub-Agreement  Holder in its agreement 
with the Sub-Agreement  Holder and every reference to "Canada" shall be replaced by a reference to the term used by the 
Recipient to identify itself in its agreement with the Sub-Agreement  Holder. 
 
Repayment to Canada of Amounts Recovered from Sub-Agreement Holders 

 
4.6 Where a Sub-Agreement Holder is required, under the terms of its agreement with the Recipient, to repay 
an amount to a Recipient pursuant to a repayment obligation referred to in section 4.5, the Recipient shall 
repay to Canada any such amount recovered by the Recipient from the Sub-Agreement Holder. 

 
Annual Monitoring of, and Declaration on, Facility Establishment and/or Utilization Following 
Completion 

 
4.7 If a Sub-Project involves an activity described in section 4.1 or 4.3, the Recipient shall, for the number of 
years following the end-date of the Sub-Project in respect of which the repayment requirements in section 4.2 
or 4.4, as the case may be, are applicable (hereinafter "the Monitoring Period") 

 
(a) annually monitor, as the case may be, 

 
(i) progress made towards the establishment of the facility, or 

 
(ii) the use of the facility to verify its continuing use for the purposes for which the Recipient had 
provided its funding, and 

 
immediately notify Canada if the activities leading to the establishment of a facility have ceased, the 
facility property has been sold or the facility has ceased to be used for its intended purposes, and 

 
(b) provide annually to Canada, using a form provided by Canada, a declaration regarding, as the case 
may be, 

 
(i) the progress made towards the establishment of the facility during the year covered by the 
declaration, or 

 
(ii) utilization of the facility during the year covered by the declaration. 

 
4.8 Each annual declaration referred to in section 4.7 shall be provided to Canada no later than ninety (90) 
days following the end of the year covered by the declaration. 

 
4.9 During the Monitoring Period, the Recipient shall ensure that representatives of Canada are allowed to 
inspect the operation of the facility at any reasonable time to verify its continuing use for the purposes for 
which it was funded. 

 
No Mortgaging or Charging of Facility Property 

 
4.10. If the Recipient itself carries out a Sub-Project involving an activity described in section 4.1 or 4.3, the 
Recipient shall not mortgage, charge or otherwise encumber the facility property during the period of the Sub- 
Project or during the Monitoring Period, without the prior written approval of Canada. Canada undertakes that 
its approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
4.11 If a Sub-Agreement Holder is carrying out a Sub-Project involving an activity described in section 4.1 or 
4.3, the Recipient shall ensure that the Sub-Agreement Holder does not mortgage, charge or otherwise 
encumber the facility property during the period of the Sub-Project or during the Monitoring Period, without 
the prior written approval of the Recipient. 

 
5.0 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 

 
5.1 The Recipient shall: 

 
(a) maintain and implement any and all environmental protection measures prescribed by Canada 
for ensuring that the harm to the environment resulting from the Project, if any, will remain minimal; 
and 
 
(b) ensure that all environmental protection measures, standards and rules relating to the  
Project established by competent authorities are respected. 
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6.0 INDIGENOUS CONSULTATION 
 
6.1 Based on the program design, Canada's funding is to enable the Recipient to carry out the Project. Canada does not 
assess, approve and enter into funding agreements with Sub-Projects. The Community Entity will assess, approve and enter 
into funding agreements with Sub-Projects based on recommendations by the Community Advisory Board. Canada does not 
have sufficient details to understand the nature and scope of the potential impacts on s.35 rights at the time funding is provided 
to the Recipient because Canada has no knowledge of the specific activities of the sub-project. As such, Canada has 
determined that a Duty to Consult would not be triggered. 
 
7.0 OFFICIAL LANGUAGES  
 
7.1 Where the Project is to be delivered to members of either language community, the Recipient shall: 

 
(a) make Project-related documentation and announcements (for the public and prospective Project 
participants, if any) in both official languages where applicable; 
 
(b) actively offer and provide in both official languages any Project-related services to be provided or 
made available to members of the public, where applicable; 
 
(c) encourage members of both official language communities, including official language minority 
communities, to participate in the Project and its activities; and 
 
(d) organize activities and provide its services, where appropriate, in such a manner as to address the 
needs of both official language communities. 

 
8.0 ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS  
 
Coordinated Access 

 
8.1 Through working with community partners, including, if applicable, in partnership with the Indigenous Homelessness 
stream Community Entity within the Designated Community where the Recipient is located, the Recipient shall be required to 
have a Coordinated Access system in place by March 31, 2026 that fully meets all Reaching Home minimum requirements for 
Coordinated Access. More specifically, the recipient shall: maintain all minimum requirements that were met between April 1 
2019 and March 31, 2024; meet all minimum requirements that were modified as of April 1, 2024; and meet new minimum 
requirements introduced on April 1, 2024. The minimum requirements, as prescribed by Canada, outline Canada’s 
expectations for the design of Coordinated Access systems across the following areas: governance and partnerships, access 
points to service, triage and assessment, the Coordinated Access Resource Inventory, vacancy matching and referral, and use 
of the Homeless Individuals and Families Information System (HIFIS) or an existing, equivalent Homelessness Management 
Information System (HMIS). 

The Homeless Individuals and Families Information System (HIFIS) 
 

8.2 Through working with community partners, including, if applicable, in partnership with the Indigenous Homelessness 
stream Community Entity within the Designated Community where the Recipient is located, the Recipient shall be required to 
implement HIFIS, or utilize an equivalent Homelessness Management Information System (HMIS) if one is already in place, to 
achieve Coordinated Access minimum requirements. 

Outcomes-Based Approach 
 

8.3 Through working with community partners, including, if applicable, in partnership with the Indigenous Homelessness 
stream Community Entity within the Designated Community where the Recipient is located, the Recipient shall be required to 
continue to prevent and reduce homelessness using an Outcomes-Based Approach by fully meeting all Reaching Home 
minimum requirements for an Outcomes-Based Approach. More specifically, the recipient shall maintain all minimum 
requirements that were met between April 1, 2019 and March 31, 2024, it shall meet all minimum requirements that were 
modified as of April 1, 2024, and it shall meet new minimum requirements introduced on April 1, 2024. The minimum 
requirements, as prescribed by Canada, outline Canada’s expectations to use person-specific data that is real-time and 
comprehensive to meet homelessness reduction targets for core community-level outcomes.  

Community Homelessness Report 
 

8.4 Through working with community partners, including, if applicable, in partnership with the Indigenous Homelessness stream 
Community Entity within the Designated Community where the Recipient is located, the Recipient shall provide annually to 
Canada to the end of the program in 2027-2028, using a template provided by Canada, no later than sixty (60) days following 
the period covered by the report (i.e. the previous fiscal year), a Community Homelessness Report, satisfactory to Canada in 
scope and detail. A summary of the Community Homelessness Report will be published publicly by the Recipient in a time and 
manner prescribed by Canada.  
 
Point-in-Time Count 
 
8.5 The Recipient shall conduct a Point-in-Time Count Enumeration and a Survey on Homelessness, between October 1, 2024 
and November 30, 2024. Surveys on Homelessness can be administered over the course of one month and must be 
completed on or before December 30. Future enumerations shall be conducted annually, in the same time period (October-
November), beginning in 2025, with surveys every three years (i.e., 2024, 2027) in alignment with the Reaching Home 
nationally coordinated Point-in-Time Count timelines. The methodology for the PiT Count must adhere to the national Point-in-
Time Count methodology as prescribed by Canada, including common national survey questions. 
 
8.6 The Recipient may conduct the Point-in-Time Count in coordination with a Registry Week or another enumeration 
methodology provided that the methodological standards prescribed by Canada are followed. 
 
8.7 In a manner prescribed by Canada, for 2024 and onward, the Recipient shall provide the results of the PiT Count to 
Canada within two months of completing the enumeration and two months of completing the survey, including, but not limited 
to: 
 

(a) an enumeration off people who were experiencing homelessness in shelters (e.g. emergency shelters, Domestic 
Violence shelters, extreme weather shelters), transitional housing, and the number who were in unsheltered 
locations on a single night; and 

 
(b) individual-level survey data from the common national survey questions asked of people experiencing 

homelessness. 
 
8.8 These results will be used by Canada to report at aggregate levels (e.g. nationally, by region) without identifying results for 
particular survey respondents or for particular communities. 
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REPORT TO HOSPITALS AND HOUSING COMMITTEE 
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 04, 2023 

SUBJECT Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region – Funding Increase 

ISSUE SUMMARY 

To detail implications of the Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region’s (the “Alliance”) 
request for increased annual core funding from the Capital Regional District (CRD) from $225,000 
to $345,000, with an annual inflation increase. 

BACKGROUND 

The Alliance started in 2008 as the Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness with a mission 
to end homelessness in the capital region and consists of local housing, health and social service 
providers, non-profit organizations, all levels of government, businesses, post-secondary 
institutions, the faith community, people with lived and living experiences of homelessness, and 
members of the public. The Alliance is a non-profit society and registered charity. Past Alliance 
efforts included the publication of the Creating Homes, Enhancing Communities report, which 
supported the early development of the Regional Housing First Program, work related to process 
mapping, eviction prevention, a Speakers’ Bureau, youth homelessness prevention, engagement 
of people with lived experience and efforts through the COVID-19 pandemic to directly support 
individuals experiencing homelessness. 

On August 21, 2023, the Alliance sent a letter to the CRD Board requesting an increase of 
$120,000 in annual core funding (Appendix A). The Alliance attached their 2022 draft audited 
financial statement to support the letter (see Appendix B) and presented their funding request to the 

Hospitals and Housing Committee on September 6, 2023 (see Appendix C). Staff were then directed 
to return with a report detailing the implications associated with the requested funding increase. 

Since 2008, the CRD has supported the core operations of the Alliance. This contribution was 
increased from $150,000 to $225,000 in 2010 and has remained consistent through to the 2023 
final CRD budget. The CRD's initial commitment to the Alliance was for 10 years, but this was 
revised in 2018 to be ongoing. 

In September 2023, the Alliance informed the Hospitals and Housing Committee that without an 
increase in funding, the organization would not be viable in 2025. A review of the accompanying 
2022 draft audited financial statements indicate solvency and going concern for the long-term 
operations and viability of the Alliance. 

Each year, the CRD negotiates and monitors an annual Service Agreement with the Alliance that 
sets out the scope of work, deliverables, and relevant roles and responsibilities expected of the 
Alliance. The Alliance submits an annual report to the CRD on their specific deliverables (see 
Appendix D). 

Appendix F
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ALTERNATIVES 

Alternative 1 
The Hospitals and Housing Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
1. That staff be directed to negotiate a one-time increase of $120,000 from $225,000 to $345,000

in 2024;
2. That staff be directed to amend the 2024 Financial Plan to reflect the increase in funding; and
3. That staff work through the 2025 service planning cycle to revisit the allocation of resources

between the Alliance and those dedicated directly to advancing the CRD Board and Corporate
priorities.

Alternative 2 
The Hospitals and Housing Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
1. That staff be directed to maintain the core service level of $225,000 in the 2024 Financial

Plan; and
2. That staff work through the 2025 service planning cycle to revisit the allocation of resources

between the Alliance and those dedicated directly to advancing the CRD Board and Corporate
priorities.

Alternative 3 
The Hospitals and Housing Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
1. That staff be directed to negotiate an ongoing increase of $120,000 from $225,000 to

$345,000 starting in 2024;
2. That staff be directed to amend the 2024 Financial Plan to reflect the increase in funding; and
3. That staff index funding to the Alliance to CRD guidelines and include this adjusted amount

as a core service level going forward.

Alternative 4 
That the Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region – Funding Increase report be 
referred to staff for additional information based on the Hospitals and Housing Committee 
direction. 

IMPLICATIONS 

Alignment with CRD Plans and Strategies 
The Alliance activities support several objectives in the 2023 – 2026 Corporate Plan and the 
Regional Housing Affordability Strategy, 2018. The alignment with various CRD plans and 
strategies is provided in Appendix E. Much of the focus in Alliance work is related to engagement 
and facilitation in support of CRD Corporate Plan activities related to a regional approach or data 
collection and guidance/recommendations on the use of Reaching Home Program (RHP) funds 
through the development of a Community Plan and the Alliance’s participation on the RHP 
Community Advisory Board (CAB). The Alliance is also active in prevention through facilitation of 
a youth homelessness task force. 

Service Delivery Implications 
Currently, funding for the Alliance is requisitioned through Community Health with the day-to-day 
aspects of managing the Service Agreement supported through Regional Housing. This is in 
alignment with the authority as established under Land Banking and Housing and, more 
specifically, the Terms and Conditions of the RHP. 
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In March 2019, the CRD entered into a Contribution Agreement with the Government of Canada 
to fill the role of Community Entity (CE) under the RHP. Though there are numerous aspects of 
the RHP implementation that include community engagement and plan development, grant 
administration, contract monitoring, etc., there are two key components that the CRD is obligated 
to advance under the terms of the Contribution Agreement, including a Coordinated Assessment 
and Access (CAA) process and a Homelessness Management Information System (HMIS). An 
overview of both initiatives is provided in greater detail in Appendix F, Part 1. 

The current RHP Contribution Agreement runs until March 31, 2024, though staff are expecting 
to receive a Service Agreement amendment or a new Service Agreement that extends the RHP 
for up to five years. As related to the CRD’s role in implementing the RHP, the Alliance is tasked 
with a range of activities that are outlined in Appendix F, Part 2. 

Within the context of the 2023-2026 CRD Board and Corporate priorities, the obligations under 
the 2019-2024 RHP and the role of the Alliance, there is an increasing degree of overlap between 
the strategic and policy direction as provided by the CRD Board and the historic role of the Alliance 
in supporting a range of homelessness engagement, research, data collection and planning work. 

Alternative 1 
Proposes a one-year increase in funding and will support the considerable community 
engagement and planning work required as the CRD prepares to transition into a renewed RHP. 
Staff will then revisit the funding level starting in 2025. 

Alternative 2 
Retains the existing level of funding to the Alliance, which will result in the CRD taking on an 
increased role in advancing the work required to support engagement efforts related to CAA and 
HMIS and the transition toward a renewed RHP and will further direct the work through a 2024 
Service Agreement with the Alliance. Staff will then revisit the funding level starting in 2025. 

Alternative 3 
Proposes that the CRD provide the Alliance with an ongoing increase in core operational funding. 
This alternative would provide the organization with the highest level of operational support and 
an ongoing commitment from the CRD. In terms of alignment between the Alliance activities and 
the obligations of the CRD under the RHP, staff increasingly direct the content of the Alliance 
Service Agreement as the CRD would continue to rely on a third-party to play a vital role in 
ensuring the CRD’s RHP obligations are met. 

Financial Implications 
The CRD has provided the Alliance with a total of $3,535,000 in funding through its Community 
Health service from 2008 to 2023. In addition, the CRD has administered a total of $700,000 on 
behalf of the City of Victoria bringing the total funds provided through Alliance Service Agreements 
to $4,235,000 over 15 years. In addition, the Alliance is eligible to receive funds through the RHP 
and has received a total of $466,627 in support of Sector Capacity Building through Creation of 
Free Micro Credentials ($186,067) and Construction and Furnishing of Seven Tiny Home Village 
Units ($280,560). An overview of the three Alternatives is attached as Appendix G. 

Alternative 1 
Proposes a one-year increase in funding to the Alliance from $225,000 to $345,000. This 
alternative also directs staff to review the balance of requisition resources between the activities 
of a third party operating under agreement and those the CRD uses to directly fund its operational 
activities in 2025. Potentially reducing funding to the Alliance will be increasingly important as 
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staff begin to scope out and seek the resources required to advance a coordinated, regional, and 
collaborative response to homelessness and data collection and research analysis capacity 
dedicated to housing data while working to mitigate potential requisition increases. 

Alternative 2 
Proposes that the CRD maintains the existing level of funding to the Alliance of $225,000 per 
year. It is important to note, however, that this alternative also directs staff to review the funding 
level in 2025 in conjunction with the CRD’s service planning process to ensure resources continue 
to be utilized in direct support of advancing CRD Board and Corporate priorities. The Alliance 
informed the Hospitals and Housing Committee in September 2023 that without an increase in 
funding, the organization would not be viable in 2025. This alternative would likely result in the 
Alliance either significantly scaling back activities and/or winding down operations. 

Alternative 3 
Proposes the Alliance be provided with an ongoing increase in core operational funding to 
$345,000 per year and that this increase be ongoing and indexed to the CRD guidelines related 
to inflation. This inflationary increase would see the core funding go from $345,000 in 2024 to 
$358,938 in 2026 and would continue increasing at 2% annually in-line with CRD guidelines. 

Both Alternative 1 and Alternative 2 provide the direction to staff to review CRD activities identified 
through the CRD service planning process and to consider those activities through assessing the 
value of either direct delivery through the CRD or through a third-party starting in 2025. To 
constrain potential requisition impact as the CRD may look to increase service levels in support 
of CRD Board and Corporate priorities starting in 2025, staff have recommended this step to 
provide greater flexibility to the CRD Board in considering how it can both deliver an enhanced 
level of service while also mitigating the risk of significant requisition increases. Alternative 3, 
however, is intended to provide the CRD Board with a clear option that includes a lift to the core 
funding level to the Alliance that is intended to be ongoing. 

CONCLUSION 

Over the last 15 years, the CRD has supported the operations of the Alliance through Service 
Agreements that total $4,235,000. In addition, the Alliance has received $466,627 through the 
RHP, administered by the CRD. However, as the role of the CRD has shifted over time, due in 
part to the obligations under the RHP as well as the strategic and policy direction provided by the 
CRD Board in 2023, it is increasingly important to revisit how the CRD continues to drive action 
on achieving outcomes through either engaging third parties or an increase in service levels. 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Hospitals and Housing Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
1. That staff be directed to negotiate a one-time increase of $120,000 from $225,000 to $345,000

in 2024;
2. That staff be directed to amend the 2024 Financial Plan to reflect the increase in funding; and
3. That staff work through the 2025 service planning cycle to revisit the allocation of resources

between the Alliance and those dedicated directly to advancing the CRD Board and Corporate
priorities.

Submitted by: Don Elliott, MUP, BA, Senior Manager, Regional Housing 
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Concurrence: Kevin Lorette, P. Eng., MBA, General Manager, Planning & Protective Services 

Concurrence: Nelson Chan, MBA, FCPA, FCMA, Chief Financial Officer 

Concurrence: Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer 

ATTACHMENTS 

Appendix A: Alliance Funding Request Letter, Submitted August 21, 2023 
Appendix B: Alliance Draft Financial Statement 
Appendix C: Alliance Funding Request Presentation – September 6, 2023 
Appendix D: Alliance 2022-23 Service Agreement – Annual Report 
Appendix E: Alignment with CRD Plans & Strategies 
Appendix F: Reaching Home Projects & Alliance Activities 
Appendix G: Funding Alternatives 



Mr. Colin Plant  
Chair - Capital Regional District Board  
625 Fisgard Street, Victoria, BC V8W 1R7 

SENT VIA EMAIL 

Re: AEHCR Core Funding Request 

Dear Chair Plant, 

On behalf of the Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region (AEHCR) (legally known as the 

Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness), we wish to sincerely thank the Capital Regional District 

(CRD) for sustaining our collective work to end homelessness in the region.  

We are writing to you today to request an increase in the funding provided by the CRD to the Alliance. 

The AEHCR wishes to formally request an annual increase of $120,000 (from $225,000 to $345,000). The 

AEHCR also requests an annual cost of living indexation. Attachment A presents the audited financial 

statements for the last fiscal year. 

The CRD has been and continues to be a crucial partner supporting the activities of the AEHCR and its 

member societies since 2008. As of December 2022, the AEHCR is honoured to have 28 local and 

regional organization members who primarily provide services in the homelessness sector as well as 26 

individual members.  In addition to the CRD, the AEHCR’s partners include Island Health and BC Housing. 

Attachment B shows current member organizations and Attachment C shows our current Board of 

Directors and AEHCR Staff Positions. 

The CRD was integral in launching the Alliance with core funding of $150,000 per year for 3 years from 

2008 to 2010. The CRD core funding was increased to $225,000 in 2011 and has continued at that 

amount for 13 years. AEHCR has had two other core funders since its inception. The City of Victoria and 

Island Health have each provided $100,000 annually for many years.  

Each year the AEHCR enters into separate Service Agreements with the CRD and Island Health which 

include specific AEHCR deliverables. The AEHCR submits a report on the deliverables achieved to CRD 

staff each year prior to the next Service Agreement.  

The AEHCR Board has approved making requests for increased funding to each of our 3 core funding 

partners and we are seeking a total increase of $170,000 in annual core funding for 2024. Our recent 

request has been declined by Island Health and we have a request to the City of Victoria concurrent with 

this request to the CRD.  



The rationale for an increase in core funding is that while the challenges in addressing Homelessness 

have increased over the past 13 years and the deliverables in our service agreements with the CRD and 

Island Health have increased, core funding to the AEHCR has not increased over the past 13 years, non-

staff operating costs have risen, and AECHR staff salaries have not seen an increase since 2012.  The 

requested increase is necessary to retain and recruit excellent staff, achieve the deliverables in our 

Service Agreements, and meet the expectations of our member organizations and community at large.  

It should be noted that while the AEHCR has annual core funding, it also applies and receives grants for 

varying time periods to conduct programs or projects. An example in 2023, is the AEHCR received 

$157,000 of funds from the Federal Reaching Home Program, which is administered by the Community 

Entity held by the CRD in our region as well as other project granting sources such as UBCM, the Victoria 

Foundation, the Donnelly Foundation and many individual donors.  

The work of the AEHCR is made possible thanks to this ongoing investment into the community by the 

CRD. The positive impact of initiatives we have launched together focused on ending and preventing 

homelessness cannot be understated. Our collaborative work plays a critical role in transforming the 

homelessness-serving system in the region and continues to reinforce the importance of the partnership 

between the AEHCR and the CRD. Now, more than ever, the CRD’s support is needed to achieve our 

shared vision.  

The 2018 Regional Housing Affordability Strategy approved by the CRD Board of Directors as well as the 

2019-2024 Community Plan to End Homelessness in the Capital Region, inform this AEHCR, ongoing 

work and as such, the AEHCR takes a whole-government approach to advocating for increasing 

appropriate housing supply, establishes housing targets and eviction interventions specific to chronic 

homelessness while also contributing to the development of broader targets around housing 

affordability. The AEHCR also plays an important role in bringing a wide range of partners together to 

explore and create synergies and opportunities for partnerships and system-wide transformation.  

The AEHCR serves its members through its role as a ‘backbone’ organization responsible for guiding 

vision and facilitating strategic planning, developing sector-wide advocacy initiatives, supporting aligned 

activities, establishing shared best practices, building public awareness, advancing policy changes, 

working to mobilize and distribute funding and more. The AEHCR staff complement has incrementally 

increased over the past number of years to support the work of the Sector, while the work that is 

carried out is exponential in nature and scope.  

Efforts continue to focus on addressing the needs of those experiencing chronic homelessness and in 

preventing homelessness experience for those who are at-imminent-risk, with particular emphasis on 

preventing youth homelessness. Central to this work, the AEHCR continues to support the development 

of two crucial regional initiatives: a Coordinated Access and Assessment system for housing, and a 

broader Homelessness Management Information System for coordinating housing and supports for 

people experiencing, at risk of, or with a recent experience of homelessness. When complete, these two 

systems will ensure enhanced service efficacy, better resource efficiencies, and that those in need are 

being rapidly connected to the housing and services that best suit their needs.  

In collaboration with the CRD and community partners, the AEHCR authors and publishes the 

Community Plan, which is focused on improvements to the housing and homelessness response system 

and identifies housing supply needs specific to addressing chronic homelessness while projecting future 



need. The AEHCR also contributes to the development of plans that are indirectly connected to 

homelessness such as the Regional Housing Affordably Strategy as well as aligning our work with the BC 

government’s Homelessness Strategy and other relevant initiatives.  

The AEHCR collects data related to its mission and partners with others to conduct complex research 

initiatives related to housing, homelessness, prevention and system transformation. The AEHCR Board 

of Directors passed a Motion at their February 22nd meeting as follows: The GVCEH Board indicate to the 

CRD and CAA Working Group that it wishes to be the lead organization for the holder of data and the 

creation of the By Name List. This Motion, and development of a Regional Data Dashboard are key to 

supporting the development of a baseline to measure both the progress toward Functional Zero 

homelessness in the Region, and also support evidence-based decisions regarding resource allocation 

and re-allocation.  

The AEHCR convenes and facilitates working groups and supports and participates with community 

groups on collaborative advocacy and solutions to homelessness. The AEHCR partners and staff are 

embedded in an increasing number of community tables, and the AEHCR continues to work with 

partners to develop and distribute information tools and strategies to enhance the effectiveness of 

collective efforts.  

Homelessness is a complex issue with all orders of government supporting individual-level solutions 

while also exerting control over different and sometime overlapping aspects of the response. This 

means that much of the work related to significant coordination and integration of systems happens at 

the community level and in alignment with the CRD’s Regional Housing Affordability Strategy. With the 

recent announcements by Minister Eby and the BC’s government investments to prevent and continue 

the work to end homelessness, the AEHCR, is now, more than ever, in a position to build on the 

collaborative work in the Region and continue to provide backbone services to our members to achieve 

these goals. 

AEHCR staff bring together leaders and decision-makers at the regional, provincial and national scale 

through a unique partnership that continues to make significant inroads in housing, health care, 

prevention and research around homelessness and its root causes. This request for an increase in core 

funding will help support the operations of the AEHCR and will also help offset increasing costs.  

Any opportunity to increase annual funding will support operations related to: 

• Continue Critical Work to Prevent Youth Homelessness – The AEHCR’s Youth Task Force (YTF), started

in 2017, is significantly shifting the youth homelessness landscape in the region. As we know 55.8% of

those experiencing homelessness had their first experience of homelessness before their 25th birthday.

The YTF is both working to address the estimated 259 individuals under the age of 25 currently

experiencing some form of homelessness and is collaborating to prevent youth homelessness with the

BC Coalition to End Youth Homelessness and other social services agencies for further strengthen our

collective reach.

• Offset Increasing Costs – In early 2019 the GVCEH moved into market rental office space for the first

time in its ten-year history. While this move provided considerably better opportunities to support

community in ending homelessness, it also came with the corresponding increase in operational costs.



 

 

In 2023, we are required to move, once again, and the costs associated with relocation have also 

increased due to a very strong commercial rental market.  

Although we continue to make significant advances, homelessness persists as a challenge for this 

community, across BC and across the country. As the community continues to emerge from the heights 

of the COVID crisis, the economic crisis, labour shortages and increased inflation, continue to be felt in 

the region and we are looking to CRD to support the AEHCR’s sector-wide advocacy and communication, 

collaboration, research, and engagement, to achieve collective impact on our common goals.  

It is important to also note that, in addition to the AEHCR requesting an increase in core funding from 

the CRD, it has requested a similar increase from Island Health and will be presenting to the City of 

Victoria in September as well and will be seeking other sources of funding through Trust Based 

Philanthropy and potentially fundraising, as we believe in the importance of funders and the community 

collaborating on this important regional work.  

Thank you so much for your continued support of the AEHCR and the organizations dedicated to a vision 

of a region, a province and a nation without homelessness and we look forward to your response.  

 

Respectfully, 

    

Jeff Bray   Sylvia Ceacero 

Community Co-Chair  Executive Director 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the members of Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness 
Society (“the Society”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2023, and the 
statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the financial 
position of Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society as at March 31, 2023, and its results of 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for 
not-for-profit organizations.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Society in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Society’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Society or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Society’s financial reporting process.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Society’s internal control.    

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Society to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.   

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

As required by the Societies Act of British Columbia, we report that, in our opinion, the accounting 
principles in the Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations have been applied on a 
consistent basis.  

 

 

Victoria, Canada  

July XX, 2023 Chartered Professional Accountants 
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Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 
(dba Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region) 
Statement of Financial Position  
March 31 2023 2022

Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 5) $ 171,903       $ 347,638       
Accounts receivable 4,125           3,544           
Government remittances receivable 3,120           3,120           
Prepaid expenses and deposits 10,078         12,996         
Short term investments 26,000         - 

215,226       367,298       

Tangible capital assets (Note 3) 194,186       578,680       

$ 409,412       $ 945,978       

Liabilities 
Current

Payables and accruals $ 39,367         $ 39,430         
Deferred contributions (Note 4) 126,696       223,554       
Deferred capital contributions (Note 5) 188,516       565,548       

354,579       828,532       

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets 5,670           13,132         
Unrestricted 49,163         104,314       

54,833         117,446       

$ 409,412       $ 945,978       

Commitments (Note 10) 

On behalf of the Board 

__________________________ Director    __________________________ Director 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 
(dba Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region) 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
Year ended March 31 2023 2022

Invested in
capital
assets Unrestricted Total Total

Balance, beginning of year $ 13,132     $ 104,314    $ 117,446    $ 169,308    

(7,462)      (55,151)     (62,613)     (51,862)     

-           -            -            -            

Balance, end of year $ 5,670       $ 49,163      $ 54,833      $ 117,446    

Deficiency of revenue over 
expenses 

Additions to tangible capital assets 
less capital contributions received

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 
(dba Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region) 
Statement of Operations 
Year ended March 31 2023 2022

Revenue
Government grants (Note 6) $ 1,114,104    $ 2,035,285    
Individual donations 199,728       270,097       
Corporate donations 146,939       219,124       
Contributions from other registered charities (Note 6) 101,155       70,401         
Miscellaneous revenue 2,522           1,286           
Membership fees 1,000           725              
Interest 978              165              

1,566,426    2,597,083    

Expenses
Amortization 384,494       573,266       
Communications and consultation 9,520           13,692         
Council and committee meetings 10,104         7,296           
General administration 58,461         64,983         
Professional fees 25,313         20,724         
Program expenses (Note 7) 615,932       1,427,166    
Rent 72,495         65,364         
Wages and benefits 452,720       476,454       

1,629,039    2,648,945    

Deficiency of revenue over expenses $ (62,613)        $ (51,862)        

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 
(dba Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region) 
Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended March 31 2023 2022

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Operating
Deficiency of revenue over expenses $ (62,613)        $ (51,862)        
Amortization of deferred capital contributions (377,032)      (565,548)      
Amortization 384,494       573,266       

(55,151)        (44,144)        

Change in non-cash operating working capital
Accounts receivable (581) (2,109) 
Government remittances receivable - 2,383 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 2,918           (4,477) 
Payables and accruals (63) (389,138) 
Deferred contributions (96,858)        121,359

(94,584)        (271,982)      

(149,735)      (316,126)      

Investing
Purchase of short term investments (26,000)        -     
Purchase of tangible capital assets - (748,027) 

(26,000)        (748,027)      

Financing
Deferred capital contributions - 580,918

- 580,918

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (175,735)      (483,235)      

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 347,638       830,873       

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 171,903       $ 347,638       

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2023 
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1.  Purpose of the Society 
 
The Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society (the “Society”) was incorporated 
on July 25, 2008 under the Societies Act of British Columbia.  In February 2023 the Society 
changed its operating name to the Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region and 
continues to do business under this name. The Society’s purpose is to engage community 
organizations, governments and non-governmental agencies to work in partnership with each 
other and the broader community to lead and drive the commitment to end homelessness in 
the Capital Regional District of British Columbia.  The Society received status as a registered 
charity effective April 1, 2009. 
 
 
2.  Summary of significant accounting policies 
 
Basis of presentation 
 
The Society has prepared these financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.   
 
Revenue recognition 
 
The Society follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. 
 
Operating grant revenue is recognized in the year for which the grant is awarded. Accordingly, 
operating grant revenue awarded for periods subsequent to the current year is deferred to the 
next fiscal year. 
 
Restricted contributions related to general operations are recognized as revenue in the year in 
which the related expenses are incurred. 
 
Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the year received or receivable if the 
amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and balances with banks and highly liquid 
temporary investments with maturities of three months or less. 
 
Amortization  
 
Rates and bases of amortization applied to write off the cost less estimated salvage value of 
capital assets over their estimated lives are as follows: 
 
  Furniture and equipment 20%, straight-line 
  Computer equipment 33-1/3%, straight-line 
  Leasehold improvements              Term of lease 
  Temporary shelter              Term of lease 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2023 
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Use of estimates 
 
In preparing the Society’s financial statements, management is required to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of 
revenue and expenses during the year. The more subjective of such estimates are the 
collection of accounts receivable, the useful life of tangible capital assets and the accrual of 
accounts payable and liabilities. Actual results could differ from these estimates. 
 
Financial instruments  
 
The Society’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 
and payables and accruals.  
 
Financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial recognition and are subsequently 
recorded at cost or amortized cost, unless management has elected to carry the instruments at 
fair value. The Society has not elected to carry any such financial instruments at fair value. 
 
Volunteers 
 
Volunteers contribute an indeterminable number of hours to the Society across its operations.  
Since no objective basis exists for recording and assigning fair values to donated time, the 
value of this time has not been reflected in the accompanying financial statements. 
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3. Tangible capital assets 2023 2022

Accumulated Net Net
Cost amortization book value book value

Furniture and equipment $ 12,428   $ 12,428  $ - $ 135    
Computer equipment 66,969   61,216  5,753   11,065   
Leasehold improvements 18,386   17,297  1,089   5,448     
Temporary shelter 1,124,065  936,721   187,344  562,032    

$ 1,221,848   $ 1,027,662  $ 194,186   $ 578,680  

4. Deferred contributions

Deferred contributions relate to restricted operating funding received that relate to future years. 

Balance, beginning 
of year $ 27,288  132,290  $ 8,333   $ 31,718   $ 23,925   $ 223,554  

Received during the 
year 10,071  376,553  91,667    - 196,614 674,905  

37,359  508,843  100,000  31,718   220,539  898,459  

37,359  501,532  100,000  31,718   101,155    771,764  

$ - $ 7,312   $ - $ - $ 119,384  $ 126,696  
Balance, end of year

Less:  amounts 
recognized as 
revenue 

BC 
Housing Total 2023

 Island 
Health 

Authority
City of 

Victoria 

Canadian 
Mortgage 

and 
Housing

Non-
Government

5. Deferred capital contributions

Hey Neighbour project: In the previous fiscal years the Society crowd-sourced funding from 
numerous individuals and local businesses and raised $1,131,096 toward construction costs. 
These funds raised are being amortized into revenue over the life of the project. The amount 
recognized as revenue during the year is $377,032 (2022: $565,548). 



Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 
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6. Grants

The Society’s major funding sources are from contributions received from other registered 
charities and grants received from government sources as 
follows:

2023 2022

Government grants
City of Victoria $ 605,816   $ 322,896  
Capital Regional District 321,311   402,167  
Island Health 100,000   100,000  
CMHC 49,418  60,902  
BC Housing 37,359  1,126,445  
Ministry of SDPR 200   22,875  

$ 1,114,104  $ 2,035,285  

Contributions from other registered charities

Burnside Gorge Community Association $ 36,962  $ -   
Victoria Foundation 29,333  38,526  
Second Harvest Food Bank 18,200  -   
Social Planning and Research Council - 18,750 
Other 16,660  13,125 

$ 101,155  $ 70,401  



Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 
(dba Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region) 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2023 
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7. Program expenses 2023 2022

Program expenses consist of the following:
Peer Housing Support $ 338,356   $ 263,212   
Face to Face with Stigma 151,634   80,076   
National Housing Solutions 37,359    60,902   
Burnside Gorge Neighbourhood Engagement 36,962    4,375    
Sector Capacity Building 25,716    -   
Inclusion & Collaboration 8,607   41,903   
Extreme Weather Response 6,941   42,704   
Documentary: 940 Caledonia 6,250   16,111   
Youth Hostel Pilot 4,107   886,984   
Community Laundry Pilot - 22,414 
Participatory Action Research - 6,133 
Youth Homelessness - 2,351 

$ 615,932   $ 1,427,166  



 

Greater Victoria Coalition to End Homelessness Society 
(dba Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region) 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
March 31, 2023 
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8.  Risk management 
 
In the normal course of business, the Society is exposed to liquidity risk.  The Society’s primary 
risk management objective is to protect cash flow in order to support its operations.  Risks are 
managed within limits ultimately established by the Society’s Board of Directors and 
implemented by management. 
 
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, term deposits, accounts receivable, and 
payables and accruals approximates fair value due to the relatively short-term maturity of these 
financial instruments.  Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the Society is 
not exposed to significant interest, currency or credit risk arising from these financial 
instruments. 
 
 
9.  Remuneration  
 
Under the new Societies Act, which came into effect November 28, 2016, societies must 
disclose remuneration paid to directors, and to employees and contractors whose remuneration 
was at least $75,000 for the fiscal year. During the year, the Society paid no remuneration to 
directors. 
 
During the year, one employee met this criterion who was paid total remuneration of $107,827 
(2022: $88,038). 
 
 
10. Commitments 
 
The Society has operating leases with future minimum aggregate lease payments as follows: 
 
  2024   33,522 
  2025   18,405 
  2026   18,405 
    $  70,332 
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Vision

Mission

A region, a province, 
and a country where 

everyone has a safe place 
to call home. 

To ensure experiences 
of homelessness in the Capital 
Region by 2030 are rare, brief, 

and non-recurring, and 
that housing and supports 

are culturally adaptive, 
creative, caring, and 

person-centered. 

Guiding Principles

Person-Centered Adaptability 
& Innovation

Community 
Engagement Prevention

People come first. 
We will provide housing 
and supports in ways that 
best meet the needs of 
people experiencing 
homelessness rather than 
organizing based on our 
efficiencies or expertise. 

People will be supported 
along their continuum 
of care, as needed; care 
and support will be 
individualized to people’s 
needs, with an emphasis 
on integration into the 
community. 

We embrace innovation 
and seek to learn from our 
actions and share that 
learning with the 
community. 

We build a broad range of 
support for our work and 
engage all community 
members in finding and 
implementing appropriate 
solutions. 

Identifying, mitigating, 
and advocating for 
systemic change that 
addresses the root causes 
of homelessness will be key 
components of our 
prevention work. 



The Alliance thanks the CRD for its continued support and partnership over the years.

We are asking for an increase of a $120,000.00 annually, from $225,000.00 to $345,000.00 per 

year and a yearly built-in negotiated cost of living adjustment.

This increase will provide the leveling required to support our core operations as the backbone 

organization in the homelessness serving sector.

Our request



Core Functions 

01

02

03

04

05

Regional Planning and Coordination
Objective: Ensure plans and initiatives developed and implemented by 
the Alliance have a region-wide focus and that housing and services are 
well coordinated and integrated.

Ongoing Research
Objective: Conduct research in support of evidence-based strategies 
and policies to end homelessness, including effective practices used 
in other jurisdictions.

System Monitoring
Objective: Develop and implement a monitoring framework to 
ensure efforts to address homelessness are effective and are 
providing necessary outcomes for the region.

Communications and Engagement
Objective: Implement community engagement and awareness strategies to 
ensure the underlying contributing factors of homelessness, the extent of 
homelessness in the region and solutions to ending homelessness are better 
understood by interested and affected parties (partners) and the general public.

General Administration
Objective: Perform administrative functions required to support the Board 
and Committee activities, including overall day-to-day operations, annual 
business planning, and reviews of the long-term Community Plan and 
strategic plan as needed.



Goal 1

Goal 5

Goal 2

Goal 3

Goal 4

We align and focus the opportunities that arise 
from the intersection of our work in community 
through the development and strengthening of 
partnerships that result in system transformation, 

upstream and downstream.

Collective Impact

We support our sector’s human beings to 
thrive in the service of our community by 

developing best-practices approaches that 
are human capital centric. 

Sector Resiliency

We uphold the highest standards 
of research and data to support 
evidence-based decision-making 

at all levels.

Research & Data

We amplify the voice of the sector to reach its functional-zero-by-2030 goal 
through the development and implementation of a sector-wide advocacy and 

communications plan. 

Advocacy & Communications

We continue to develop a GVCEH team that 
is adequately resourced to augment 

capacity that aligns and focuses on mission-
critical actions that support the evolving 

needs of the sector.

Organizational Strength

Five Strategic Goals Supporting Community Plan Outcomes



We align and focus the opportunities that arise from the 
intersection of our work in community through the development 
and strengthening of partnerships that result in system 
transformation, upstream and downstream.

Our objective is to ensure plans and initiatives developed and 
implemented by the Alliance have a region-wide focus and that 
service providers and partners come to coordinate and integrate 
their collective resources to reach functional-zero.

Collective engagement is central to the work of the organization. It 
is critical for the Alliance to continue to engage all partners and to 
facilitate conversations that will spark better outcomes. 

Collective Impact – Regional planning and coordination

Five Strategic Goals Supporting Community Plan Outcomes



We support our sector’s human beings to thrive in the 
service of our community by developing best-practices 
approaches that are human capital centric.

The Alliance continues to ensure that the sector is 
supported with relevant training and with best-practice 
groups that provide its partners with qualified 
employees who can make their careers in this sector. 

Sector Resilience: Supporting the People

Five Strategic Goals Supporting Community Plan Outcomes



We uphold the highest standards of research and data 
to support evidence-based decision-making at all levels.

The Alliance develops a Community Data Dashboard 
and we support the CAA / HIFIS project to ensure we 
have a community driven information system that is 
effective and efficient.

We also incubate and support the development of IT 
based innovative solutions for specific populations.

Research and Data

Five Strategic Goals Supporting Community Plan Outcomes



We amplify the voice of the sector to reach its functional-zero-by-
2030 goal through the development and implementation of a 
sector-wide advocacy and communications plan.

The Alliance supports the work of unifying our partner’s message, 
develop a common vision and advocate for the changes that are 
required to achieve our collective goals.

We also ensure that the community is informed and educated by 
providing the tools required to reduce stigma and create inclusion 
for all. 

Advocacy and Communications – Unifying our Voices

Five Strategic Goals Supporting Community Plan Outcomes



We continue to develop an Alliance team that is 
adequately resourced to augment capacity that aligns 
and focuses on mission-critical actions that support the 
evolving needs of the sector.

Relational practices with all partners require continuity 
and are the cornerstone of successfully achieving our 
collective vision.

Our human resources are at the center of the work we 
do, and the Alliance must remain competitive and 
sustainable now and in the future.

Organizational Strength: Keeping our Core Strong

Five Strategic Goals Supporting Community Plan Outcomes



Alignment with the vision of functional-zero by 2030.

Continued critical work in prevention – upstream and downstream.

Regional engagement to align the vision for our community. 

Ensure funding stability for the core needs of a backbone organization that convenes all partners 

to create efficient and effective solutions.

Your Support will Afford



QUESTIONS



THANK YOU!
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Core Functions & Objectives 
 

1. Regional Planning and Coordination 
Objective: Ensure plans and initiatives developed and implemented by the Greater Victoria 
Coalition to End Homelessness have a region-wide focus and that housing and services are well 
coordinated and integrated. 
 
2. Ongoing Research 
Objective: Conduct research in support of evidence-based strategies and policies to end 
homelessness, including effective practices used in other jurisdictions. 

3. System Monitoring 
Objective: Develop and implement a monitoring framework to ensure efforts to address 
homelessness are effective and are providing necessary outcomes for the region. 

4. Communications and Engagement 
Objective: Implement community engagement and awareness strategies to ensure the 
underlying contributing factors of homelessness, the extent of homelessness in the region and 
solutions to ending homelessness are better understood by interested and affected parties 
(partners) and the general public. 

5. General Administration 
Objective: Perform administrative functions required to support the Board and Committee 
activities, including overall day-to-day operations, annual business planning, and reviews of the 
long-term strategic plan as needed. 

  



KPI Implementation Activities 
1. Regional Planning and Coordination 

(Collective Impact) 
 

Key Performance Indicators 

i. Deliver Plan of Action. 
 

1. Strategic Plan developed. 
2. Plan of Action developed. 
3. Strategic Plan/Plan of Action presented to Board November 29, 2022 

Appendix A: 2022-2024 GVCEH Strategic Plan - Plan of Action  
 

ii. Report semi-annually on delivery of Plan of Action. 
 
1. Semi-annual delivery of Plan of Action  

• Progress presentation January 30, 2023 
Appendix B: AEHCR - Strategic Direction 2022-2024.pptx 

• Progress Report submitted January 30, 2023 
Appendix C: AEHCR - 2022 Successes and 2023-2024 Plan of Action 
Draft.pdf 

 
iii. Report on the ongoing work of the Health and Housing Steering Committee.    

Coordinate and co-chair 6 meetings/year  
Coordinate and co-chair the HHSC leadership meetings 6 meetings/year 
(ongoing) 

 
1. Health and Housing Steering Committee (Full Committee meetings)  

• 6 meetings 
o April 12, 2022; June 14, 2022; August 09, 2022; October 11, 

2022; December 13, 2022; February 14, 2023  
 

iv. Continue supports for the implementation of the Sooke Homelessness 
Strategic Plan by participating in the Sooke Homelessness Coalition (SHC). 
Attend meetings as scheduled by the SHC (ongoing)  
 
1. Attended SHC meetings and offered updates as support for the 

implementation of the strategic plan. 
2. Reviewed Sooke Shelter Society service agreement and provided 

guidance for content and presentation to Sooke Council  
 

v. Engage with Salt Spring Island, Saanich, and Sidney homelessness-serving 
sector organizations. 



3 meetings/year (ongoing) 
 
1. Continued engagement with SSI and meetings with Saanich and 

Sidney (ongoing) 
 

vi. Participate in the various BC Housing-led Community Advisory 
Committees (CACs). 
12 meetings/year (ongoing) 
 
1. Attended and supported all BC Housing-led CACs as scheduled/convened. Also 

convened and facilitated the Tiny Town CAC (monthly). 
 

vii. Support and facilitate the coordination and integration of housing and 
support services (ongoing).  
 
Downtown core: Victoria 
1. Downtown Service Provider Meetings (DSP) 12 meetings/year. 

• Support the DSP Strategic Plan (2019), recommendations which 
are included in the Homelessness Response System Document 
Recommendations Review 
o Downtown Service Provider (DSP) meetings 

April 26, 2022; June 28, 2022; July 26, 2022; August 30, 
2022; September 27, 2022; October 25, 2022; November 
29, 2022; December 06, 2022 (Holiday Gathering); January, 
24, 2023; February 28, 2023; March 28, 2023 (11 meetings, 
no May 2022 meeting) 

 
2. Engage with relevant community and neighbourhood associations. 

• Attend meetings as scheduled by the community and 
neighbourhood associations. 
o BGCA Engagements 

- Engagement 1: April 4, 2022 
- Engagement 2: April 30, 2022 
- Engagement 3: June 13, 2022 
- Engagement 4: September 24, 2022 
- BGCA meetings: July 14, 2022; July 28, 2022, 

September 29, 2022; October 27, 2022 (4 meetings) 
Appendices  
* Appendix D: Burnside Gorge Community Map 
* Appendix E: Tree Poster 
* Appendix F: BGCA Demographics Poster 

 
o Refugee Readiness Team - Vancouver Island 



- RRT-VI meetings: August 23, 2022; September 01, 
2022; October 03, 2022; January 12, 2023 (4 meetings) 

- Collaboration on Questionnaire and Interview Guide 
development (surveying Landlords and Ukraine 
Refugees on housing on Vancouver Island) 

 
o Gender, Sheltering & Safety  

- Meetings: September 08, 2022; January 12, 2023; March 09, 
2023 (attended 3 GSS meetings) 
* collaborating on Peer Support Worker prototype (NHS 

Solutions), Gender and Sexuality training aligned with 
UVic/AEHCR micro-credentialling project) 

 
Supporting Works: 
 

• Salt Spring Island support with best practice knowledge regarding 
integration with CAA model: A number of outreach and conversations have 
taken place between April 01, 2022 through March 31, 2023 and have led 
to a May 24, 2023 meeting. 
* Key partners: Island Health, BC Housing, IWAV, and Salt 
Spring Island Community Services 
 

• Branding changeNew branding launched following approval by members at 
the 2022 AGM. Legal name remains the GVCEH and the new brand is the 
Alliance to End Homelessness in the Capital Region (AEHCR); inclusion of 3 
regional representatives to ensure regional service accountability. 
 

• Develop Relational Practice standards through micro-credential training. 
Appendix G: Fundamentals for the Homelessness Sector: A Micro-credential 
 

 

2. Ongoing Research and System Monitoring 
(Research and Data) 

 

Key Performance Indicators 

i. Phase 1: Development of system-wide Data Dashboard housing inventory and 
monitoring of progress toward quantitative housing unit Functional Zero.  
 
1. Version 1 completed November 30, 2022 

Appendix H: Community Data Dashboard  
 



ii. Community Data Dashboard Working Group – convene and chair 7 meetings
or more, as needed (ongoing).

1. Community Data Dashboard Working Group (CDD-WG) meetings
• 7 meetings

o July 26, 2022; September 21, 2022; October 05, 2022;
November 02, 2022; December 07, 2022; January 04, 2023;
March 01, 2023

iii. Meet individually with all members of the Community Data Dashboard
Working Group to discuss data collection (2022-23).

1. Meetings with Saint Vincent de Paul (October 03, 2022); Anawim House
(October 13, 2022); Threshold (October 25, 2022)

2. Will continue with meetings during 2023-2024

iv. Present Community Data Dashboard Version 1 to the HHSC December
2022 (2022-23).

1. Presentation to H&H Steering Committee (Full Committee) December
13, 2022
Appendix I: Community Data Dashboard Update

v. Support Point in Time Count 2023, as agreed with the partnering agency
(2022-23).

1. Member of Point in Time Advisory Group: Meetings August 04, 2022;
October 19, 2022; October 26, 2022; November 01, 2022; November
18, 2022

2. Survey Review (outside of PiT meetings): December 05, 2022;
December 06, 2022

3. PiT Count Voluteer Training: March 02, 2023

4. PiT Count surveying: March 08, 2023

vi. Engage the community around CAA and HIFIS processes as required.

1. Attending CAA, HIFIS, Built for Zero Webinars: July 28, 2022

2. Attending all CAA WG, HIFIS WG, and CAA/HIFIS/CDD meetings, as
convened.



vii. Support CAA Working Group – attend meetings as scheduled by the
Community Planner (ongoing/until project completion)

1. Attended CAA WG meetings: April 20, 2022; June 15, 2022; January 09, 2023

viii. Support HIFIS Working Group – attend meetings as scheduled by the
Community Planner (ongoing/until project completion)

1. Attended HIFIS WG meetings: October 14, 2022; February 07, 2023

2. Review of BC Housing Project Charter for HIFIS implementation

ix. Quarterly meetings between the director of research and data analysis
(GVCEH) and the community planner (ongoing) (HIFIS project)

1. CAA/HIFIS/CDD includes CRD Community Planner and BC Housing
representative.

2. Attending CAA/HIFIS/CDD meetings: July 13, 2022; September 23,
2022; October 05, 2022; October 26, 2022; December 01, 2022;
January 12, 2023; February 09, 2023; March 09, 2023

3. Attending CAA Engagement meetings: June 29, 2022; February 10,
2023 (included Jody Yurkowsky Pace)

x. Support BC Housing Project HIFIS Lead – attend meetings as scheduled
by the Community Planner (ongoing/until project completion)

1. BC Housing Project Lead not identified

2. Currently, working with Community Planner, CAA WG, and HIFIS WG
on BC Housing Project Charter for HIFIS Implementation

Supporting Works: 

• Establishment of 6 CACs
o Tiny Homes CAC established.
o Travel Lodge CAC established.

• Hiring of Inclusion Coordinator completed through Strengthening Communities
Grant to support establishing CACs for new Supportive Housing locations.



• Surfacing Our Strengths Final report 
Appendix J: Surfacing Our Strengths 

 
3. Communications and Engagement  

(Advocacy and Communications) 
(Collective Impact) 

 

Key Performance Indicators 

i. Convene and support the work of the Lived Experience Council  
6 meetings/year or as scheduled by the LEC (ongoing) 
 
1. Lived and Living Experience Council 

• (7 meetings) 
o September 16, 2022; October 14, 2022; November 23, 2022, December 12, 

2022; January. 17, 2023; February. 13, 2023; Mar. 22, 2023 
o Community Plan 2025-2030 consultation conducted at the March 22 2023 

meeting. 
 

ii. Municipal engagement of the Communications, Education, and Awareness 
initiative, with an effort to engage all municipalities.  
 

1. SHC volunteer members completed the Sooke Homelessness Awareness & 
Strategic Plan Presentation to the District of Sooke Council at Committee of the 
Whole on January 16, 2023. 

2. Executive Director attend all the SCEH meetings and is also a member of the SCEH 
Working group. 

 
iii. Meet with CRD to determine priority municipalities.  

 
1. Identified priority municipalities.  

 
2. Developed community-specific presentations (ongoing) 

 
iv. Present to the Mayor and Council of at least 5 identified priority municipalities. 

(ongoing) 
 
1. District of Sooke Council: Presented Sooke Homelessness Awareness & Strategic 

Plan on January 16, 2023 
2. Presentation to other municipalities (currently being developed) 
3. Meetings with the Mayor of Saanich and regular meetings with the CoV Manager. 
4. Meeting in January with the Mayor of Victoria to discuss many ongoing matters, 

including EWR. 



 
v. Leadership provided to support coordination and implementation of Community 

Planning Engagement activities informed, in part, by the CRD CAB (ongoing) 
 
Community Planning roadmap presented to the Board of Directors and to the Health 
and Housing Steering Committee.  
Consultations: BoD, PWLEC, HHSC, in the reporting time period. Others upcoming. 
1. Changes in the role of Director of Engagement and Impact.  

• Recruitment and arrival of new director in March 2023.  
• Andrew Holeton onboarding, orientation and community 

introductions/meetings underway. 
 
Supporting Works: 
 

• Developed Strategic Communications Plan 
 

• Rebranded AEHCR Communications collaterals and platforms (website and social 
media accounts)  
 

• Sentiment Analysis - Report on social media/news posts on homelessness by tone 
(positive, neutral, and negative) using relevance and sentiment model. 

 
o Phase 1 & 2 completed. (Includes Twitter posts) 
o Phase 3 underway – will include Reddit posts   

 
• Conduct a series of Face 2 Face with Stigma (F2F) workshops to educate, inspire 

empathy, and reduce fear toward people experiencing homelessness and/or 
substance use disorder. (ongoing)  
o In 2022, F2F delivered 21 workshops with a total of 353 attendees.  
o Since 2018, F2F delivered 65 workshops to more than 1000 attendees from 

various groups.  
 

• Proposal for consultation and community engagement process for the 
development of the 2025-2030 Community Plan (ongoing)  
 

• Facilitation of talking circles, resident advisory committees, and other meetings 
amongst peers and community members who live in supportive housing and 
people with lived experience of homelessness. (ongoing) 

 
 

4. General Administration 
(Organizational Strength) 

 



Key Performance Indicators 

i. Annual Report (ongoing)

1. 2021-2022 Annual Report
Appendix K: 2021-2022 Annual Report

2. 2022-2023 Annual Report
• Production and development of 2022-23 Annual Report is ongoing. Expected

date to be finalized: July 30, 2023.

ii. Annual General Meeting (ongoing)

1. 2022 AGM Agenda
Appendix L: 2022 Annual General Meeting Minutes

2. 2023 AGM (preparation ongoing)
• The agenda for the AGM needs to be approved by the Board at the July meeting. The

date for the 2023 AGM is September 28, 12:00 – 2:00, and will be held at Norway
House, 1110 Hillside Avenue

iii. Convening of quarterly funder meetings with BC Housing, Island Health, CRD
& the City of Victoria to update on progress towards shared deliverables.
(ongoing)

1. One meeting with the above-mentioned entities in the reporting period.
• Contract was signed in December 2022 and there was no other

opportunity to set up another meeting.

iv. Convening meetings of the Executive to discuss emerging issues– as required
(ongoing)

1. The Executive of the AEHCR meets regularly to discuss emerging issues.
• 6 meetings in the 2022-2023 reporting period

v. Facilitate, chair, or otherwise support Working Groups/ monthly meetings
and provide notes or minutes, as appropriate, for the following committees.

1. Health and Housing Steering Committee & Health and Housing Steering
Committee Leadership – 12 meetings/year (ongoing)
• Health and Housing Steering Committee (Leadership meetings)
• May 12, 2022; July 12, 2022; September 13, 2022; January 10, 2023;

March 2023 (5 meetings, November 2022 meeting canceled - met
members at CAEH 2022 conference)



• Health and Housing Steering Committee (Full Committee meetings)
• April 12, 2022; June 14, 2022; August 09, 2022; October 11, 2022;

December 13, 2022; February 14, 2023 (6 meetings)

2. System Transformation Working Group: Review all partner tables with
efficiency recommendations.
• Adapt terms of reference as required (ongoing)
• Facilitate 12 meetings/year (ongoing)

o (9 meetings) April 28, 2022; May 26, 2022; July 28, 2022; August.
25, 2022; September 22, 2022: October 27, 2022; November 24,
2022; January 20, 2023; March 23, 2023.

3. Community Engagement & Communications Working Group; facilitate
quarterly meetings and establish working groups to address specific
initiatives.
• Community Engagement & Communications Working Group

4 meetings/year (ongoing), specific initiatives as required (ongoing)
July 18, 2022, September 28, 2022, November 23, 2022, February 08,
2023

4. Youth Task Force (Prevention of Homelessness) – 6 to 12 meetings/year
(ongoing)
• 5 meetings: April 13, 2022; May 11, 2022; June 08, 2022; August 18,

2022; April 12, 2023

5. BC Coalition to End Youth Homelessness – attend meetings as scheduled by
the BCCEYH (ongoing)
• The executive director has attended all but one meeting of the BCCYEH

and all the meetings of the advocacy and governance working group.
Minutes are available through the BCCYEH.



Appendix E:  Alignment with CRD Plans & Strategies 
 

CRD Board Priorities 2023-2026 COMMENTS  

2a Increase supply of affordable, inclusive, 
adequate housing in the region. 

N/A 

 
CRD 2023-2026 Corporate Plan COMMENTS 

5a-1 Increase supply of affordable, inclusive, 
adequate housing in the region. 

N/A 

5a-2 Pursue funding opportunities and matching 
funds to deliver more housing. 

N/A 

5b-1 Support continued investment into existing 
housing stock to preserve and enhance 
the quality of the buildings and units. 

N/A 

5b-2 Protect existing market rental housing to 
preserve affordability. 

N/A 

5c-1 Support a coordinated, regional, and 
collaborative response to homelessness. 

Alliance is active in this area, though the 
CRD is increasing service levels and 
impact through Reaching Home, and 
through enhanced strategic and policy 
direction from the CRD Board. 

5d-1 Data collection and research analysis 
capacity dedicated to housing data. 

Alliance was working to develop a “Data 
Dashboard”, but this has been removed 
from the Service Agreement due to a 
lack of a coordinated data system. This 
will become increasingly important for 
the CRD to deliver as it is related to 
obligations under Reaching Home while 
also likely including a much broader 
scope that may touch on housing supply 
and construction data elements. This is 
expected to be scoped out in 2024 with 
implementation anticipated to begin in 
2025/26. 

 
Regional Housing Affordability Strategy (2018) COMMENTS 

4.1 Implement a seamless regional housing 
and homelessness response system. 

Alliance is active in this area through 
hosting/facilitating a range of working 
groups. Alliance also extensively 
engages People with Lived Experience. 

4.2 Reduce pathways into homelessness. Alliance is active in this area through 
hosting/facilitating a Youth Task Force. 

4.3 Reduce the number of people 
experiencing homelessness. 

Supports the CRD’s efforts through 
advising on plans/strategies and 
supporting Reaching Home. 

4.4 Reduce the proportion of Indigenous 
people experiencing homelessness. 

N/A 

4.5 Meet rental housing targets for households 
living in low income. 

N/A 

 



APPENDIX F:  Reaching Home Projects & Alliance Activities 

 

PART 1 

1. Coordinated Assessment and Access (CAA) – The Capital Regional District (CRD) is required 
to implement a CAA process supported by a by-name list in the community for those agencies 
receiving Reaching Home Program (RHP) funds. A Community Planner has been funded 
through the RHP to develop an enhanced process collaboratively with community, and more 
specifically, with BC Housing and Island Health. Due to the complexity of the service delivery 
landscape, the development of an effective and outcomes-based CAA process cannot be 
accomplished through looking only at RHP funded programs and therefore, significant CRD 
efforts are required to bring the funding and service organizations together to deliver on this 
work. 
 

2. Homelessness Management Information System (HMIS) – Homeless Individuals and Families 
Information System (HIFIS) is a specific software product developed by the Government of 
Canada as a HMIS. HIFIS is critical in the design and implementation of a fully functioning 
CAA process as the data infrastructure built through HIFIS is needed to enable prioritization, 
matching and referral activities. BC Housing holds the HIFIS license for the entire province 
and has deployed HIFIS to support its funded shelter and outreach programs. However, the 
underlying data architecture was not intended to include non-BC Housing-funded programs, 
such as those supported through RHP. The current application of HIFIS in BC does not 
support a community-level by-name list or a collaborative outcomes-based approach across 
multiple agencies. Therefore, the CRD will require capacity to undertake a process to meet 
the requirements of the RHP. 
 

PART 2 

• Coordinating government agencies, non-profits, health services and community organizations 
around the delivery of housing and services directed toward efforts to reduce homelessness 
in the region, and report to the Community Advisory Board (CAB) through the Alliance 
Executive Director; 

• Supporting engagement in the development of a Community Plan that includes outcomes and 
indicators to be used to guide action and monitor progress toward effectively addressing 
issues related to homelessness in the capital region; 

• Engaging with key community organizations and individuals, including Indigenous, in the 
community beyond the homeless serving sector and gather all available information related 
to the community’s local homelessness priorities, and develop a coordinated approach to 
addressing homelessness in the region; 

• Receiving and reporting on quantitative and qualitative data that outlines progress toward the 
achievement of the goals of the regional Community Plan; and 

• Providing advice and feedback on any plans or strategies required by the Government of 
Canada related to the CRD’s delivery of the RHP. 

 



APPENDIX G: Funding Alternatives 

Chart 1: Alliance Funding 2024-2026 – Alternative 1 

Provides for a one-time increase in operational support for 2024 that is to be revisited for 2025. 

This is to enable the CRD to balance those activities it wishes to advance directly and those it 

wishes to retain the support of a third-party while also seeking to manage requisition impact.  

Chart 2: Alliance Funding 2024-2026 – Alternative 2 

Does not provide for any increase in operational support in 2024. This alternative still allows for 

the funding commitment to be revisited in 2025. 

Chart 3: Alliance Funding 2024-2026 – Alternative 3 

Provides for an ongoing increase of operational funding starting in 2024 that is indexed to 

corporate guidelines assumptions. This funding is intended to be ongoing. 
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RZ000280 

REPORT TO THE JUAN DE FUCA LAND USE COMMITTEE 
MEETING OF TUESDAY, AUGUST 20, 2024 

SUBJECT Zoning Bylaw Amendment Application for Two Properties Located at 
11237 West Coast Road – described as: 

• Lot A Section 74 Renfrew District Plan VIP71883 – 11237 West Coast
Road; PID: 024-937-207; and

• That Part of Section 74, Renfrew District Lying to the North of the
Northerly Boundary of Plan 109RW; PID: 009-590-412

ISSUE SUMMARY 

To rezone the subject property from the Forestry (AF) zone to an amended Rural Commercial 
Recreation (Campground) (CR-2) zone with amendments. 

BACKGROUND 

The 78.11 ha subject property is comprised of two parcels including a 7.7 ha waterfront parcel 
and a 70.4 ha upland Private Managed Forest Land (PMFL) parcel. The subject properties are 
located on the north and south sides of West Coast Road, adjacent to the eastern boundary of 
Jordan River Regional Park – Sandcut Beach (Appendix A). Both parcels are zoned 
Forestry (AF) under the Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992, Bylaw No. 2040, and adjoin AF 
zoned lands to the east and west, and Resource Land (RL) zoned land to the north. The subject 
property is designated Coastal Upland (CU) in the Shirley-Jordan River Official Community Plan 
(OCP), Bylaw No. 4001. Portions of the property are located in Steep Slopes, Sensitive 
Ecosystem, and Riparian development permit areas. 

At its meeting of January 17, 2023, the Juan de Fuca Land Use Committee (LUC) 
recommended referral of proposed Bylaw No. 4518 to rezone the subject property from AF to an 
amended CR-2 zone. The Bylaw was referred to the Shirley-Jordan River Advisory Planning 
Commission (APC); Pacheedaht First Nation; T’Sou-ke First Nation; CRD departments; BC 
Hydro; District of Sooke; Archaeology Branch, Ministry of Environment and Climate Change 
Strategy – Water Protection Section; Island Health; Ministry of Transportation & Infrastructure; 
RCMP; and Sooke School District #62. 

The applicant responded to the referral comments by revising the proposed CR-2 zone 
amendments to reduce the overall tourist accommodation density by approximately 50%, 
remove the assembly use, add an outdoor recreational facility use, and offer a public trail 
amenity contribution (Appendix B). The proposal includes an updated concept plan 
(Appendix C), an Environmental Assessment Report, Geotechnical Report, Wildfire Plan, 
Emergency Plan, historical information, and a Water Supply Assessment (Appendix D). Staff 
have revised Bylaw No. 4518 in accordance with the applicant’s proposal for consideration 
(Appendix E). 

ALTERNATIVES 

Alternative 1 
The Land Use Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
1. That the referral of proposed Bylaw No. 4518, "Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992,

Amendment Bylaw No. 158, 2022", to the Shirley-Jordan River Advisory Planning
Commission, Pacheedaht First Nation; T’Sou-ke First Nation; CRD departments, BC Hydro;
District of Sooke; the Archaeology Branch and Water Protection; the Ministry of Land,
Water, and Resource Stewardship; the Ministry of Transportation & Infrastructure; RCMP;

https://goto.crd.bc.ca/teams/pps/jdfeap/_layouts/15/DocIdRedir.aspx?ID=PPSS-35010459-2429
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and Sooke School District #62 be approved and comments be received; 
2. That proposed Bylaw No. 4518 be introduced and read a first time and read a second time;
3. That in accordance with the provisions of Section 469 of the Local Government Act, the

Director of the Juan de Fuca Electoral Area, or Alternate Director, be delegated authority to
hold a Public Hearing with respect to Bylaw No. 4518; and

4. That prior to adoption of Bylaw No. 4518:
a. That a commercial access permit be issued by the Ministry of Transportation and

Infrastructure; and
b. That the landowner provide an amenity contribution by registering a statutory right-of-

way adjacent to West Coast Road in favour of the Capital Regional District for the
purpose of establishing a public trail, and that staff be directed to ensure that all
conditions are satisfied towards completion and registration.

Alternative 2 

That proposed Bylaw No. 4518 not proceed. 

IMPLICATIONS 

Legislative Implications 

The Advisory Planning Commissions (APCs) were established to make recommendations to the 
Land Use Committee on land use planning matters referred to them related to Part 14 of the 
Local Government Act (LGA). The Shirley-Jordan River APC considered the application at its 
meeting on February 7, 2023. 

Should the proposal proceed, a public hearing pursuant to Part 14, Division 3 of the LGA will be 
required subsequent to the amendment passing second reading by the CRD Board. Property 
owners within 500 m of the subject properties will be sent notice of the proposed bylaw 
amendment and a public hearing will be advertised in the local paper and on the CRD website. 

A water licence is required for non-domestic ground or surface water use pursuant to the Water 
Sustainability Act. This approval is issued by the Province and is not a precondition for rezoning. 

Regional Growth Strategy Implications 

Section 445 of the LGA requires that all bylaws adopted by a regional district board after the 
board has adopted a regional growth strategy (RGS) be consistent with the RGS. In accordance 
with CRD policy, where a zoning bylaw amendment that applies to land within the Shirley-
Jordan River OCP area is consistent with the OCP, it does not proceed to the full CRD Board 
for a determination of consistency with the RGS. Staff are of the opinion that the proposed 
amendment is consistent with the policies of the Shirley-Jordan River OCP. 

First Nations Implications 

The CRD pursues enhancement of reciprocal engagement and procedures with First Nation 
communities towards advancing reconciliation, including but not limited, to the application 
referral process. The subject property is located within the asserted traditional territory of the 
Pacheedaht and T’Sou-ke First Nations and each nation will be invited to participate in the land 
use review process to better inform consideration of the proposal. 

Referral Comments 

Referrals were sent to 11 agencies, Pacheedaht and T’Sou-ke First Nations, appropriate CRD 
departments, and to the Shirley-Jordan River APC. Comments received are summarized below 
and included in Appendix F. 

BC Hydro, District of Sooke and CRD Bylaw Enforcement stated that they have no comments or 
concerns with the proposal. 

../../_layouts/15/DocIdRedir.aspx?ID=PPSS-35010459-3226


Report to the LUC – August 20, 2024 
RZ000280 3 

PPSS-35010459-3226 

Ministry of Forests – Archaeological Branch stated that while a permit is not required as records 
indicate that there are no known archaeological sites, shoreline areas of the subject property 
have a high potential for previously unidentified sites. Because of this high potential, if 
archaeological materials are exposed during future development activities, then a permit will be 
required. The Archaeology Branch strongly recommends engaging in an eligible consulting 
archaeologist prior to any land-altering activities. 

Ministry of Forests – Island District stated that proposed stream crossings will require 
applications under Section 11 of the Water Sustainability Act, before such work may start. 

Ministry of Land, Water and Resource Stewardship advised that a Riparian Areas Protection 
Regulation (RAPR) assessment had been received and is awaiting review. While awaiting 
provincial consideration, the Ministry prescribed recommendations to mitigate loss of wildlife 
habitat, as well as potential human-wildlife conflicts by proposing adherence to the 
environmental protection measures described in the Environmental Assessment. Additionally, 
development of the property cannot be considered by the local government prior to provincial 
approval of the RAPR assessment, which may stipulate additional measures. 

Island Health cited provincial regulation and stated that the drinking water and sewage systems 
require approval and filing with Island Health. The proposed development will require a drinking 
water system permit issued by Island Health prior to operation and use by members of the 
public. Issuance of a permit is also required before any food may be sold and or produced for 
public consumption. 

Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure (MOTI) advised that the proposal does not fall 
within Section 52 of the Transportation Act and will not require formal Ministry approval. 
However, a commercial access permit will be required prior to operation. 

Pacheedaht First Nation advised that it holds rights and title in this area, that members carryout 
traditional uses in relation to the watercourses and land, emphasizing the importance of mutual 
engagement regarding the proposed land uses. While recognizing the demand for camping 
opportunities in the Jordan River area, the Nation explained that commercial assembly uses can 
often be problematic and that this use needs to be further specified within the proposed bylaw. 
The Nation also commented that the application does not appear to contemplate the critical 
community need for long-term residences. 

T’Sou-ke First Nation stated that it does not have confidence in this proposal and recommended 
that any development (following the rezoning application) should be required to develop a 
management strategy to address waste management; the preservation and protection of 
watercourses; on-going wildlife monitoring; and systems to protect and preserve species-at-risk. 
It was also recommended that access to areas of potential cultural and archaeological 
significance, such as shoreline areas that may contain a shell midden, should be restricted and 
investigated by an archaeologist. 

CRD – First Nations Relations commented that while there are no registered archaeological 
sites within the subject properties, the physical characteristics and location of the development 
are commonly associated with such sites. The department recommended that an archaeologist 
be retained to conduct an archaeological assessment and apply for a permit prior to 
development. 

CRD – Building Inspection noted that building permits will be required for each of the proposed 
buildings. 

CRD – Protective Services, Fire and Emergency Programs confirmed that this property is within 
the Shirley Fire Protection Area. However, the parcels are considered “unprotected” as they are 
9 km away from the nearest fire hall. The department will require a report from a qualified 
professional to ensure that it meets the emergency access and National Fire Protection 
Association Standards during the development or building permit process. The division 
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recommended that a report from a registered professional to address potential wildfire hazards 
at the property be obtained and that best practices regarding tsunami safety be followed since 
lower elevations of the property are within the hazard area. The division also recommended that 
the landowner consider severe wind and rainstorms, earthquakes, flooding, extreme heat and 
land subsidence for the design and management of the proposed commercial campground. 

CRD – Regional Parks stated that there is support for the provision of outdoor recreation 
opportunities where the Sandcut Creek waterfalls, surrounded by the subject property, attracts 
visitors. The division was concerned about the visual impact of cabins from the beach areas and 
recommended that a 50 m buffer be provided on the subject property for lands abutting the 
regional park and parallel to West Coast Road. The division expressed interest in pursuing a 
coordinated approach to the management of any impacts that result from increased traffic and 
supported the connection of a pedestrian and bike friendly trail between the regional park and 
lands beyond. The department also expressed interested in acquiring the small, segmented 
areas of the subject property that are adjacent to the regional park. 

CRD – Regional Planning advised that the proposed land uses are consistent with the OCP and 
RGS, and that a review by the full CRD Board is not required at this time. The division noted 
that communities have the ability to define low-impact uses through OCPs and zoning bylaws, 
as well as during the public input stages of a bylaw amendment application. 

The Juan de Fuca Electoral Area Parks and Recreation Advisory Commission reviewed the 
application at its meeting on January 24, 2023, and provided the following recommendation by 
resolution: 

MOVED by Commissioner McKay, SECONDED by Commissioner Sloan that the 
Juan de Fuca Electoral Area Parks and Recreation Advisory Commission 
recommends to the Juan de Fuca Land Use Committee: 
1. That the Commission supports zoning amendment application RZ000280 as the 

proposal would provide economic benefit to tourism and recreation in the Shirley 
–Jordan River area; 

2. That the Commission recognizes that additional visitors require additional trails 
and accesses by residents and visitors alike; 

3. That, with this application, the Commission recommends expansion of the trail 
network to existing trails and future trails for connectivity; and 

4. That the Commission supports the expansion of Jordan River Park to its natural 
boundary on the south-east boundary of Sandcut Creek. 

The Shirley-Jordan River APC met on February 7, 2023, to consider the application with 59 
members of the public in attendance and made the following motion: 

MOVED by Melody Kimmel, SECONDED by Vivi Curutchet that the Shirley-Jordan 
River Advisory Planning Commission recommends to the Juan de Fuca Land Use 
Committee that that the Advisory Planning Commission does not support the 
proposal in its current form and that the proposal return to the Advisory Planning 
Commission at a smaller scale and with the assembly uses more clearly specified 
and that the applicant address the concerns expressed by the community. 

Land Use Implications 

The Shirley-Jordan River OCP designates the subject properties as Coastal Upland. The intent 
of the Coastal Upland land use designation is to support the continued use of such lands for 
forestry. Lands in this designation consist primarily of parcels enrolled in the PMFL program or 
zoned for forestry uses. If lands are removed from the PMFL program, then uses such as low-
impact recreation and low-impact tourism are supported. Community parks, single-family 
residential, and agriculture are also supported in this designation. 

Development proposals should demonstrate that community values can be protected and 
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implemented subject to the criteria outlined by the OCP, including geotechnical constraints, 
protection of environmental and culturally significant features, emergency planning, appropriate 
scale of development, provision of adequate setbacks and vegetated buffers, and protection of 
lands that are considered regionally or locally significant. Where the OCP provides flexibility on 
terminology such as low-impact tourism, metrics can be established in proposed zones through 
the referral process and public consultation and comment. 

Comments received through the referral process conveyed that the scale, assembly use, and 
tourism accommodation density presented in the initial proposal was inconsistent with low-
impact tourism. It was also recommended that additional information be provided to better 
inform the proposed zone and stipulate regulations to address the noted concerns. In particular, 
the APC did not support the initial application, directing the proponent to reduce the scale of 
potential development, provide contextually appropriate conditions for the assembly use, and 
address the environmental; emergency management; traffic; and burdening of local amenity 
concerns expressed by the community. 

The revised proposal maintains permissions for a campground that includes camping spaces, 
tourist cabins; staff accommodation; a convenience store; one caretaker dwelling; and one one-
family dwelling. However, in response to the referral process, the permitted tourist 
accommodation density has been reduced from 2 camping spaces per hectare and a maximum 
of 100 camping spaces, to 0.9 camping spaces per hectare (55% decrease) and a maximum of 
64 camping spaces per parcel (36% decrease); and from 2 tourist cabins per hectare and a 
maximum of 20 cabins per parcel, to 0.3 tourist cabins per hectare (85% decrease) and a 
maximum of 23 tourist cabins per parcel (23% decrease). This represents an overall average 
decrease of approximately 50%. 

The applicant has removed assembly use from the proposal and submitted a separate 
temporary use permit (TUP) application (TP000013) with conditions to establish a gathering 
space at a scale intended to address the concerns expressed by the APC. The initial application 
intended for the assembly use to also encompass spaces for play and leisure related outdoor 
recreation activities commonly associated with a campground. With the removal of assembly 
use, the application intends to accommodate those outdoor recreation activities by permitting an 
outdoor recreation facility accessory use to establish permit parks, trails, open spaces, playing 
fields, and playgrounds for a commercial campground. 

In response to comments from the JdF EA Parks and Recreation Advisory Commission, the 
proposal offers a public trail amenity contribution in the form of a statutory right-of-way through 
the property along West Coast Road, connecting Jordan River Regional Park to lands to the 
east. 

The proposal also includes an Environmental Report, Geotechnical Report, Wildfire Report, 
Emergency Plan, historical information, and a Water Supply Assessment. 

The Environmental Report responds to comments from the Ministry of Land, Water, and 
Resources Stewardship and public concerns. This report assesses the vegetation, riparian 
areas, climate, wildlife and species-at-risk features on the subject property, which informs future 
development and anticipated permitting requirements. Should the proposed bylaw be approved, 
additional reports will be required through the development permit processes along with the 
Water Sustainability Act and Riparian Areas Regulation requirements for works in a stream and 
impacts within 30 m of the watercourse. The application also provides a Water Supply 
Assessment anticipating that the entire proposed development has an estimated peak demand 
of 62 cubic meters per day. The anticipated quantity exceeds the current water license 
withdrawal rate of 13.6 cubic meters per day from Rockbottom Creek. The assessment 
identifies that an investigation of Rockbottom Creek flow rates will be required to support a new 
water license application. Furthermore, Island Health identified that any water system serving 
members of the public would require permitting by that agency. 
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CRD Protective Services, Fire and Emergency Programs and Building Inspection identified that 
future emergency management of the site is regulated and overseen by the building inspection 
service, the Shirley Fire Department and CRD Bylaw Enforcement. The applicant has 
responded to the recommendation for additional professional reports by providing a 
Geotechnical Report, Wildfire Report and Emergency Plan to guide hazard and risk 
management for the commercial campground’s revised proposal. 

Some members of the public expressed concern that a commercial campground would 
generate additional traffic impacting West Coast Road, which is the only route connecting the 
local area to other communities. The MoTI advised that future development would require a 
commercial access permit. Staff recommend that the commercial access permit be granted prior 
to adoption of Bylaw No. 4518. 

The Archaeology Branch, CRD Archaeology, and T’Sou-ke First Nation emphasized that while 
there are no recorded archaeological sites, it is anticipated that the shoreline areas are of high 
potential; therefore, investigation by an Archaeologist is recommended. The geotechnical report 
identified that some of those shoreline areas are unsuitable for development, and that further 
geotechnical study would be necessary prior to development. In response to these comments 
and the information provided by the reports, the proponent has reduced the scale of 
development near shoreline areas. Buildings and structures adjacent to the sea will also be 
required to meet a 9 m setback from the shoreline property boundary and all future development 
will be required to comply with the requirements of the Heritage Conservation Act, including the 
potential requirement for a permit, as outlined by the Archaeological Branch. 

Comments from the JdF EA Parks and Recreation Advisory Commission address public safety, 
recreation opportunities and connectivity along West Coast Road by recommending the 
establishment of a roadside trail. The applicant has committed to providing a statutory right-of-
way in favour of the CRD for a roadside trail connecting the adjacent Jordan River Regional 
Park with land to the east as an amenity contribution should Bylaw No. 4518 proceed. Such a 
trail would separate pedestrians, cyclists and other users from highway traffic, and potentially 
reduce vehicle trips generated by campground patrons. Staff note that there is opportunity to 
extend the trail corridor along the frontage of the adjoining property to the east through the park 
dedication requirements related to an active subdivision application. 

Staff are of the opinion that the proposed development is aligned with the Coastal Uplands land 
use designation and broader OCP policies. The OCP does not support the development of 
recreational vehicle parks; however, staff would not consider the proposed campground 
development to be of a scale and density typical of such a facility. For comparison, the Otter 
Point Coop is zoned Intermittent Rural Residential (RR-4), which expressly permits “campsites 
used for intermittent accommodation in Recreation Vehicles” with a density of 20 sites per 
hectare. Furthermore, the proposed zone permits a caretaker dwelling and staff 
accommodation, to address housing goals identified in the OCP and concerns expressed by 
some community members during the referral process. 

Should proposed Bylaw No. 4518 proceed, future development involving building construction 
will require the issuance of building permits, as well as development permit applications where 
land alteration or building construction occurs within designated development permit areas. 
Geotechnical, Environmental, and Archaeological concerns would be addressed at that time. 
Based on revisions to the application in response to the comments received, policies of the 
Shirley-Jordan River OCP, and approval requirements for future development, staff recommend 
that that proposed Bylaw No. 4518 be introduced, read a first and second time, and that a public 
hearing with respect to the Bylaw be held. 
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CONCLUSION 

The purpose of Bylaw No. 4518 is to amend Bylaw No. 2040 by removing the subject properties 
from the Forestry (AF) zone and adding them to an amended Rural Commercial Recreation 
(Campground) (CR-2) zone. Staff have prepared proposed Bylaw No. 4518 and recommend 
receipt of the referral comments, first and second reading, and advancement to a public 
hearing. 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Land Use Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
1. That the referral of proposed Bylaw No. 4518, "Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992,

Amendment Bylaw No. 158, 2022", to the Shirley-Jordan River Advisory Planning
Commission, Pacheedaht First Nation; T’Sou-ke First Nation; CRD departments, BC Hydro;
District of Sooke; the Archaeology Branch and Water Protection; the Ministry of Land,
Water, and Resource Stewardship; the Ministry of Transportation & Infrastructure; RCMP;
and Sooke School District #62 be approved and comments be received;

2. That proposed Bylaw No. 4518 be introduced and read a first time and read a second time;
3. That in accordance with the provisions of Section 469 of the Local Government Act, the

Director of the Juan de Fuca Electoral Area, or Alternate Director, be delegated authority to
hold a Public Hearing with respect to Bylaw No. 4518; and

4. That prior to adoption of Bylaw No. 4518:
a. That a commercial access permit be issued by the Ministry of Transportation and

Infrastructure; and
b. That the landowner provide an amenity contribution by registering a statutory right-of-

way adjacent to West Coast Road in favour of the Capital Regional District for the
purpose of establishing a public trail, and that staff be directed to ensure that all
conditions are satisfied towards completion and registration.

Submitted by: Iain Lawrence, RPP, MCIP, Senior Manager, Juan de Fuca Local Area Services 
Concurrence: Shawn Carby, CD, MAL, Acting General Manager, Planning & Protective 

ServicesConcurrence: Shawn Carby, CD, MAL, Chief Administrative Officer 

ATTACHMENTS 
Appendix A: Subject Property and Zoning Map 
Appendix B: Proposed Amendments to the CR-2 Zone 
Appendix C: Updated Concept Plan 
Appendix D: Supplemental Reports and Supporting Information: 

1. Environmental Assessment Report, May 2022
2. Geotechnical Report, July 24, 2022
3. Wildfire Assessment Report, June 2, 2021
4. Campground Emergency Plan, June 28, 2023
5. Property History, December 2023 (Fall 1984)
6. Water Supply Assessment, April 2023

Appendix E: Proposed Bylaw No. 4518 
Appendix F: Referral Comments 
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Appendix A:  Subject Property and Zoning Map 
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Appendix B:  Proposed Amendments to the CR-2 Zone 
  

Blue text indicates proposed additions to the CR-2 zone; Red text indicates regulations that are 
proposed to be removed. 
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Appendix C:  Updated Concept Plan 
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Appendix D:  Supplemental Reports and Supporting Information 
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CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT 
BYLAW NO. 4518 

 
************************************************************************************************************************ 

A BYLAW TO AMEND BYLAW NO. 2040, THE “JUAN DE FUCA LAND USE BYLAW, 1992" 

************************************************************************************************************************
The Capital Regional District Board, in open meeting assembled, enacts as follows: 

1. Bylaw No. 2040 being the “Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992" is hereby amended as follows: 

A. SCHEDULE A, PART 2 - ZONING DISTRICTS 

(a) By deleting the section 23.0 Rural Commercial Recreation (Campgound) Zone – CR-2  
and replacing it with the new 23.0 Rural Commercial Recreation (Campgound) Zone – 
CR-2 as follows: 

23.0 RURAL COMMERCIAL RECREATION (CAMPGOUND) ZONE – CR-2 

23.01 Permitted Uses 

In addition to the uses permitted by Section 4.15 of Part 1 of this Bylaw, the 
following uses and no others shall be permitted in the Rural Commercial 
Recreation (Campground) CR-2 Zone: 

(a) Campground; 
(b) Tourist Cabin; 
(c) One-family dwelling. 

23.02 Permitted Accessory Uses 

In addition to the uses permitted by Section 23.01 of Part 2 of this Bylaw, the 
following Accessory Uses in conjunction with a permitted Principal Use and no 
others shall be permitted in the Rural Commercial Recreation (Campground) 
CR-2 Zone: 

(a) Convenience store accessory to a campground use; 
(b) Outdoor recreation facilities pursuant to Part 2, Subsection 23.10; 
(c) Staff accommodation pursuant to Part 2, Subsection 23.10; 
(d) Caretaker dwelling unit. 

23.03 Minimum Lot Size for 
Subdivision Purposes 

 (a) The minimum lot size for subdivision 

purposes is no less than 4.0 ha. 

   
23.04 Density  (a) One one-family dwelling per parcel; 

(b) 23 tourist cabins per parcel or 0.3 

tourist cabins per hectare, whichever is 

less; 

(c) 64 camping spaces per parcel or 0.9 

camping spaces per hectare; whichever 
is less; 

(d) One convenience store per parcel; 

(e) One Caretaker dwelling unit per parcel. 

   
23.05 Height  (a) Maximum height shall be 11.0 m for the 

dwelling unit and 6.0 m for all other 

principle buildings, structures and uses. 
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23.06 Lot Coverage  (a) Maximum lot coverage shall be 10 
percent. 

   

23.07 Setback Requirements  (a) All camping spaces, buildings, and 

structures must be setback a minimum of 

9.0 m from every parcel line; and 50.0 m 

from the boundary of land designated as 

park.  

23.08 Separation Space  (a) All camping spaces and tourist cabins 

must be individual or freestanding; 

separated by a minimum of 9.0 m 

measured from the outside surface of the 

nearest exterior wall of a building or 

structure; and the outermost edge of an 

area cleared of trees and other 

vegetation for a camping space or other 

outdoor uses. 

 

23.09 Screening  (a) A vegetative screen of not less than  

50.0 m is required from the lot lines of 

parcels designated as park.  

23.10 Definitions 

(a) For the purpose of the RURAL COMMERCIAL RECREATION (CAMPGROUND) 
ZONE - CR-2, the following definitions apply: 

Staff Accommodation means the accessory use of tourist cabins, for the 
accommodation of employees.   

Outdoor Recreation Facility means a recreation infrastructure activity 
undertaken outdoors as a portion of, or related to, a private commercial enterprise 
and includes parks, trails, open space, playing fields, and playgrounds. 
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B. SCHEDULE B, ZONING MAPS 
 

(a) By deleting LOT A SECTION 74 RENFREW DISTRICT PLAN VIP71883 from the 
Forestry zone - AF, and adding to the Rural Commercial Recreation (Campground Zone 
– CR-2, as shown in Plan No. 1. 

(b) By deleting THAT PART OF SECTION 74, RENFREW DISTRICT LYING TO THE 
NORTH OF THE NORTHERLY BOUNDARY OF PLAN 109RW from the Forestry zone 
- AF, and adding to the Rural Commercial Recreation (Campground Zone – CR-2, as 
shown in Plan No. 1. 

 

Plan No. 1 of Bylaw No. 4518, an amendment to Bylaw No. 2040 
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2. This Bylaw may be cited as "Juan de Fuca Land Use Bylaw, 1992, Amendment Bylaw No. 158, 2022". 

READ A FIRST TIME THIS  day of    2024 

READ A SECOND TIME THIS  day of    2024 

READ A THIRD TIME THIS  day of   2024 

ADOPTED THIS  day of   2024 

    
CHAIR CORPORATE OFFICER 



 
 
 

REPORT TO PLANNING AND PROTECTIVE SERVICES COMMITTEE 
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, JULY 17, 2024 

 
 
SUBJECT Bylaw No. 4602: Foodlands Access Service 
 
ISSUE SUMMARY 
 
To approve the establishment of the Foodlands Access Service for the purpose of facilitating 
access to productive farmland in the Capital Regional District (CRD). 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
On November 8, 2023, the CRD Board directed that staff bring forward a Foodlands Access 
Service Bylaw with options for bylaw approval. 
The CRD needs new service authorities and funding to deliver this work. Specifically, the new 
service must be able to acquire, hold, and manage land through lease agreements, enter into 
contracts with service providers, administer grants and raise and spend funds to pay for operating 
and capital expenses. The decision-point for new service establishment is to identify these 
general authorities and set a requisition limit that caps how much money the service can raise. 
Staff would develop detailed program direction at the operational level and seek Board approval 
through the annual service and financial planning process. 
Staff have drafted a new establishment bylaw (Appendix A) and a proposed program budget 
(Appendix B) for consideration. 
History 
The proposed Foodlands Access Service is the culmination of more than a decade of work by 
CRD staff and community agriculture advocates working towards the establishment of an 
agricultural land trust to support farmers and protect farmland in the CRD. The creation of the 
Foodlands Access Service will be the CRD’s first service focused on agriculture and is a 
significant step toward that long-term goal. 
From the development of the Regional Food and Agriculture Strategy (2016) to the integration of 
agriculture goals into the Regional Growth Strategy (RGS) (2018), the CRD’s focus was to support 
local agriculture through new regional policy direction. With well-established policy, the next step 
explored new service delivery with completion of the Regional Foodlands Access Program 
Feasibility Study (2019) and the Foodlands Trust Business Case (2022). 
Proposed Service and Program Delivery 
In July 2023, the CRD Board received an update on the proposed service. CRD staff indicated 
that operational requirements would be delivered through two programs of work: surplus land 
conversion to agricultural use and land matching grants. At this meeting, the CRD Board also 
gave conditional approval for the use of the eastern portion of Bear Hill Regional Park as a trial 
site for the surplus land conversion program. The goal will be to test activating the currently 
underutilized site for agriculture and to explore how this and other surplus lands can be converted 
to productive use. See Appendix C for a location map. If a new service is approved, the proposed 
program on the Bear Hill site would be facilitated through a license agreement with CRD Regional 
Parks, similar in nature to the current agreement with the City of Victoria that lasts until 2035. The 
program would be evaluated at the end of the agreement term and consideration given to the 
ongoing use of the lands for this program. 
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The second proposed program to operate under the Foodlands Access Service is a grant program 
to encourage participation and provide support to farmers in the BC Land Matching Program. This 
provincial program brings together landowners and prospective farmers to enter into land leases 
for farming on privately held lands. The program has proven successful in parts of the province 
but has not seen a high degree of uptake within the CRD. By promoting the program and providing 
startup grant funding support, the goal is to encourage more land matching agreements that will 
bring additional farmland into production while supporting new and expanding farmers who 
participate. 
In the future, the Foodlands Access Service will have the capacity to expand to additional 
agriculture related programing with approval by the CRD Board. A long-term goal of the service 
is the eventual establishment of a farmland trust that will hold, protect, and facilitate access to 
farmland in the region for generations to come. The proposed service and program offerings are 
a first step to prove viability of the concept that can take on an increasing role in farmland 
protection and farmer support in the region. 
Based on these policy directions and program analyses, as well as ongoing engagement with the 
agricultural community in 2022-2024, CRD staff have identified operational requirements, service 
participants and a funding strategy needed to establish a service. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
Alternative 1 
The Planning and Protective Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District 
Board: 
1) That Bylaw No. 4602, “Foodlands Access Service Establishing Bylaw No. 1, 2024”, be 

introduced and read a first, second and third time; 
2) That participating area approval be obtained by regional alternative approval process; and 
3) That Bylaw No. 4602, be forwarded to the Inspector of Municipalities for approval. 

Alternative 2 
That this report be referred back to staff for additional information based on Planning and 
Protective Services Committee direction. 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Alignment with Board & Corporate Priorities 
CRD Corporate Plan initiative 8b-1 is to consider establishment of a new Foodlands Access 
Service. 
Alignment with Existing Plans & Strategies 
Development of a new Foodlands Access Service responds to direction from the CRD Food and 
Agriculture Strategy (2016) and the RGS. Initial service design has been informed by the CRD 
Regional Foodlands Access Program Feasibility Study (2019) and the Kwantlen Polytechnic 
University’s Foodlands Trust Business Case (2022). 
Financial Implications 
Staff have proposed potential costs for this regional service be cost-shared based on population 
(50%) and converted assessment (50%) for the participating partners. The proposed program 
budget for the participating partners for 2025 is presented in Appendix B. 
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The proposed requisition limit for the service is $1,000,000, which will allow for program 
expansion to bring additional farm sites into the service over the next five to ten years. 
Program costs will be identified and approved as part of the service and financial planning 
processes. Costs associated with scoping and planning for implementation are available in 2025. 
If approved, the first year of program spending will be 2026. 

Intergovernmental Implications 
Throughout scoping and development of the proposed service, ongoing updates and feedback 
have been provided to local governments through the Development Planning Advisory Committee 
(DPAC) and to agricultural groups through the Peninsula and Area Agricultural Commission 
(PAAC). The input provided by these groups has been invaluable in refining the service concept. 

Regional Growth Strategy Implications 
The proposed service supports implementation of RGS objective 6.1, which is focused on 
fostering a resilient food and agriculture system. It strives to protect the region’s food and 
farmlands, enhances local food security, expands food system economic opportunities, and 
provides opportunities for expanding farmers to gain access to productive agricultural lands. 

Service Delivery Implications 
The new service seeks to activate surplus CRD owned lands as a pilot project to build 
organizational capacity. The focus is on developing experience in managing farmland leasing and 
agriculture support services. This pilot is intended to prove viability of the approach and, in future 
years, expand to additional regional and municipal properties that can be converted into 
productive farming spaces. If the program proves to be viable, the CRD would canvas 
municipalities to explore potential sites that could be used in this service. As well, a grant program 
is proposed that will support successful land matches made through the BC Land Matching 
Program. 
The proposed Foodlands Access Service would introduce a new service level to the Regional 
Planning Division. A key service delivery assumption is that farm site management is provided by 
a qualified farm site operator. A qualified farm site operator can only be retained once a service 
is established. The farm site operator will be responsible for providing a detailed budget for site 
preparation, equipment and contract service costs. 

Legal Implications 
A regional district may operate any service it deems desirable, provided that on establishment of 
the service by way of service establishing bylaw, it received participating area approval. There 
are three options to obtain participating area approval for Bylaw No. 4602: regional alternative 
approval process; municipal consent on behalf with alternative approval process (AAP) in the 
electoral areas; and referendum/elector assent. 
As a regional service focused on agriculture is most effective if all municipalities and electoral 
areas participate, a regional AAP is advised. This would put the responsibility of objecting to the 
service on the electors, who, if 10% were not in favour, could determine not to proceed. Should 
an AAP approach be selected, a detailed communications plan will be developed to inform the 
public about the proposed new service prior to the AAP process. Given an AAP is already required 
in the Electoral Areas, it is recommended a regional AAP be pursued. 
An alternative is the municipal consent process, which would permit any municipality or electoral 
area to effectively veto the creation of the service if they were not in favour of its establishment. 
Finally, the referendum approach would give voters a direct say on the service, but it would be 
significantly more costly and have a longer timeline than the other options. 
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CONCLUSION 
 
Local farming and overall food security has long been a concern in the capital region, as the cost 
of farmland and an aging farmer population have continued to rise. To address this, CRD staff 
from Regional Planning have prepared Bylaw No. 4602, “Foodlands Access Service”, to establish 
a service focused on facilitating affordable access to productive farmland for new and expanding 
farmers. The service will start with a test site to establish viability on a portion of Bear Hill Regional 
Park, with the goal of expanding to additional sites in the future. This work will be done in 
partnership with an experienced qualified farm site operator who will manage daily operations at 
the site. The service authorities being proposed are required to undertake this pilot project but 
have also been drafted broadly to allow for other agriculture supporting programs to be proposed 
in the future. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Planning and Protective Services Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District 
Board: 
1) That Bylaw No. 4602, “Foodlands Access Service Establishing Bylaw No. 1, 2024”, be 

introduced and read a first, second and third time; 
2) That participating area approval be obtained by regional alternative approval process; and 
3) That Bylaw No. 4602, be forwarded to the Inspector of Municipalities for approval. 
 
 
Submitted by: Kevin Lorette, P. Eng., MBA, General Manager, Planning & Protective Services 
Concurrence: Kristen Morley, J.D., General Manager, Corporate Services & Corporate Officer 
Concurrence: Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Appendix A: Draft Bylaw No. 4602, “Foodlands Access Service Establishing Bylaw No. 1, 2024” 
Appendix B: Proposed Program Budget 
Appendix C: Bear Hill Farm Site Map 
 



CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT 
BYLAW NO. 4602 

************************************************************************************************************* 
A BYLAW TO ESTABLISH A SERVICE FOR THE PURPOSE OF 

FOODLANDS ACCESS 
******************************************************************************************************************

WHEREAS: 

A. The Board of the Capital Regional District wishes to establish a regional Foodlands Access
Service (the “Service”) to address the decline of productive farmland in the Capital Regional
District; and

B. Participating area approval is required and elector approval has been obtained for the entire
service area by alternative approval process, pursuant to s. 342(4) of the Local Government
Act; and,

C. The approval of the Inspector of Municipalities has been obtained under s. 342(1)(a) of the
Local Government Act.

NOW THEREFORE the Board of the Capital Regional District, in open meeting assembled, enacts as 
follows: 

Service 

1. The service being established and to be operated is a service to preserve and coordinate
preservation and access to farmland for agricultural use, and to promote regional food
security, including, without limiting the foregoing:
a) purchasing, leasing or otherwise acquiring land to be used for agriculture and

agricultural-related activities;
b) providing capital funding for improvements to agricultural land, and operational funding

for delivery of service programs on agricultural land;
c) entering into agreements with third parties for service delivery and operation of programs

in support of the service;
d) providing grants or financial assistance to support agricultural initiatives that promote

beneficial and sustainable agricultural practices and regional food security; and
e) delivering the service and achieving the service goals through education, outreach, and

other promotional activities.

Boundaries 

2. The boundaries of the service area are coterminous with the boundaries of the Capital
Regional District.

Participating Areas 

3. All municipalities and electoral areas within the Capital Regional District are the participating
areas for this service.

Appendix A
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Cost Recovery 

4. As provided in Section 378 of the Local Government Act, the annual cost of providing the
Service shall be recovered by one or more of the following:
a) property value taxes imposed in accordance with Division 3 of Part 11 of the Local

Government Act;
b) fees and charges imposed under Section 397 of the Local Government Act;
c) revenues raised by other means authorized by the Local Government Act or another

Act;
d) revenues received by way of agreement, enterprise, gift, grant or otherwise.

Cost Apportionment 

5. a) The annual costs for the service, net of grants and other revenues, shall be apportioned
among the participating areas, as follows: 
i. Fifty (50) percent of the costs shall be recovered on the basis of the population of

the participating areas; and
ii. Fifty (50) percent on the converted value of land and improvements in the

participating areas.
b) Population, for the purpose of this section, is the population estimate as determined

annually by the Regional Planning department of the Capital Regional District.

Maximum Requisition 

6. In accordance with Section 339(1)(e) of the Local Government Act, the maximum amount
that may be requisitioned annually for the cost of the Service is the greater of:
a) One million ($1,000,000); or

b) An amount equal to the amount that could be raised by a property value tax rate of
$0.00543 per one thousand dollars ($1,000) that, when applied to the net taxable value
of the land and improvements within the Service Area, will yield the maximum amount
that may be requisitioned for the Service.
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Citation 

7. This Bylaw may be cited as the “Foodlands Access Service Establishment Bylaw No. 1,
2024”.

READ A FIRST TIME THIS day of , 2024 

READ A SECOND TIME THIS day of , 2024 

READ A THIRD TIME THIS day of , 2024 
APPROVED BY THE INSPECTOR OF 
MUNICIPALITIES THIS day of , 2024 

RECEIVED PARTICIPATING AREA 
APPROVAL UNDER SECTION 342(4) OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT THIS day of , 2024 

ADOPTED THIS day of , 2024 

CHAIR CORPORATE OFFICER 

FILED WITH THE INSPECTOR OF MUNICIPALITIES THIS   day of 



CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT 
BYLAW NO. 4602 

************************************************************************************************************* 
A BYLAW TO ESTABLISH A SERVICE FOR THE PURPOSE OF 

FOODLANDS ACCESS 
******************************************************************************************************************

WHEREAS: 

A. The Board of the Capital Regional District wishes to establish a regional Foodlands Access
Service (the “Service”) to address the decline of productive farmland in the Capital Regional
District; and

B. Participating area approval is required and assent of the electors has been obtained for the
entire service area by alternative approval process, pursuant to s. 342(4) of the Local
Government Act; and,

C. The approval of the Inspector of Municipalities has been obtained under s. 342(1)(a) of the
Local Government Act.

NOW THEREFORE the Board of the Capital Regional District, in open meeting assembled, enacts as 
follows: 

Service 

1. The service being established and to be operated is a service to preserve and coordinate
preservation and access to farmland for agricultural use, and to promote regional food
security, including, without limiting the foregoing:
a) purchasing, leasing or otherwise acquiring land to be used for agriculture and

agricultural-related activities;
b) providing capital funding for improvements to agricultural land, and operational funding

for delivery of service programs on agricultural land;
c) entering into agreements with third parties for service delivery and operation of

programs in support of the service;
d) providing grants or financial assistance to support agricultural initiatives that promote

beneficial and sustainable agricultural practices and regional food security; and
e) delivering the service and achieving the service goals through education, outreach,

and other promotional activities.

Boundaries 

2. The boundaries of the service area are coterminous with the boundaries of the Capital
Regional District.

Participating Areas 

3. All municipalities and electoral areas within the Capital Regional District are the
participating areas for this service.

Appendix A
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Cost Recovery 

4. As provided in Section 378 of the Local Government Act, the annual cost of providing the
Service shall be recovered by one or more of the following:
a) property value taxes imposed in accordance with Division 3 of Part 11 of the Local

Government Act;
b) fees and charges imposed under Section 397 of the Local Government Act;
c) revenues raised by other means authorized by the Local Government Act or another

Act;
d) revenues received by way of agreement, enterprise, gift, grant or otherwise.

Cost Apportionment 

5. a) The annual costs for the service, net of grants and other revenues, shall be
apportioned among the participating areas, as follows: 
i. Fifty (50) percent of the costs shall be recovered on the basis of the population of

the participating areas; and
ii. Fifty (50) percent on the converted value of land and improvements in the

participating areas.
b) Population, for the purpose of this section, is the population estimate as determined

annually by the Regional Planning department of the Capital Regional District.

Maximum Requisition 

6. In accordance with Section 339(1)(e) of the Local Government Act, the maximum amount
that may be requisitioned annually for the cost of the Service is the greater of:
a) One million ($1,000,000); or

b) An amount equal to the amount that could be raised by a property value tax rate of
$0.00543 per one thousand dollars ($1,000) that, when applied to the net taxable value
of the land and improvements within the Service Area, will yield the maximum amount
that may be requisitioned for the Service.
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Citation 

7. This Bylaw may be cited as the “Foodlands Access Service Establishment Bylaw No. 1,
2024”.

READ A FIRST TIME THIS day of , 2024 

READ A SECOND TIME THIS day of , 2024 

READ A THIRD TIME THIS day of , 2024 
APPROVED BY THE INSPECTOR OF 
MUNICIPALITIES THIS day of , 2024 

RECEIVED PARTICIPATING AREA 
APPROVAL UNDER SECTION 342(4) OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT THIS day of , 2024 

ADOPTED THIS day of , 2024 

CHAIR CORPORATE OFFICER 

FILED WITH THE INSPECTOR OF MUNICIPALITIES THIS   day of 



Appendix B 
 
 

Proposed Program Budget 

 
Table 1 provides a summary of anticipated costs over the first five years of the program. Costs 
reflect a Class C cost estimate (+/- 25-40%), based on information from the 2022 Foodlands Trust 
Business Case. Further cost refinements would be undertaken once a service is established, and 
a qualified farm site operator is selected. 
 
Table 1: Projected Foodlands Access Service Five Year Financial Impacts (2024 estimate) 

Description 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 
Staff $- $- $71,750 $72,990 $74,230 

Contract services $125,000 $127,500 $130,000 $132,500 $135,000 

Site preparation & 
equipment costs $175,000 $- $- $300,000 $- 

Land matching grant 
program $20,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 $100,000 

Operating reserve 
contributions $- $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 $20,000 

TOTAL $320,000 $247,500 $321,750 $625,490 $329,230 
 



Site Maps: 

Bear Hill 

Regional Park 

Farm site 
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Supplemental: Participant Apportionment 

  

FOODLANDS SERVICE 
 

PARTICIPANT APPORTIONMENT SIMULATION 
 

 
Prepared September 2024. 
Assessment and population data is based on information used for 2024 Final Budget, subject to 
annual update. 
 
* The cost per average residential assessment is a theoretical calculation that provides a 
directional indicator on impacts to residential rate payers only. It can be used as an approximation 
of cost for a residential household if a home’s assessment value is at or near the ‘Average 
Residential Assessed Value’ 
 

 Basis of Apportionment    
 50% 50%    

Service 
Participants  

Converted 
Assessments 

(2024)  

Regional Planning 
Population 

(2023)  

Percent of 
Total 

Estimated 
2026 

Requisition 
($) 

Cost Per 
Average 

Residential 
Assessment* 

Municipalities      
  Central Saanich 940,613,176 19,215 4.4% 13,978 $1.68 
  Colwood 826,945,685 21,759 4.4% 14,025 $1.70 
  Esquimalt 687,695,262 19,639 3.8% 12,214 $1.88 
  Highlands 133,874,982 2,690 0.6% 1,973 $1.91 
  Langford 2,186,331,024 52,661 11.0% 35,343 $1.54 
  Metchosin 228,180,080 5,242 1.1% 3,598 $2.09 
  North Saanich 928,795,732 13,118 3.7% 11,714 $2.01 
  Oak Bay 1,262,567,858 19,602 5.2% 16,555 $2.43 
  Saanich 5,433,968,140 129,098 27.2% 87,205 $1.89 
  Sidney 769,254,206 12,878 3.3% 10,420 $1.25 
  Sooke 582,186,138 16,776 3.2% 10,393 $1.43 
  Victoria 5,022,381,103 99,276 23.0% 73,451 $1.55 
  View Royal 506,524,168 13,147 2.7% 8,526 $1.80 
 19,509,317,554 425,101 93.6% 299,395  
      
Electoral Areas      
  Juan de Fuca 369,767,091 5,784 1.5% 4,864 $1.20 
  Saltspring Island 695,133,309 12,075 3.0% 9,572 $1.44 
  Southern Gulf Islands 550,966,010 5,598 1.9% 6,170 $0.90 
 1,615,866,410 23,457 6.4% 20,605  
      
Total 21,125,183,964 448,558 100.00% 320,000  
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REPORT TO REGIONAL PARKS COMMITTEE 
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, JULY 24, 2024 

 
 
SUBJECT Royal Oak Golf Course Lands – Interim Management Guidelines 
 
ISSUE SUMMARY 
 
Capital Regional District (CRD) staff are seeking approval to implement the Royal Oak Golf 
Course Lands Interim Management Guidelines (IMG). The purpose of the IMG is to guide the 
operation of the former Royal Oak Golf Course property (the property) until First Nations interests 
are addressed and land from the property is included within an approved park management plan. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The CRD purchased the property, a 10.92-hectare (27-acre) lot located in the District of Saanich 
and adjacent to Elk/Beaver Lake Regional Park and Saanich Commonwealth Place, on 
October 31, 2023. The property has remained vacant since the golf course closed in 2017, with 
the exception of some informal recreational use of the grounds by the public and a private golf 
business operating from the former clubhouse building whose lease was transferred to the CRD 
during the acquisition. 
 
CRD staff are currently engaging with First Nations to determine their interests in the property. 
Once these interests are understood, staff will determine whether any land from the property 
should be added to Elk/Beaver Lake Regional Park or if it should be established into a separate, 
new regional park. Given the age of the existing 2010 Elk/Beaver Lake and Bear Hill Regional 
Parks Management Plan, which last went through a full management planning process in 1992, 
staff recommend that this plan be repealed and replaced if land from the property is added to it. 
The development of a new management plan for Elk/Beaver Lake and Bear Hill regional parks 
would provide the opportunity to incorporate all past acquisitions made to both parks since the 
original plan was approved, in addition to providing updated management direction that aligns 
with the Regional Parks and Trails Strategic Plan 2022-2032 (Strategic Plan). If land from the 
property is used to establish a new regional park, a separate management plan will be developed 
for this park. Creating a separate park management plan provides the opportunity to consider a 
unique park classification and management direction for the land that is distinct from Elk/Beaver 
Regional Park. 
 
While discussions with First Nations are ongoing and prior to a new management plan being in 
place, direction is needed to guide the interim management of the property. Staff developed the 
IMG (Appendix A), which prioritizes building relationships and gathering information needed to 
better understand the property’s park values and inform the development of a new park 
management plan. The IMG further guides the securement of the property and establishes how 
it is to be utilized on an interim basis, prior to a park management plan being in place. Once First 
Nations interests have been addressed and land from the property has been included within an 
approved park management plan, the IMG will no longer be used to manage the property. 
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ALTERNATIVES 
 
Alternative 1 
The Regional Parks Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
That the Royal Oak Golf Course Lands Interim Management Guidelines be adopted. 
 
Alternative 2 
That the Royal Oak Golf Course Lands Interim Management Guidelines be referred back to staff 
with direction for revision. 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Alignment with Existing Plans & Strategies 
 
The IMG broadly supports the five priority areas within the Strategic Plan. It provides guidance to 
establish collaborative working relationships with First Nations to continue the CRD’s 
reconciliatory action. It further guides gathering information needed to inform conservation, visitor 
experience, climate action and resiliency, and access and equity-related park management 
actions that could be implemented through a future park management plan. 
 
Environmental & Climate Action 
 
The property provides habitat for several native plant and animal species and has an important 
role within natural systems in the region. The IMG includes multiple interim management actions 
that support ecological restoration and conservation initiatives and seeks to better understand the 
property’s natural values. It further includes interim management actions that support the 
development of climate change mitigation and adaptation measures that could be implemented 
through a future park management plan. 
 
Initial observations have confirmed the presence of the threatened Pacific Coast population of 
western painted turtle (Chrysemys picta bellii). Steps will be taken to monitor and mitigate threats 
to protect and enhance habitat for this species on the property. 
 
First Nations Implications 
 
Six First Nations governments were identified as having asserted Territory over the property. 
Discussions between the CRD and these Nations began during the land acquisition process to 
advise them of the purchase and to begin to understand their interests in the property. An 
additional Nation communicated interest in the property after acquisition and has since been 
included in the discussions. 
 
The CRD recently forwarded a draft copy of the IMG to these Nations for information and 
committed to continuing discussions to identify and pursue opportunities that respect and support 
First Nations self-determination. This includes identifying approaches that support First Nations 
environmental, social, cultural, and economic interests in the property. 
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Equity, Diversity & Inclusion 
 
The IMG includes an interim management action that supports the identification of barriers to 
access and equity within the property that could be addressed through a future park management 
plan. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
No major capital projects are proposed to be implemented while the IMG is in place and 
implementation costs can be covered through the CRD’s regular annual budgeting process. 
 
Staff do not intend to pursue any major repairs to the existing clubhouse building and adjacent 
parking lot until First Nations interests are understood. This area will remain restricted to public 
use while these investigations are ongoing and the existing business lease renewed on a month-
to-month basis once it expires in April of 2025. 
 
Service Delivery Implications 
 
Since the golf course ceased operations in 2017, the former golf cart pathways have been used 
by the public for walking, running, dog walking and cycling. The former fairways are also 
frequented by disc golf players who have set up an informal disc golf course with metal tone poles 
(tonals) as targets. Based on observational data, CRD staff estimate that of all recreational 
activities currently taking place on the property, 75-80% are pedestrian pathway users and  
20-25% are disc golfers. 
 
Staff’s recommendation is that the CRD continue to make the property available for public use 
while the IMG is in place and that the existing pathways be maintained as hiking trails for walking, 
running, leash-optional dog walking and similar pedestrian uses. CRD staff are currently exploring 
options to partner with an established recreation group to continue to allow disc golf on the 
property on a temporary basis while staff assess its compatibility within the regional parks system 
through the development of the Stewardship Plan. The consideration of formally sanctioning disc 
golf on the property on a long-term basis, as well as other more active outdoor recreation 
opportunities, such as cycling and equestrian use, would need to occur through the development 
of a park management plan. This will provide an opportunity for all voices to be heard and interests 
expressed as part of the public and First Nations engagement processes that inform management 
plan development. 
 
Social Implications 
 
Implementing the IMG clearly communicates how the CRD intends to manage the property and 
what recreation opportunities are available while it’s in place. The IMG includes flexibility to adapt 
management activities based on public feedback and new information, while the CRD continues 
to learn more about the property and engages with First Nations. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
CRD staff are seeking approval to implement the IMG to guide the operation of the Royal Oak 
Golf Course Lands property while conversations with First Nations are ongoing and in the 
absence of a park management plan. The IMG supports Strategic Plan direction and prioritizes 
building relationships and gathering information needed to inform the development of a new park 
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management plan. It further guides the securement of the property and establishes how it is to be 
utilized on an interim basis. Once First Nations interests have been addressed and land from the 
property is included in an approved park management plan, the IMG will no longer be used to 
manage the property. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Regional Parks Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
That the Royal Oak Golf Course Lands Interim Management Guidelines be adopted. 
 
Submitted by: Mike MacIntyre, Senior Manager, Regional Parks 

Concurrence: Luisa Jones, MBA, General Manager, Parks, Recreation & Environmental Services 

Concurrence: Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
Appendix A: Royal Oak Golf Course Lands – Interim Management Guidelines (July 2024) 
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REPORT TO THE SOOKE & ELECTORAL AREA PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION 
MEETING OF TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 03, 2024 

 
 
SUBJECT Capital Project Funding - SEAPARC 
 
ISSUE SUMMARY 
 
To request approval for borrowing to fund capital projects under the Sooke & Electoral Area Parks 
and Recreation Commission service. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Sooke Skate Park 
 
In 1997, the Rotary Club of Sooke initiated the construction of the Sooke Skate Park, in 
partnership with the Sooke & Electoral Area Parks and Recreation Commission (SEAPARC) and 
School District 62. The Rotary Club agreed to build the park and the Commission agreed to lease 
the site from School District 62 and maintain the park upon its completion. The Sooke Skate Park 
is currently at end of life. The current land lease is month-to-month. Long-term lease negotiations 
with the school board are underway. 
 
The existing skate park structure provides very limited opportunities for an incremental renovation 
approach. The feature dimensioning and layout of the skate park do not meet modern design 
standards and the steel and concrete installation is not compliant with modern specifications. 
There is extensive surface deterioration. Repair of the skate park is not a financially viable option. 
 
Staff have contracted a consultant, Radius Skate Parks, to engage with residents to establish a 
concept design for replacement of the Sooke Skate Park. The next steps for replacement would 
involve technical design, demolition and construction of a new skate park. Existing drainage 
issues would be addressed as part of the work. The estimated cost for detailed design and 
construction is $1,100,000 and would extend the service life of the skate park by approximately 
25 years. Skate Park replacement requires supplementary financing to fund the project. This 
would need to be grant funds or new debt. Staff have been unsuccessful in identifying applicable 
grant funds over the past five years. 
 
Heat Recovery System – Phase One 
 
In 2022, SEAPARC emitted 245 t CO2e, the second-largest emission emitter, accounting for 16% 
of the CRD’s facility greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. To meet the climate targets of the CRD 
and the District of Sooke, projects have been identified in SEAPARC’s 20-year capital plan to 
reduce emissions. 
 
A 2022 building condition assessment completed by engineering consultant, WSP, forms the base 
of the 20-year capital plan for SEAPARC. This assessment identified expected end of life of 
several key components between 2024 and 2030, including: 
• evaluation of arena & pool mechanical systems (2024) 
• replacement of pool boiler system circulation pumps (2026) 
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• replacement of pool dehumidifier heat exchangers (2026) 
• replacement of pool/admin air handling unit and air conditioning condenser (2026) 
• overhaul of pool dehumidifier unit (2030) 

 
When analyzing these required renewals/replacements with a lens on the identified climate goals, 
staff have planned to initiate a heat recovery project, with detailed design in 2025 and construction 
in 2026 in the capital plan. Cost of this project is estimated at $2,200,000 with a Class D estimate 
and will be further refined once detailed design is complete in 2025. This heat recovery project 
will have a significant improvement in the GHG emissions at SEAPARC Recreation Centre and 
will integrate pool and refrigeration systems, domestic hot water and HVAC. The estimated GHG 
reduction is 120 t CO2e. 
 
This project requires new debt to proceed, per the approved 2024-2028 budget. 
 
As the SEAPARC service area does not include the entire Juan de Fuca electoral area, there are 
only two options to obtain participating area approval for borrowing, either through the staff 
recommended alternative approval process or by referendum/elector assent, which is very costly 
to conduct. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
Alternative 1 
That staff be directed to prepare a new loan authorization bylaw to fund the Sooke Skate Park 
replacement and phase one of the heat recovery project for SEAPARC Recreation Centre, with 
electoral approval obtained through the alternative approval process. 
 
Alternative 2 
That staff report back on the timeline and financial implications related to the closure and 
decommissioning of the Sooke Skate Park. 
 
Alternative 3 
That this report be referred back to staff for additional information. 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Alignment with Board & Corporate Priorities 
 
The SEAPARC Recreation Centre heat recovery project is critical to support the CRD Board and 
Corporate Priority on climate action and environment, reducing greenhouse gas emissions. The 
Sooke Skate Park aligns with the Corporate Priority to provide affordable recreation opportunities 
that improve livability. The skate park is a free recreational facility, open to all ages, and includes 
infrastructure for skateboarding, biking and scootering. 
 
Alignment with Existing Plans & Strategies 
 
The 2015-2030 SEAPARC Strategic Plan recommends replacement and expansion of the Sooke 
Skate Park. The skate park renewal is identified in 2024 in the 5-year capital plan. The heat 
recovery project is included in the CRD’s Climate Action Strategy, and also approved in the  
5-year capital plan. 
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Climate Action Implications 
 
The SEAPARC Recreation Centre heat recovery project is critical to reach the corporate target to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 45% by 2030. The estimated GHG reduction is 120 t CO2e 
and will reduce SEAPARC Recreation Centre emissions by almost 50%. This project will also 
significantly reduce domestic water use as it is currently required in the cooling process for the 
refrigeration plant. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
The estimated cost for the skate park including detailed design and construction is $1,100,000 
and would extend the service life of the skate park by approximately 25 years. 
 
The heat recovery project is estimated to cost up to $2,200,000. Costs will be further refined once 
detailed design is complete in 2025. The budget estimate for standard replacement of certain 
heating and cooling components identified in the building condition assessment are estimated at 
$500,000 and would be incorporated in the heat recovery project. This project is estimated to 
save approximately $300,000 in operating costs over the lifetime of the equipment. 
 
In the approved 5-year capital plan in the 2024-2028 budget, the skate renewal was proposed to 
be funded by capital reserves ($250,000) and grants ($750,000) but grant funding is not 
materializing due to unavailability of appropriate programs. The heat recovery project was 
proposed to be funded by new debt ($2,050,000) and grants ($150,000).  
 
The capital reserve balance is estimated to be $985,000 at the end of 2024 and cannot support 
these projects.  
 
The proposed borrowing for both projects is $3,150,000 ($1,100,000 for skate park replacement, 
$2,050,000 for heat recovery). The timeline to secure debt is approximately 8 months, as a loan 
authorization bylaw will need to be passed and elector approval is required. 
 
Based on borrowing of $3,150,000 million and the forecasted borrowing rate of 4.8% over a  
15-year repayment period, the annual debt service cost is estimated at $315,000. This would 
represent an approximate increase of 5% in the 2027 base budget. To minimize the effect on the 
current operating budget, short-term financing would be utilized through the design and 
construction phases of the projects and long-term debt issue would be planned for spring 2027 
when the projects are complete. The short-term borrowing costs will have minimal impact on the 
2025 requisition.  
 
Due to these two projects, an annual increase in the transfer to the capital reserve fund is 
recommended, based on the CRD capital reserve guidelines, at an estimate of between  
$25,000-$75,000 and would start in 2027, once the projects are completed. 
 
Existing SEAPARC debt for weight room equipment is retiring in 2024 and the Throup Road (golf 
course) property debt will be retired in 2032 (payments of approximately $54,000 annually). 
 
Service Delivery Implications 
 
The current skate park is at end of life and requires replacement to meet the needs of the 
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community. There are safety concerns with the current deficiencies at the skate park that require 
future closure if the skate park is not replaced. Repair is not a financially viable option. 
 
The heat recovery project will improve moisture in the air for the pool facility, reducing the humidex 
in the natatorium. This will improve the working conditions for the staff in that area. Pending further 
design, it may be an option to incorporate cooling for arena and/or pool, providing user comfort 
and climate resiliency. 
 
Social Implications 
 
The Sooke Skate Park provides opportunities for free recreational activity and space for social 
connectedness in the community. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The Sooke Skate Park is at end of life and requires replacement. Several mechanical systems 
are nearing end of life at SEAPARC Recreation Centre and have been incorporated into a heat 
recovery project to replace/renew systems while reducing greenhouse gas emissions to meet 
corporate targets. Borrowing in the amount of $3,150,000 is required to proceed with these 
projects. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Sooke & Electoral Area Parks and Recreation Commission recommends to the Capital 
Regional District Board: 
That staff be directed to prepare a new loan authorization bylaw to fund the Sooke Skate Park 
replacement and phase one of the heat recovery project for SEAPARC Recreation Centre, with 
electoral approval obtained through the alternative approval process. 
 
Submitted by: Melanie Alsdorf, Manager, SEAPARC Recreation 
Concurrence: Luisa Jones, MBA, General Manager, Parks, Recreation & Environmental Services 
Concurrence: Nelson Chan, MBA, FCPA, FCMA, Chief Financial Officer 
Concurrence: Kristen Morley, J.D., Acting Chief Administrative Officer 
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REPORT TO TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE 
MEETING OF WEDNESDAY, SEPTEMBER 11, 2024 

 
 
SUBJECT Bylaw No. 4630: Regional Transportation Service 
 
ISSUE SUMMARY 
 
To approve the establishment of the Regional Transportation Service (RTS) for the purpose of 
providing transportation-related services within the Capital Regional District (CRD). 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Transportation is a priority for residents and the CRD Board. The region has three transportation 
goals: reduce carbon pollution; support higher rates of walking, cycling and transit use; and 
address congestion. A 2023-2026 CRD Board strategic priority is to present options for 
transportation governance change so residents can access convenient, green and affordable 
multi-modal transportation systems to enhance livability. 
On July 10, 2024, the CRD Board unanimously directed staff to draft an establishment bylaw for 
a RTS that allows for the implementation of all eight service categories, to be brought back for 
readings by Q4 2024. 
Establishing a Regional Transportation Service 
The proposed RTS aims to provide more tools to advance regional connectivity and integrated 
mobility. CRD's existing transportation functions are focused on a coordinating and monitoring 
role, limited to planning, data collection and analysis, and policy support, and collaboratively 
working with local governments, the Province and partner agencies to advance actions in the 
2014 Regional Transportation Plan (RTP). 
This new service would grant the CRD expanded authority to create programs, develop project 
offerings, and provide funding opportunities to drive transformative changes in transportation 
behaviour and advance the development of a robust Regional Multi-modal Network (RMN). 
Unlocking new functions through establishing a regional transportation service will lead to better 
and more reliable services, unified advocacy and messaging, enhanced regional consistency, 
better integration between land use and transportation and efficient service delivery through 
economies of scale and removal of repetition. 
A successful service will demonstrate to the Province of British Columbia that the CRD is ready 
to take on the additional responsibilities necessary to achieve the regional vision for 
transportation. The RTS will provide resources for a greater range of tools to support and 
complement both regional and local government-led initiatives. 
Local Government Engagement 
In the summer and fall of 2023, the CRD engaged with member local governments, electoral 
areas and partner agencies to solicit feedback on regional transportation governance. The 
feedback provided the CRD with a baseline understanding of the aspects of transportation 
governance that local governments are interested in exploring further. 
On December 13, 2023, the CRD Board directed staff to initiate concept development and 
analysis work on an inclusive list of potential transportation service categories. The CRD Board 
also directed staff to plan for engagement activities and schedule a workshop for Q2 2024. 
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Staff from each of the local governments, electoral areas, BC Transit, Ministry of Transportation 
and Infrastructure (MoTI), BC Ferries, Victoria Airport Authority, and Island Corridor Foundation 
continue to participate in ongoing discussions related to this work through the Transportation 
Working Group (TWG) and/or one-on-one meetings. 
Transportation Governance Workshop 
Mayors, councillors, electoral area directors, First Nations, and senior local government staff 
provided feedback at a transportation workshop hosted by the CRD on May 24, 2024, supported 
by senior staff from BC Transit, MoTI and Island Health. Workshop participants gained clarity and 
discussed the benefits and concerns of potential new functions related to establishing an RTS. 
Roundtable discussions covered eight potential service categories: 

• Active Transportation and Road Safety • Multi-modal Network and Connectivity 

• New Mobility Services • Data Management and Traffic Analysis 

• Behaviour Change • Grants and Funding 

• Transit and Mobility Hubs • Transportation Plans 

Feedback received at the workshop indicated that participants generally supported the eight 
categories. Participants recognized the significant dependencies between each category. As 
such, all eight categories play a vital role in meeting the region's integrated transportation 
aspirations. Based on the feedback from the workshop and direct stakeholder engagement, the 
RTS establishment bylaw (Appendix A) has been written with a broad scope to allow for policy, 
plans, administration, programming, projects and studies to be developed. 
Transportation Service Priorities 
In the first two years of the RTS, the top priority will be to update the 2014 RTP including the 
vision, goals and priorities guiding long-term transportation planning and direct the integrated 
actions and programs undertaken by the RTS. Local government partners, the Province, 
BC Transit, BC Ferries, Victoria Airport Authority, Island Corridor Foundation, Island Health, First 
Nations, other stakeholders and the general public will be engaged to ensure a wide range of 
perspectives and interests are represented. Existing programs currently delivered by the CRD will 
be expanded to support the needs of an updated integrated RTP, including data collection, 
monitoring, behaviour change and transportation demand management (TDM) programs. 
Concurrent with the RTP update, new programs that align with regional priorities can be 
developed, including feedback from the TWG. All new programs will be approved through the 
standard CRD service planning and financial planning processes, where CRD Board members 
provide input, refine program design, and ensure alignment with regional priorities. 
With an updated and integrated RTP with other relevant transportation and transit plans, the CRD 
will have provided an opportunity to create a unified and consistent long-term vision for 
transportation, transit, and complete communities across the region. Through the ongoing 
implementation of the RTS, the CRD will be well-positioned to support local governments in 
developing transit-oriented communities and to work with BC Transit, the Province, and the 
federal government to pursue expressions of higher-order transit for the region, including working 
collaboratively as a regional partner in pursuing Canada Public Transit Fund investment 
opportunities. 
As a growing number of commuters shift to active transportation modes, continual improvement 
of the portion of the regional trail network being consolidated into the RTS will be an ongoing 
strategic consideration. Balancing the increasing use of the three regional trails as transportation 
corridors with continuing recreational uses will remain important, such as through the 
infrastructure improvements approved through the Regional Trail Widening and Lighting Project. 
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Supporting Local Projects of Regional Significance 
In addition to developing new programs and projects run by the CRD, the RTS will seek to partner 
with local governments to provide capital project cost-shared grant funding for local government 
infrastructure investments of regional importance. These capital projects primarily focus on 
advancing multi-modal infrastructure projects on the RMN yet will also consider improved 
connectivity to regional trails, mobility hubs, and facilities at mobility hubs. Through the RTP 
update, assessment criteria will be developed to guide the prioritization of RMN and connectivity 
projects for regional funding support. This program intends to provide supportive funds to local 
governments, ideally with additional partner support funding from senior-level governments for 
high-priority capital projects of regional significance. 
The proposed maximum requisition for the service includes $5 million (M) of requisition space 
that would allow for either direct grant support for capital projects or for annual debt servicing 
costs that would enable approximately up to $80.0M of borrowing based on current rates from the 
Municipal Finance Authority (MFA). It should be noted that regional districts can only take out 
loans to support capital projects and assets for which they have ownership of or use agreement 
for. For capital projects in which the CRD does not have a controlling interest, such as local bike 
lanes or transit facilities, supporting grants can only come from requisition or other revenue 
sources. 
Governance and Service Design Study 
A service design and feasibility study is underway to provide potential governance for best 
delivering the CRD's current services and expanded functions. 
Until otherwise directed, a new RTS would report to the CRD Board through the Transportation 
Committee, supported by the TWG and Traffic Safety Commission, with consideration for updated 
Terms of Reference to best support the expanded RTS mandate. A separate bylaw would be 
passed if subsequent governance change is desired, to be informed by the final recommendation 
from the governance and service design study. 
In the future, it may be determined that additional transportation functions beyond the current 
legislative ability of the CRD would be beneficial. Establishing and implementing the RTS 
prepares the region to lead discussions with the Province to create this type of new regional scale 
entity (e.g., provincial authority or crown corporation). At that time, the CRD, local governments 
and affected agencies will be able to assess what governance model beyond what the CRD is 
able to implement itself would best deliver on the regional transportation goals. 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
Alternative 1 
The Transportation Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
1. That Bylaw No. 4630, “Regional Transportation Service Establishment Bylaw No. 1, 2024”, 

be introduced and read a first, second and third time; 
2. That participating area approval be obtained by regional alternative approval process; 
3. That Bylaw No. 4630, be forwarded to the Inspector of Municipalities for approval; and 
4. That staff be directed to continue to consider governance options and report back in Q1, 2025. 
 
Alternative 2 
That this report be referred back to staff for additional information based on Transportation 
Committee direction. 
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IMPLICATIONS 
 
Alignment with Board & Corporate Priorities 

A 2023-2026 CRD Board strategic priority is to present options for transportation governance 
change so residents can access convenient, green and affordable multi-modal transportation 
systems to enhance livability. This priority shifts focus from goal setting to implementation through 
a new CRD transportation service. Initiative 4a-1 in the CRD Corporate Plan is to develop 
governance options, including consideration of a new transportation service or authority. 
Alignment with Existing Plans & Strategies 

CRD plans and strategies have informed concept development and analysis for service design. 
Relevant plans are the Regional Growth Strategy (RGS), the RTP, the Regional Parks and Trails 
Strategic Plan, the Regional Trails Management Plan, the Climate Action Strategy, and the 
Intergovernmental Relations Policy. The service establishment bylaw will align with the overall 
visions, objectives, and actions of CRD's existing plans. 
Climate Implications 

The CRD Board has declared a climate emergency. In 2022, on-road transportation accounted 
for 42% of all carbon pollution in the region. Encouraging new travel behaviours is among the 
solutions to get more people to take transit, walk and cycle, which will reduce carbon pollution. A 
significant aspect of the new service is enabling the CRD to offer an expanded regional role to 
support behaviour change and TDM with new tools and programs. 
By better coordinating transportation and housing development, the goal is to align future plans 
to efficiently locate services and guide growth. From an environmental and climate perspective, 
focusing growth in areas well served by transit and active transportation can significantly reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions from travel. 
Equity, Diversity & Inclusion Implications 

Actions taken through the RTS will consider the needs of equity-seeking groups through concept 
development and analysis. Ensuring equitable access to transportation will be an important lens 
through which the new service will analyze and propose solutions to improve travel for all 
residents of the region. 
Financial Implications 

The proposed service bylaw includes a 2025 maximum requisition equaling $20.0M, inclusive of 
a 10% long-term contingency. The components that have informed this threshold are: 

 Current / Baseline Increase RTS Max 
Requisition 

Operating Expenses $1.3M $1.3M $2.6M 
Staffing Resources $2.1M $1.1M $3.2M 
Debt Servicing Costs 
(Trails Widening and Lighting Project and 
E&N Trail loan servicing) 

$5.6M - $5.6M 

Reserve Transfers $1.3M $0.5M $1.8M 
Cost Sharing Regional Significant Projects - $5.0M $5.0M 
Contingency for Long-Term Growth - $1.8M $1.8M 

Total  $10.3M $9.7M $20.0M 
Table 1: Draft Financial Model 



Transportation Committee – September 11, 2024 
Bylaw No. 4630: Regional Transportation Service 5 
 
 

PPS/RSP-2024-13 

The future maximum requisition amounts will be adjusted based on the net taxable value of the 
land and improvements within the Service Area. 
The “Current / Baseline” costs represent the combined CRD expenditures for existing 
transportation functions from both the Regional Planning and Parks divisions. This includes 
planning, data management, and behaviour change programs, as well as regional trails 
management, operation, and maintenance. 
The “Increase” column represents the projected budget required to expand on existing programs, 
develop new programs and undertake capital investments to accomplish the region’s 
transportation goals. This includes increases in operating expenses of $1.3M, staffing resources 
to increase service capacity of $1.1M, and a $1.8M contingency for long-term growth of the 
service. The financial model was developed by analyzing the expected increase in effort for each 
of the proposed activities and programs across the eight transportation categories and was 
informed by KPMG’s work which is summarized in appendix C. 
Also included in the “Increase” column is a $5.0M allocation to provide cost-sharing grants through 
requisition or debt servicing to support local transportation projects of regional significance. This 
granting or borrowing will be guided by the prioritization criteria that will be developed through an 
updated RTP, which will be a top priority for the RTS in the early years of the service. 
Cost control for new and expanded programs will be accomplished through the annual service 
planning process. Larger capital investments beyond simple grant support will also require a loan 
authorization bylaw for each project. Regarding operating expenses and staffing resources, the 
values provided in Table 1 are the best possible budget estimates, supported by Appendix C. 
Before service commences, validating these estimates with Parks Services to determine an 
operational model for the RTS will be essential. In particular, the operational management of 
regional trails shifting from Parks to the RTS will be a complex process and more details will be 
provided when staff reports back in Q1 2025. 
It should be noted that the baseline debt servicing costs for the Regional Trails Widening and 
Lighting Project and the E&N Trail loan are accounted for in the maximum requisition, as the intent 
of the RTS is to service the loan for these projects. These loans will continue to be held by the 
Regional Parks service and are expected to remain with them for the duration of the loans, with 
the RTS transferring funds for loan repayment. 
The “RTS Max Requisition” column provides a breakdown of the maximum requisition for the 
service. This maximum does not represent the initial budget allocation for the service, intended 
to grow over time from the “Current / Baseline” as programs are expanded or added. Expansion 
of the service is expected to occur over approximately a minimum of five years (i.e., 2030 or later), 
with updating the RTP being a critical early step to reconfirm and update strategic priorities and 
to develop an approach for prioritization of new programs and capital investments. 
Given that the CRD is always the title owner of regional trails, asset transfer resulting from the 
shift of regional trails from Parks to the RTS can be considered at a future date as a final operating 
model for delivering the RTS is informed by validated budget estimates, inclusive of the proportion 
of Parks services serving regional trails as compared to the balance of the trail system. In the 
short term, regional trail assets will be held by the Parks division where the loan authorization 
needs to remain until the RTS is ready to take over the responsibility of the asset, including 
renewal of leasehold agreements. From the perspective of continuing to serve the public, it is 
important to maintain the current level of service and ensure there is no disruption to the 
management and operations of the regional trails during the interim period where the RTS is being 
established. 
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Regarding the cost apportionment model, staff recommend that the costs for the RTS be 
apportioned based on converted assessment for the participating partners. This apportionment is 
consistent with that of existing Regional Planning and Regional Parks services. The proposed 
cost apportionment for participants for 2025 is presented in Appendix B. 
Wherever possible, the CRD will take a leadership role in seeking to secure funding streams from 
senior levels of government on behalf of the region to further leverage local government and/or 
CRD funding in achieving RTP goals. Speaking with a unified regional voice on transportation will 
strengthen the case for permanent funding streams and bring essential resources to the region. 
First Nations Implications 

Staff will continue to inform and engage with First Nations through government-to-government 
meetings and will be considering additional outreach later in 2024 or early 2025. 
Intergovernmental Implications 

Local governments, the CRD, BC Transit and MoTI each have different areas of responsibility for 
planning, regulating, operating and maintaining roads and pedestrian and cycling infrastructure. 
The responsibilities and authorities included in the RTS establishing bylaw are not intended to 
alter or take on responsibility for authorities currently held by local governments, BC Transit, or 
the Province. 
The RTS will act only within CRD areas of responsibility and staff will work closely with partners 
to implement policies and programs. In some cases, such as standardizing wayfinding signage 
across the region, the RTS could lead the development of these standards or model bylaws, which 
local governments would adopt and implement. In other initiatives, such as education and 
awareness programs, the RTS could engage local government staff to develop the materials and 
then be responsible for running the program regionally. 
Legal Implications 

A regional district may operate any service it deems desirable, provided that on establishment of 
the service by way of service establishing bylaw, it received participating area approval. There 
are three options to obtain participating area approval: regional alternative approval process; 
municipal consent on behalf with alternative approval process (AAP) in the electoral areas; and 
referendum/elector assent. 
As a regional service focused on transportation is most effective if all municipalities and electoral 
areas participate, a regional AAP is recommended. This approach would put the responsibility of 
objecting to the service on the electors, who, if 10% were not in favour, could determine not to 
proceed. Should an AAP approach be selected, a communications plan will be developed to 
inform the public about the proposed new service prior to the AAP process. 
An alternative is the municipal consent process, which requires unanimous approval of all local 
governments and electoral areas (EA). This approval process was not recommended as any one 
municipality or EA can effectively and indefinitely veto the creation of the service. Finally, while a 
referendum would give voters a direct say on the service, it is significantly more costly than an 
AAP and has a longer timeline than the other options. 
From a timing perspective, following third reading, the bylaw is referred to the Inspector of 
Municipalities for approval. Once approval is received, then it is expected the AAP process would 
begin in Q1 2025. 
Governance Implications 

When the RTS commences, the Transportation Standing Committee will be the single governance 
body that advises the CRD Board on decisions related to transportation, from planning to 
programs, to capital infrastructure and operation and maintenance. Regional trail active 
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transportation-related matters were previously reported to both the Regional Parks Standing 
Committee and the Transportation Standing Committee. In the RTS governance model, the 
Regional Parks Standing Committee will no longer be responsible for reporting on the active 
transportation use of regional trails; instead, it will focus on trails and parks for recreation. 
A specific governance and operational model for how the RTS will function is being developed; 
staff recommends reporting back to the Board in Q1 2025 with greater clarity on more operating 
details on the continuation of the existing Transportation Standing Committee governance model 
as well as other potential governance options. Another governance model being explored within 
the legislative abilities of the CRD is that of a delegated commission, which could be empowered 
with decision-making authority and could include non-elected membership. These governance 
model considerations will be addressed in a staff report to be considered by the Board in Q1 2025. 
Regional Growth Strategy Implications 

The RGS is the key expression of the region's long-term vision for guiding growth. Objective #4 
of the RGS is focused on transportation and improving multi-modal connectivity and mobility. 
Through the creation of the RTS, existing transportation functions within the Regional Planning 
and Regional Parks divisions will be consolidated and expanded upon, and new programs will be 
developed. The service will offer new tools to better deliver on the transportation objectives of the 
RGS. 
With a mandate to integrate transportation and land use planning, the service will be well-
positioned to support the alignment of regional transportation options with the development plans 
of local governments. With the future need to update the RGS in addition to the RTP, the RTS 
will strengthen the region's capacity to integrate transportation and land-use planning. 
Service Delivery Implications 

CRD's Legislative Services, Legal, Finance and Regional Parks divisions are working together to 
create the service and ensure all aspects are considered and addressed efficiently. This is a 
significant interdepartmental effort that will help set up the service for long term success. The 
project timeline assumes that the implementation of a new RTS will begin in the second half of 
2025. 
Regional Trails will continue to operate its current mandate under CRD Regional Parks until a 
transportation service is established and a transition process has been finalized. This approach 
includes all capital projects such as CRD Regional Trail Widening and Lighting. 
By growing incrementally and delivering tangible benefits to the region, local governments will 
have the time and opportunity to see how the service has benefitted their community and to 
consider their support of further expansion of programs or potential capital investments, including 
new RMN and regional connectivity cost-sharing funding programs with the CRD. This 
incremental approach would not limit the CRD's ability to continuously study and plan for future 
programs and investments and new service offerings as the RTS would still follow the normal 
service and financial planning and Board approval process. 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
The CRD is seeking approval for the establishment of the RTS for the purpose of providing 
transportation related services within the capital region, and that participating area approval be 
obtained by the regional alternative approval process. 
The goal of creating a RTS is to create more tools to advance regional connectivity and integrated 
mobility. CRD's existing transportation functions are focused on a coordinating and monitoring 
role, limited to planning, data collection and analysis, and policy support, collaboratively working 
with local governments, the Province and partner agencies. A new transportation service would 
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consolidate existing CRD transportation functions, with additional scope to develop new programs 
in approved service categories that the CRD can deliver without requiring legislative change. The 
draft RTS establishment bylaw (Appendix A) has been written with a broad scope to allow for 
policy, plans, administration, programming, projects, and studies to be developed. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Transportation Committee recommends to the Capital Regional District Board: 
1. That Bylaw No. 4630, “Regional Transportation Service Establishment Bylaw No. 1, 2024”, 

be introduced and read a first, second and third time; 
2. That participating area approval be obtained by regional alternative approval process; 
3. That Bylaw No. 4630, be forwarded to the Inspector of Municipalities for approval; and 
4. That staff be directed to continue to consider governance options and report back in Q1, 2025. 
 
 
Submitted by: Noah Brotman, Research Planner, Regional Planning 

Concurrence: Kevin Lorette, P. Eng., MBA, General Manager, Planning & Protective Services 

Concurrence: Luisa Jones, MBA, General Manager, Parks, Recreation & Environmental 
Services 

Concurrence: Nelson Chan, MBA, FCPA, FCMA, Chief Financial Officer, GM Finance & IT 

Concurrence: Kristen Morley, J.D., General Manager, Corporate Services & Corporate Officer 

Concurrence: Ted Robbins, B. Sc., C. Tech., Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Appendix A: Bylaw No. 4630, “Regional Transportation Service Establishment Bylaw No. 1, 

2024.” (draft) 
Appendix B: Participant Cost Apportionment Simulation 
Appendix C: KPMG Base Governance and Operating Model for a Regional Transportation 

Service 
 



Appendix A 

CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT 
BYLAW NO. 4630 

 
************************************************************************************************************* 

A BYLAW TO ESTABLISH A REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION SERVICE 
****************************************************************************************************************** 

WHEREAS: 
 

A. Under section 332 of the Local Government Act a regional district may, by bylaw, establish 
and operate any service the Board considers necessary or desirable for all or the part of 
the regional district; 
 

B. The Board of the Capital Regional District wishes to establish a service for the purpose of 
addressing transportation needs within the Capital Regional District; 
 

C. Participating area approval is required and elector approval has been obtained for the 
entire service area by alternative approval process, pursuant to s. 342(4) of the Local 
Government Act; and 

 
D. The approval of the Inspector of Municipalities has been obtained under section 342(1)(a) 

of the Local Government Act; 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Board of the Capital Regional District in open meeting assembled enacts 
as follows: 
 
Service 
 
1. (a) The service being established and to be operated is a regional transportation service 

(the “Transportation Service”) for the purpose of providing services in relation to 
transportation, including, without the limiting the foregoing: 

 
i. Development of transportation policies, plans, programs, projects, and studies, 

including but not limited to public transit, active transportation, mobility hubs, 
transportation demand management, and road and trail safety; 

ii. Provision of transportation information and data services; 
iii. Management of regional trails that serve a regional transportation purpose, as 

determined by the Capital Regional District Board, including regional trail 
planning, policy development, constructing, operating and maintaining regional 
trail infrastructure, capital planning, and management of land tenure; 

iv. Acquiring and holding land and interests in land required for the purpose of 
providing transportation services, including for the establishment and operation 
of transportation corridors and regional trails; 

v. Acquiring, receiving, holding, distributing, and granting funding for 
transportation infrastructure and programs, including by entering into funding 
agreements, grant agreements, and partnering agreements with other public 
authorities; 

vi. Construction, operation, and management of capital works and facilities that 
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support transportation, including but not limited to active transportation, 
mobility hubs, and other transportation infrastructure; 

vii. Providing services and support to municipal participants and other public 
authorities relating to transportation services, including but not limited to public 
transit, active transportation, mobility hubs, transportation demand 
management, and road and trail safety; 

viii. Managing, operating, and maintaining other transportation systems that serve 
a regional transportation purpose and are within the jurisdiction of the Capital 
Regional District. 

 
(b) Subsection (a) is not intended to alter or affect the dedication as regional trail of any 

designated regional trail nor to impair the use of the designated regional trails for the 
purpose of public recreation and enjoyment and ancillary nature conservation. 

 
(c) Subsection (a) is not intended to alter or affect the statutory powers of the Province of 

British Columbia or of any municipal participant in respect of a public highway within 
their respective jurisdictions. 

 
Boundaries 
 
2. The boundaries of the Transportation Service are the boundaries of the Capital Regional 

District. 
 
Participating Areas 
 
3. All municipalities and electoral areas within the Capital Regional District are the participating 

areas for this service. 
 
Cost Recovery 
 
4. As provided in Section 378 of the Local Government Act, the annual cost of providing the 

Service shall be recovered by one or more of the following: 
 
(a) property value taxes imposed in accordance with Division 3 of Part 11 of the Local 

Government Act; 
(b) fees and charges imposed under Section 397 of the Local Government Act; 
(c) revenues raised by other means authorized by the Local Government Act or another 

Act; 
(d) revenues received by way of agreement, enterprise, gift, grant or otherwise. 

 
Cost Apportionment 
 
5. The annual costs for the service, net of grants and other revenues, shall be apportioned 

among the participating areas on the basis of the converted value of land and improvements 
in the participating areas. 
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Maximum Requisition 
 
6. In accordance with Section 339(1)(e) of the Local Government Act, the maximum amount 

that may be requisitioned annually for the cost of the Service is the greater of: 
 

(a) Twenty Million ($20,000,000); or 
 

(b) An amount equal to the amount that could be raised by a property value tax rate of 
$0.10834 per ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($1,000.00) that, when applied to the net 
taxable value of the land and improvements within the Service Area, will yield the 
maximum amount that may be requisitioned for the Service. 

 
Citation 
 
7. This Bylaw may be cited as “Regional Transportation Service Establishment Bylaw No. 1, 

2024”. 
 
 

READ A FIRST TIME THIS  day of , 2024 

READ A SECOND TIME THIS  day of , 2024 

READ A THIRD TIME THIS  day of , 2024 
 
APPROVED BY THE INSPECTOR OF 
MUNICIPALITIES THIS  day of , 2024 

RECEIVED PARTICIPATING AREA  
APPROVAL UNDER SECTION 342(4)  
OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT THIS  day of , 2025 

ADOPTED THIS  day of , 2025 
 
 
    
CHAIR CORPORATE OFFICER 
 
 
FILED WITH THE INSPECTOR OF MUNICIPALITIES THIS day of  
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Participant Cost Apportionment Simulation

Service Participants

Converted 
Assessments

2024
Percent
of Total

Current 
Requisition 

($)

Current Cost per 
Avg. Residential 

Assessment *

Maximum 
Requisition 

($)

Maximum Cost per 
Avg. Residential 

Assessment *

Municipalities
Central Saanich 940,613,176 4.5% 458,615 $55.17 890,514 $107.12
Colwood 826,945,685 3.9% 403,194 $48.84 782,900 $94.83
Esquimalt 687,695,262 3.3% 335,299 $51.48 651,067 $99.97
Highlands 133,874,982 0.6% 65,273 $63.31 126,744 $122.93
Langford 2,186,331,024 10.3% 1,065,989 $46.35 2,069,881 $90.00
Metchosin 228,180,080 1.1% 111,254 $64.47 216,027 $125.19
North Saanich 928,795,732 4.4% 452,853 $77.78 879,326 $151.04
Oak Bay 1,262,567,858 6.0% 615,590 $90.54 1,195,320 $175.81
Saanich 5,433,968,140 25.7% 2,649,438 $57.56 5,144,540 $111.77
Sidney 769,254,206 3.6% 375,065 $45.14 728,282 $87.65
Sooke 582,186,138 2.8% 283,856 $39.10 551,177 $75.91
Victoria 5,022,381,103 23.8% 2,448,761 $51.81 4,754,876 $100.60
View Royal 506,524,168 2.4% 246,966 $52.18 479,545 $101.32

19,509,317,554 92.4% 9,512,152 18,470,199
Electoral Areas

Juan de Fuca 369,767,091 1.8% 180,287 $44.41 350,072 $86.24
Salt Spring Island 695,133,309 3.3% 338,926 $51.12 658,109 $99.27
Southern Gulf Islands 550,966,010 2.6% 268,634 $39.11 521,620 $75.94

1,615,866,410 7.6% 787,848 1,529,801

Total 21,125,183,964 100.0% 10,300,000 20,000,000

Prepared September 2024
Assessment data is based on information used for 2024 Final Budget, subject to annual update

* The cost per average residential assessment is a theoretical calculation that provides a directional indicator on impacts to
residential rate payers only. It can be used as an approximation of cost for a residential household if a home's assessment value is
at or near the ‘Average Residential Assessed Value'
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Background & purpose:  

KPMG has been engaged to support the Capital Regional District (“CRD”) in developing governance and operating models to deliver 
a transportation service for the Region (the "Project"). The service is intended to accelerate the adoption of, and enhance coordination, 
among the member jurisdictions towards the outcomes and objectives of the Regional Transportation Plan (“RTP”). This includes the 
development of:  

1 A base case governance and operating model to deliver the scope of a Regional Transportation Service (“RTS”), intended to 
be a first step towards formalizing delivery of a coordinated regional service. The RTS expands the depth and breadth of the 
existing transportation service, delivered by the CRD, within the bounds of the existing CRD legislation. Not all outcomes of 
the RTP will be delivered through the scope of the RTS.  

2 A concept operating and governance model for RTS and alternate models to deliver the scope of a Long-Term Regional 
Transportation Entity (“LT RTE”). The scope of services delivered by the LT RTE will require legislative change and cannot 
be delivered within the existing CRD authorities. All outcomes of the RTP can be achieved through the scope of an LT RTE.  

The overview of the Project is shown in Figure 1 below, with the scope of this Report outlined. This Report provides an overview of 
the scope of the RTS, the required base case governance and operating model for delivery of the RTS and the cost analysis 
undertaken to estimate the steady state operational cost of the service and the maximum requisition. It has been estimated to support 
the RTS Establishment Bylaw submission to the Board in September.  

Further analysis is ongoing to shortlist and evaluate the alternative governance and operating models for the scope of an RTS and 
LT RTE and will be submitted for Board consideration at a future date.  

Figure 1: Overview of the Project 

 

RTS: scope and base case governance structure  

The RTS consolidates the existing transportation activities performed through both the Regional Parks and Regional Planning 
Services whilst increasing the breadth and depth of these activities. Expansion of activities is limited by the bounds of existing 
legislation (i.e., CRD’s current authorities). Whilst not all outcomes of the RTP can be fully realized through the scope of an RTS, 
the increased scope and focus on regional transportation activities will enable greater ability to deliver on multi-modal priorities. 
Implementing the RTS does not require legislative change and can be delivered within a similar design to the current governance 
and operating model.  

Scope 

The scope of the RTS was defined by the CRD to span eight transportation service categories. These categories expand the 
breadth and depth CRD’s transportation activities within current legislation and forms the foundation for achieving the multi-modal 
priorities within the RTP. An illustrative summary of the expansion of activities across each transportation category, from current 
state to the RTS, is shown in Table 1. 

Table 1: Summary of the expansion of breadth and depth of activities in RTS across the pre-established transportation categories *  

                              

* The current state transportation activities are also to be performed in the RTS.  

 



 

 

The additional transportation categories of Data Management & Traffic Analysis, and Funding & Grants, are enabling categories to 
deliver the other six categories noted. Data Management & Traffic Analysis predominantly increases in depth through the expansion 
of the existing activities performed such as increased data collection and accessibility, whilst Funding & Grants is envisioned to 
support new activities such as funding partnerships and joint procurement.  

Governance model to deliver the proposed RTS 

The proposed RTS governance model leverages existing transportation-related committees (e.g., Transportation Standing 
Committee) and supporting structures from the current state governance model. For the purposes of this Project’s base case 
definition, the RTS is established as a new division reporting to the existing Transportation Standing Committee.  

The consolidation of the existing CRD transportation activities into one division with a single governance body will support the CRD 
to achieve the goals of the RTP. The Transportation Standing Committee will provide transportation recommendations to the Board 
based on a single, coordinated transportation vision for the Region.  

Operating model to deliver the proposed RTS 

The proposed RTS expands the depth and breadth of the existing transportation service delivered by the CRD. Through discussions 
and working sessions with the CRD, it was estimated that the additional support required to deliver the RTS scope equates to 
approximately a 40% uplift in the number of full-time equivalents (“FTEs”), when compared to current state resources. An increase 
in funding is also required for the provision of goods and services to implement and run the expanded breadth and depth of 
transportation activities. This is captured in the cost analysis below.  

The uplift of 40% was determined in consultation with the CRD and through analyzing the expected increase in effort for each of the 
proposed activities and programs across the eight transportation categories. This uplift reflects the steady state FTE requirement to 
sustain the RTS.  

Cost analysis of the RTS  

An indicative and directional exercise was conducted with CRD inputs and guidance to develop a high-level cost analysis that 
estimates a range for the:  

• approximate steady state cost of the RTS operating under the base case operating and governance model; and  

• maximum requisition* of the RTS for the 
purposes of CRD creating a new service 
establishment bylaw, with a contingency 
included.  

* Maximum requisition represents the legal upper limit 
amount the CRD can levy in taxes from member 
jurisdictions each year.   

The basis of the RTS cost comprises four broad 
segments of cost categories (see Error! 
Reference source not found. for details):  

1 operating expenditures; 
2 growth contingencies;  
3 capital expenditures; and  
4 one-time implementation costs to 

manage the process of establishing 
the service.  

                                                                                              Figure 2: Overview of RTS cost categories 

Note: Only #1 operating expenditures (includes reserve funds and debt servicing costs) and #2 growth contingency contribute to the 
maximum requisition calculation.  The #4 one-time implementation cost is assumed to be captured under the #2 growth contingency 
amount. #3 Capital expenditures are funded through #1 operating expenditures, either through capital reserve funds (“CRF”), 
equipment replacement funds (“ERF”) or debt servicing costs. As such, #3 capital expenditures and #4 one-time implementation 
costs are not separately accounted for in the RTS maximum requisition calculation; instead, their costs are captured under #1 
operating expenditures and #2 growth contingency, respectively.  

Estimations developed for this Project are illustrative in nature and relied on cost information provided and assumptions validated by 
the CRD. Summary values are presented in ranges to reflect the illustrative nature of estimates presented as an order-of-magnitude 
reference for the purposes of this Project. Variability of actual costs incurred within each year reflect fluctuations of these cost items 
over the past five years of cost information reviewed. 

Limitations of this analysis 

All information and data used in the development of this cost analysis was either provided by the CRD finance team, developed 
iteratively in conjunction with the CRD finance team and other key staff, or gathered from publicly available resources. The 
information was continuously reviewed, refined, and validated with relevant CRD staff throughout the analysis. As such, inputs 
gathered and used for this Project represent a point-in-time assessment of the cost estimations. The reader is advised that 
variability will exist year-to-year, and will change subject to macro- and micro-economic shifts in the political, commercial, and public 
realms.  

KPMG did not independently verify information provided by the CRD for this analysis, and, accordingly, the analysis and results 
presented herein do not constitute auditable results or forecasts. KPMG expresses no opinion regarding the accuracy of the cost 
and operational information provided by the CRD. CRD management has been responsible for directing KPMG on inputs used and 
adjustments applied for this analysis.  



 

 

Methodology 

Three methodologies were used to derive the cost inputs for the RTS, where applicable. 

1 Use CRD’s historical averages as the base, apply a factor of current state to scale up. 

This methodology is applicable to cost categories where historical financial data is considered sufficiently representative to 
serve as a basis for future projections. Therefore, the 5-year historical averages between 2019 and 2023 are used as the 
starting point, and the RTS cost input is determined based on the effort required to deliver services in comparison to the current 
state.  

2 Use CRD’s planned future cost, or industry benchmarking price. 

In certain instances, planned future costs were available and provided by the CRD, which was deemed to serve as a more 
accurate benchmark for the RTS cost input. Hence, a 5-year average cost between 2024 and 2028 was taken to estimate a 
steady state annual cost for the RTS. For staff paygrades, benchmarking rates from the Canadian Union of Public Employees 
(“CUPE”) were applied. 

3 Use CRD’s directional input. 

For cost items where neither of the first two approaches (i.e., method #1 or method #2) were applicable or deemed 
representative for the RTS projection, the CRD's directional input was used to generate a more realistic estimate.  

Analysis 

As presented in Figure 2, eight (8) cost items make up the total estimated operating costs for the RTS. These eight items plus 

growth contingency make up the total estimated maximum requisition to be considered for establishing the RTS. Below, a 

description of input sources, adjustment factors, and rationales for adjustments applied for each of the cost categories are 

described.  

Salaries and benefits 

This cost item includes salaries and wages, including benefits paid to staff. The annual costs for the RTS have been derived using 
the 2024 Staffing Cost Estimate for High Level IBC’s, based on the 2025 rates for managers and CUPE rates for non-management 
staff. Non-management staff costs are divided into CUPE paygrades J13-17, and J18-21 to reflect the pay difference between 
lower-level staff responsible for operations and maintenance related work for trails, and senior-level non-management staff 
responsible for planning and strategy related activities.  

From the current state, an estimated 40% uplift in total FTE is required to deliver the expanded breadth and depth of activities of the 
RTS. To support the 40% increase in the number of FTE required, a 55%* uplift in salaries and benefits is required to support this. 
Refer to notes above on how the uplift amounts were estimated and validated with CRD.  

Salaries and benefits # FTE 
RTS estimated annual cost (‘000s 
and rounded to nearest thousand) 

Compared to 
Current State 

Management staff  3 $483 

⬆ 55% 
Non-management staff CUPE J13-17 13 $1,326 

Non-management staff CUPE J18-21 10 $1,316 

Seasonal staff  2 $85 

Total salaries and benefits  28 $3,210 ⬆ 55% 

* 55% increase due to hiring more senior level staff. As well, average paygrades calculated using industry benchmark, which are slightly higher than 
current CRD pay rates.   

Operations and Maintenance (“O&M”) (excluding labour) 

O&M encompasses costs related to vehicles & equipment, maintenance & repairs, excluding labour-related costs (captured under 
Salaries and benefits). Historically, O&M spending has been operating at a deficit due to constrained funding, as indicated by CRD 
staff (i.e., actual annual O&M for the service exceeds annual budget). Hence, a 20% uplift has been applied in the RTS, at CRD’s 
directional input, to reflect both the historic deficit and increase in O&M required to support the shift of trails from recreational to 
active transportation corridors.  

O&M (excluding labour) 
RTS estimated annual cost (‘000s and 

rounded to nearest thousand) 
Compared to Current State 

O&M (excluding labour)  $209 ⬆ 20% 

Provision of goods and services 

The provision of goods and services is comprised of contracts for services, program development costs, and the Traffic Safety 
Commission. Consistent with the estimated 40% uplift in FTE required to support the increased breadth and depth of activities, a 
40% uplift is also applied to contract for services for the RTS.  

Program development costs encompass costs for existing and new programs to be delivered. The CRD finance and regional 
planning teams have constructed a bottom-up plan that outlines the uplift for program development cost based on the eight 
transportation categories.  



 

 

*The Traffic Safety Commission has no additional uplift in cost as the additional breadth and depth of its scope in the RTS is captured in the bottom-
up planning for program development costs. 

Other operating costs 

Other operating costs consists of all other operating costs, including allocations, insurance, utilities & disposal, operating supplies, 
legal, and more. Similar to FTEs and contract for services, a 40% uplift has also been applied to capture the increase in cost 
required to deliver the increased breadth and depth of new activities in the RTS.   

Other operating costs 
RTS estimated annual cost (‘000s and 

rounded to nearest thousand) Compared to Current State 

Other operating costs $1,014 ⬆ 40% 

Future governance costs  

In consultation with the CRD and consistent with the current state, members of existing advisory committees, commissions and 
working groups are not compensated separately as related costs are captured in their salaries. As the current state governance is 
adopted for the RTS governance model, no additional future governance costs are estimated to be incurred in the RTS.  

Future governance costs 
RTS estimated annual cost (‘000s and 

rounded to nearest thousand) 
Compared to Current State 

Future governance costs - n/a 

Reserve funds 

There are three categories of reserve funds: Operating Reserve Fund (“ORF”), CRF and ERF. The ORF is designed to build up a 
reserve to fund future one-time initiatives, cyclical and unexpected program costs, and leverage cost-share grant opportunities for 
non-capital projects and programs. The CRF and the ERF, along with debt servicing costs, will fund the RTS capital expenditures.  

The ORF for the RTS has been based on the CRD Operating Reserve Guidelines. For the CRF, the CRD’s Regional Parks Service 
provided planned figures for 2024-2028 and the 5-year average, with additional contingency to build up a long-term reserve as the 
projection for the RTS.  

Similar to the CRF, the ERF also uses a 5-year average of the planned 2024-2028 expenditures provided by the Regional Parks 
Service, plus the 5-year historical average from 2019-2023 provided by the Regional Planning Service. An additional contingency 
has also been added to the ERF for the RTS. The magnitude of contingency defined with guidance by the CRD.  

Costs are indicative only and based on historical planning with no major trail or leasehold improvements included. Future reserve 
transfers will be determined based on future capital and program planning activities.  

Reserve funds 
RTS estimated annual cost (‘000s and 

rounded to nearest thousand) 
Compared to Current State 

ORF $100 -* 

CRF $1,500 ⬆ 44% 

ERF $250 ⬆ 63% 

Total reserve funds  $1,850 ⬆ 32% 

*For comparison purposes, the Current State indicates no budgeted ORF transfers due to sufficient Regional Planning ORF balance. Past transfers 
from 2019-2023, comprising of surplus budget and grant funds, are inconsistent and unreliable for future planning.  

Debt servicing costs 

Debt servicing costs are dedicated to capital costs of leasehold improvements, specifically the expansion and widening of regional 
trails for active transportation. The average annual cost for debt servicing in the current state is $5.6 million and this is expected to 
remain consistent in the RTS, as directed by the CRD finance team.  

Debt servicing costs 
RTS estimated annual cost (‘000s and 

rounded to nearest thousand) 
Compared to Current State 

Debt servicing costs – trails $5,600 - 

Provision of goods and services 
RTS estimated annual cost (‘000s and 

rounded to nearest thousand) 
Compared to Current State 

Contract for services  $213 ⬆ 40% 

Traffic Safety Commission cost $75 -* 

Program development cost $1,024 ⬆ 445% 

Total provision of goods and services  $1,312 ⬆ 216% 



 

 

Cost-sharing regional significant projects  

This is a new cost category, identified by the CRD, to leverage future capital cost-sharing projects or initiatives for regionally 
significant projects as identified in the RTP. The CRD has advised that $5 million should be set aside annually to contribute to cost-
sharing initiatives.   

Cost-sharing regional significant 
projects 

RTS estimated annual cost (‘000s and 
rounded to nearest thousand) 

Compared to Current State 

Cost-sharing regional significant projects $5,000 ⬆ new cost category 

Summary  

The annual steady state expenditure for the RTS in 2030 and onwards ranges between $18.0 million and $18.4 million. For the 
purposes of this summary, the average annual steady state operating cost of RTS is assumed to be approximately $18.2 million.  

Cost categories  RTS (‘000s and rounded to nearest thousand) 

Annual expenditure at steady state (annual operating expenditure)  

Salaries and benefits $3,210 

O&M (excluding labour) $209  

Provision of goods and services $1,312  

Other operating costs $1,014  

Future Governance costs - 

Reserve funds  $1,850  

Debt servicing costs $5,600 

Cost-sharing regional significant projects $5,000 

TOTAL annual operating expenditure  $18,195 ($17,953 - $18,418) 

The maximum requisition is calculated as the highest value from the annual steady state RTS cost range (i.e., total annual 
operational expenditure cost range), plus additional costs allocated for growth contingency. Growth contingency is incorporated into 
the calculation of the maximum requisition to accommodate for any unforeseen capital or operating expenses and ensure there is 
room for future growth of the new RTS. A 5 – 10% amount of the annual operating expenditure was recommended by the CRD for 
the Growth contingency to round the maximum requisition to the nearest million.   

Makeup of maximum requisition RTS (‘000s and rounded to nearest thousand) 

Maximum steady state annual expenditures $18,418 

Growth contingency* $1,582 

Maximum requisition   $20,000 

*In practice, the growth contingency could range between $1.6 million and $2 million, depending on the actual steady-state annual expenditures 
within the projected range (i.e., range of $18.0 - $18.4 million). 

Limitations to the RTS 

This Report focuses on the estimated financial implications to deliver the RTS. The figures presented in this Report reflect the 
approximate, associated steady-state operating costs for the purposes of understanding a potential maximum requisition for CRD’s 
service establishment bylaw. Whilst the RTS is expected to drive an integrated and consolidated transportation service for the 
region, it is limited by existing legislation and is unable to deliver on all the outcomes of the RTP.  Further analysis is being 
conducted to explore longer-term governance and operating models to support the delivery of the scope of an LT RTE, which will 
require legislative change. Analysis on options of governance and operating models for an LT RTE will be submitted for Board 
consideration at a future date. 

© 2024 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

This Report has been prepared by KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) for Capital Regional District (“Client”) pursuant to the terms of our engagement agreement with Client dated 
2024-02-21 (the “Engagement Agreement”). KPMG neither warrants nor represents that the information contained in this Report is accurate, complete, sufficient or 
appropriate for use by any person or entity other than Client or for any purpose other than set out in the Engagement Agreement. This Report may not be relied upon by 
any person or entity other than Client, and KPMG hereby expressly disclaims any and all responsibility or liability to any person or entity other than Client in connection 
with their use of this Report. 



CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT 
BYLAW NO. 4560 

 
************************************************************************************************************************ 
 

A BYLAW TO AMEND BYLAW NO. 2587, ROYAL THEATRE  
LOCAL SERVICE AREA ESTABLISHMENT BYLAW NO. 1, 1998 

 
************************************************************************************************************************ 
 
WHEREAS: 
 

A. Under Bylaw No. 2587, “Royal Theatre Local Service Area Establishment Bylaw No. 1, 1998”, the 
Regional Board established a service for the purpose of purchasing, maintaining, equipping, 
operating, and selling the Royal Theatre;  
 

B. The Board wishes to amend Bylaw No. 2587 to modernize the bylaw and provide greater 
budgeting flexibility to ensure the Royal Theatre can be maintained, equipped, and operated in a 
way that promotes the long-term sustainability and usefulness of the facility; and 
 

C. Pursuant to section 349 of the Local Government Act (LGA), an establishing bylaw may be 
amended with the consent of at least 2/3 of the participants and, pursuant to section 346 of the 
LGA, a municipal council may give consent on behalf of a municipal participating area.   
  

 
NOW THEREFORE, the Capital Regional District Board in open meeting assembled hereby enacts as 
follows: 
 
1. Bylaw No. 2587, “Royal Theatre Local Service Area Establishment Bylaw No. 1, 1998”, is hereby 

amended as follows: 
 

(a) By deleting Sections 4, 5 and 6 in their entirety and substituting the following: 
 

Cost Recovery 
 

4. The annual cost of providing the service shall be recovered pursuant to Section 378 
of the Local Government Act by one or more of the following: 

a) property value taxes imposed in accordance with Division 3 [Requisition and 
Tax Collection] of Part 11 of the Local Government Act;  

b) fees and charges imposed under Section 397 of the Local Government Act; 
c) revenues raised by other means authorized under the Local Government Act 

or another Act; or 
d) revenues received by agreement, enterprise, gift, grant or otherwise. 

 
Maximum Requisition 

 
5. ln accordance with Section 339(1)(e) of the Local Government Act, the maximum 

amount that may be requisitioned annually for the cost of the service is the 
greater of: 

a) five hundred and eighty thousand ($580,000); or 
b) an amount equal to the amount that could be raised by a property value tax 

rate of $0.00590 per One Thousand Dollars ($1,000) that, when applied to 
the net taxable value of land and improvements in the Service Area, will yield 
the maximum amount that may be requisitioned for the service. 
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Apportionment  

 
 6.   a) The annual costs for the service, net of grants and other revenues, shall be 

apportioned among the participating areas, as follows: 

i. fifty (50) per cent of the costs on the basis of the population of the 
participating areas; and 

ii. fifty (50) per cent of the costs on the converted value of land and 
improvements in the participating areas. 

b) Population, for the purpose of this section, is the population estimate as 
determined annually by the Regional Planning department of the Capital 
Regional District. 

 
 
 
 

(b) By deleting the paragraph under the heading “Grants in Lieu of Taxes” and substituting the 
following:  

 
7. For the purpose of Section 389 of the Local Government Act funds paid to the 

Regional District in respect of the service will be held to the credit of the 
participant making the payment. 

 
 
 
 

(c) By deleting Section 8 in its entirety and substituting the following:  
 

Committee and Operation 
 

 8.   a) The Board of the Regional District may maintain, operate, equip and sell the 
Royal Theatre in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Local 
Government Act. 
 

 b)  The Board of the Regional District may by bylaw provide for the establishment 
of a committee for the purpose of managing the administration and operation 
of the Royal Theatre and may, in relation to the committee, delegate the 
powers of the Regional Board under section 263 of the Local Government 
Act. 
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2. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as "Royal Theatre Local Service Area Establishment Bylaw 

No. 1, 1998, Amendment Bylaw No. 1, 2023". 
  
 
 
 
READ A FIRST TIME THIS 12th  day of July, 2023 
 
READ A SECOND TIME THIS 12th day of July, 2023 
 
READ A THIRD TIME THIS 12th day of July, 2023 
 
APPROVED BY AT LEAST TWO-THIRDS  
OF PARTICIPANTS THIS 27th day of June, 2024 
 
APPROVED BY THE INSPECTOR  
OF MUNICIPALITIES THIS 19th day of July, 2024 
 
ADOPTED THIS  th day of  202_ 
 
 
 
    
CHAIR CORPORATE OFFICER  
  
 
 
 
FILED WITH THE INSPECTOR OF MUNICIPALITIES THIS ______ day of ___________________ 2024. 
 
 



CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT 

BYLAW NO. 4588 

************************************************************************************************************ 
A BYLAW TO AUTHORIZE THE BORROWING OF FIFTY MILLION DOLLARS 

($50,000,000) FOR THE PURPOSE OF WIDENING AND LIGHTING REGIONAL TRAILS 
************************************************************************************************************ 

 
WHEREAS: 

 
A. The Board of the Capital Regional District adopted Bylaw No. 1749, "Regional Parks 

Extended Service Establishment Bylaw No. 1, 1989” for the functions of acquiring, 
developing, operating, and maintaining Regional Parks, subject to the Park (Regional Act); 

 
B. The Board of the Capital Regional District requires financing for the widening and lighting 

of sections of the Galloping Goose and Lochside regional trails (the Project); 
 

C. The portion the Project cost to be funded by debt servicing is the sum of Fifty Million Dollars 
($50,000,000), which is the amount of debt intended to be authorized by this bylaw; 

 
D. Pursuant to the Regional District Liabilities Regulation, BC Reg 261/2004, elector approval 

is not required if borrowing for a regional park or trail service and consent on behalf of the 
participants shall be obtained pursuant to section 349(1)(b) of the Local Government Act; 

 
E. The approval of the Inspector of Municipalities is required under Section 406 and 407 of 

the Local Government Act; and 
 
F. Financing is to be undertaken by the Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia 

pursuant to agreements between it and the Capital Regional District. 
 
 

NOW THEREFORE the Capital Regional District Board in open meeting assembled hereby 
enacts as follows: 

 
1. The Board is hereby empowered and authorized to undertake and carry out or cause to 

be carried out the acquisition of land and to do all things necessary in connection therewith 
and without limiting the generality of the foregoing: 

 
a) to borrow upon the credit of the Capital Regional District a sum not exceeding Fifty 

Million Dollars ($50,000,000); and 
 

b) to acquire all such real property, easements, rights-of-way, leases, licenses, rights, 
or authorities as may be requisite or desirable for or in connection with the Project. 
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2. The maximum term for which debentures may be issued to secure the debt intended to 
be created by this bylaw is fifteen (15) years. 

 
3. This Bylaw may be cited as "Regional Parks Loan Authorization Bylaw No. 1, 2024". 

 
 
 
 

READ A FIRST TIME THIS 13th  day of March, 2024 

READ A SECOND TIME THIS 13th  day of March, 2024 

READ A THIRD TIME THIS 13th  day of March, 2024 

APPROVED BY MUNICIPAL COUNCIL 
CONSENT PROCESS PER S.346 and S.347 OF 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT THIS 13th  day of June, 2024 

APPROVED BY THE INSPECTOR OF 
MUNICIPALITIES THIS 26th day of July, 2024 

ADOPTED THIS  day of 
 
 202 

 
 

 
 
              
CHAIR       CORPORATE OFFICER 
 
 
 
FILED WITH THE INSPECTOR OF MUNICIPALITIES THIS                day of  

 

 



CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT 
BYLAW NO. 4601 

 
************************************************************************************************************************ 
 

A BYLAW TO AMEND A BYLAW TO AMEND THE GANGES SEWER SYSTEM  
ESTABLISHING BYLAW (BYLAW NO. 1923) 

 
************************************************************************************************************************ 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
A. Under Bylaw No. 1328, “Ganges Sewer Defined Area Bylaw, 1985”, the Board established a Defined 

Area for sewage collection and disposal, and converted it into a service by establishing Bylaw No. 
1923, “Ganges Sewer System Establishing Bylaw, 1991”; 
 

B. The Board wishes to amend Bylaw No. 1923 to include Lot B Plan VIP20705 Section 19 Range 4E 
Cowichan Portion North Salt Spring (also known as 105 Kilner Road) in the Service Area and to 
adjust language to reflect the current Service Area in a single schedule; and 
 

C. The Electoral Area Director may provide elector assent in writing pursuant to s.349 of the Local 
Government Act;  

 
NOW THEREFORE, the Board in open meeting assembled hereby enacts as follows: 
 
1. Bylaw No. 1923, “Salt Spring Island Ganges Sewerage Local Service Establishment Bylaw, 1991”, is 

hereby amended: 
 
(a) by deleting Schedule “A” and inserting the attached Schedule “A”, which includes Lot B Plan 

VIP20705 Section 19 Range 4E Cowichan Portion North Salt Spring, also known as 105 Kilner 
Road; 
 

2. This bylaw may be cited for all purposes as the “Salt Spring Island Ganges Sewerage Local Service 
Establishment Bylaw, 1991, Amendment Bylaw No. 14, 2024".  

 
 

READ A FIRST TIME THIS 8th day of May, 2024 

READ A SECOND TIME THIS 8th day of May, 2024 

READ A THIRD TIME THIS 8th day of May, 2024 

CONSENTED TO BY THE ELECTORAL AREA 
DIRECTOR OF SALT SPRING ISLAND THIS 29th  day of May, 2024 

APPROVED BY THE INSPECTOR OF 
MUNICIPALITIES THIS 19th  day of July, 2024 

ADOPTED THIS  day of  202_ 
 
 
 
 
    
CHAIR CORPORATE OFFICER  
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CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT

SCHEDULE "A":
Salt Spring Island Ganges Sewerage Local Service
Establishing Bylaw, 1991, Amendment Bylaw No.14, 2024

DISCLAIMER

Important This map is for general information purposes only. The Capital Regional District (CRD)
makes no representations or warranties regarding the accuracy or completeness of this map or the
suitability of the map for any purpose. This map is not for navigation. The CRD will not be liable for
any damage, loss or injury resulting from the use of the map or information on the map and the map
may be changed by the CRD at any time.
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